ZARZĄDZANIE PUBLICZNE **PUBLIC GOVERNANCE**

3 (49) / 2019





Publishing partner



Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief Stanisław Mazur

Thematic Editors Marek Ćwiklicki – management science Tomasz Geodecki – political economy, economics John E. Jackson – economics, political science Jacek Klich – political science, economics Stanislaw Mazur – political science Michal Możdzeń – political science Michal Możdzeń – political science, economics Steven Saxonberg – political science, economics Dawid Sześciło – law Pasquale Tridico – economics Marcin Zawicki – public policy science

Statistical Editor Andrzej Sokołowski

Managing Editor Anna Chrabąszcz

Database Editors Urszula Cieraszewska Marek Oramus

Online Content Editor Marcin Kukiełka

Programme Board

President

Jerzy Hausner - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Alain Alcouffe - Université Toulouse 1, France Ash Amin - University of Cambridge, United Kingdom Andrzej Bukowski - Jagiellonian University, Poland John L. Campbell - Dartmouth College, USA Bernard Chavance - University of Paris Diderot, France Robert Delorme - CEPREMAP, France Dagmir Długosz - Center for Public Administration Assessment, Chancellery of the Prime Minister, Poland Marius D. Gavriletea - Babes Bolyai University, Romania Anna Giza - University of Warsaw, Poland Jarosław Górniak - Jagiellonian University, Poland Jan Herbst - University of Warsaw, Poland Hubert Izdebski - University of Warsaw, Poland Dag Ingvar Jacobsen - University of Agder, Norway Robert Jessop - Lancaster University, United Kingdom Janusz Koczanowski - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Tadeusz Kudłacz - Cracow University of Economics, Poland Adam Leszkiewicz - Grupa JD, Poland Ove K. Pedersen - Copenhagen Business School, Denmark Victor Pestoff - Ersta-Sköndal University College, Sweden Grażyna Skąpska - Jagiellonian University, Poland Jacek Szlachta - Warsaw School of Economics, Poland Magdalena Środa - University of Warsaw, Poland Jan Jakub Wygnański - The Unit for Social Innovation and Research 'Shipyard,' Poland Janusz Zaleski - Wrocław University of Technology, Poland

Content in this issue is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Licence



Copyright © by Malopolska School of Public Administration, Cracow University of Economics, 2019

The original version of the magazine is its printed version. The magazine is available in the following databases: CEEOL, CEJSH, BazEkon, BazHum, EBSCO (Business Source Corporate Plus, Ultimate Business Source), ERIH Plus, ICI World of Journals/ICI Journals Master List, ProQuest

> ISSN 1898-3529 e-ISSN 2658-1116

Graphic Design - Agata Lankowska

Copy Editing - John Beauchamp

Publisher

Malopolska School of Public Administration Cracow University of Economics ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Krakow phone: + (48) 122 937 560 www.msap.uek.krakow.pl

Publishing Partner Scholar Scientific Publishing Company ul. Wiślana 8, 00-317 Warsaw phone/fax: + (48) 22 692 41 18, 22 826 59 21, 22 828 93 91; Sales Department: ext. 108 e-mail: info@scholar.com.pl; www.scholar.com.pl

Typesetting: WN Scholar (*Jerzy Łazarski*) Printing and binding: OSDW Azymut Sp. z o.o., Łódź, ul. Senatorska 31 Circulation: 200 copies

Contents

Elżbieta Izabela Szczepankiewicz	
The development and quality of internal audit in public-interest entities and private sector entities in Poland	5
Krzysztof Beck, Julia Shtunderenko	
The prospect of Intermarium integration in the light of consumption risk sharing	20
Andrzej Szromnik	
Cultural heritage objects on the market: Features, conditions and functioning	
concepts	35
Andrzej Słaboń	
Between solidarity and the conflict of generations. Intergenerational relations	
in biographical narratives	53
Michał Kudłacz, Roman Zhebchuk	
Participatory budget in metropolies as instrument of direct democracy	
in public management: experience of Poland and Ukraine	63

Elżbieta Izabela Szczepankiewicz

The development and quality of internal audit in public-interest entities and private sector entities in Poland

Abstract

Objectives: The purpose of this article is to discuss the regulations governing and the functioning principles for internal audits in financial institutions and private sector entities in Poland. Additionally, this study presents selected results of empirical research with regard to the effectiveness of internal audits in organisations.

Research Design & Methods: To determine the research problems related to the functioning of the internal audit systems in financial institutions and private sector entities the author analysed specialist literature and reviewed earlier studies addressing this question. On the basis of the analysis of such literature and applicable legislation the author prepared an anonymous questionnaire and distributed it among internal auditors from a number of organisations.

Findings: This paper discusses the legal basis and functioning principles for internal audits in financial institutions and private sector entities. The analysis related to internal audit functioning in financial and private sector presented in this paper made it possible to argue that the greatest development over the last several years took place in banks and insurance companies. On the basis of a survey carried out in financial institutions and private sector entities in Poland, the author set out to assess internal audit efficiency in organisations. Summarising the analysis of the internal audits in these entities, it should be argued that internal audit is highly diversified in specific types of entities. This results from the fact that individual entities operate in various legal and organisational environments and they differ in terms of their objective activity.

Implications / Recommendations: This study has shown that the perception of the auditor's role and auditing efficiency varies significantly in comparable institutions. These audits are indeed necessary and demonstrate the efficiency of internal audits in the financial and private sectors. These conclusions should be considered as an inspiration for more advanced studies.

Contribution / Value Added: The author points to potential further research on internal audit efficiency in financial institutions and private sector entities.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: internal audit, public-interest entities, financial institutions, private sector entities, auditors

JEL classification: G 28, G 38, M 42, M 48

Elżbieta Izabela Szczepankiewicz, Poznań University of Economics and Business, al. Niepodległości 10, 61-875 Poznań; elzbieta.szczepankiewicz@ue.poznan.pl; ORCID: 0000-0002-9463-1174.

Introduction

For over twenty years, the approach to internal audit in organisations has undergone a particular transformation all over the word. Initially, an internal audit was an instrument used in many organisations only to verify the correctness of records made in accounting books. Over the years, the role of the internal auditor has significantly evolved towards examining all areas of the entity, taking into account evaluation of internal controls applied in the organisation, risk management and corporate governance.

In Poland, the term "audit" was used for the first time in commercial banks in the 1990s. Since 2002, the popularity of the internal audit has also grown in response to the requirements of the European Union in terms of the need to ensure proper use of financial means in the public finance sector. However, separate regulations and the path of internal audit development can be observed in financial institutions and in private sector entities (corporations and private companies).

In financial institutions and in private sector entities internal audits function at a varied level of development. The level at which internal audits operate in financial institutions significantly differs from audits carried in private companies. Since 2008, specific regulations concerning internal audits have been gradually introduced for individual categories of financial institutions. In other companies in the private sector, internal audits are still not obligatory. However, in practice many large companies and corporations have been using internal audits for many years.

Internal audit functions/positions already exist in many public-interest entities. In addition to introducing internal control systems, many financial institutions introduced internal control and/or internal audit functions and appointed audit committees a few years ago (Szczepankiewicz, 2011a). The pioneers in this area were commercial banks. The Polish financial sector features, inter alia, the following: 35 commercial banks, 556 co-operative banks, 27 insurance companies, 65 investment fund companies (managing more than 600 investment funds), 11 pension fund companies and three occupational pension schemes. Currently, internal audit functions in the private sector exist in many groups of financial institutions, in multiple publicly traded companies and in other companies as well. Publicly traded companies and financial institutions in Poland are considered to be public-interest entities.

The aim of this paper is to analyse the development of the internal audit function in public-interest entities and private sector entities in Poland. This paper covers the practical functioning of internal audits over the last 15 years in financial institutions and private companies. Factors stimulating the development of internal audits in individual groups of entities have been diagnosed. The most important regulations pertaining to functions of internal audit in individual categories of entities under analysis have been indicated. Additionally, this study presents selected results of empirical research with regard to the effectiveness of internal audits in public-interest entities and private sector entities. The research on added value and improving an organisation's operations will be a valuable contribution to evaluation internal audit in those entities, because no Polish theorist has to date analysed the aspects of added value and improving an organisation's operations.

Literature review

Currently the model used around the world with regard to the application of internal audits in organisations has been derived from the USA. In 1941 the Institute of Internal Auditors (the IIA) was established in New York. The IIA is the largest international organisation connecting internal auditors all over the world. In those times the role of the internal auditor was mainly identified with financial and operational auditing, but at the end of the twentieth century the functions of internal audit became subject to significant transformation. This was most significantly affected by the changes in the rules published by the New York Stock Exchange (the NYSE) and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, as well as the Sarbanes–Oxley Act (2002). The new model of internal control systems and the new role of internal audits in public-interest entities ensured greater control over the quality of provided information about the financial situation of companies. In subsequent years the IIA also changed the definition of internal audit published in International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit (2016). Currently the definition of internal audit indicates the need to add value to the organisation. Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation's operations. It helps an organisation accomplish the objectives thereof. The scope of an auditor' work includes the internal control system, risk management process, and governance processes.

The subject matter of the role, tasks, functions and development of internal audit has been brought up around the world in research publications for many years. For example, the work by Brink and Cashin (1958) concerns the role and organisation of internal audits. Gibbs and Schroeder (1979) describe the aspects of evaluating the competence of internal auditors. A study by Lampe and Sutton (1994) presents the process of evaluating the work of internal audit departments. Sawyer (1995) covers aspects of internal audit philosophy. Wang (1997) indicates the development trends and future prospects of internal auditing. Around the world many researches postulate the need to introduce changes in internal audits, as well as to expand the scope of the internal auditor's tasks. The role of internal audits in the risk management process should change towards a more strategic approach. Internal audits should prevent the occurrence of risk in an organisation in future, as well as enabling the organisation to act more effectively (Waring & Morgan, 2007; Daujotait & Macerinskien, 2008; Boța-Avram at al., 2009; Beliciu, 2012; Alwardat & Abdelhafid, 2014). Ruud (2003) describes the internal audit function as an integral part of organisational governance. McNamee (1998) presents the process of business risk assessment in internal audits. Spira and Page (2003) look at aspects of risk management, and the reinvention of internal control and the changing role of internal audit. De Zwaan et al. (2011) discuss the subject of internal audit involvement in enterprise risk management.

Brody and Lowe (2000), Mutchler (2003), Ahlawat and Lowe (2004), and Ahmad and Taylor (2009) discuss the new role of the internal auditor and implications for internal auditor objectivity and independence. Boța-Avram et al. (2009) indicate the future perspectives of the internal audit function. Arena and Azzone (2009) examine the process of identifying organisational drivers of internal audit effectiveness. Studies by Gibbs and Schroeder (1979), Arrena and Azzone (2009), and Endaya and Hanefah (2016) demonstrate that the effectiveness of an internal auditor's activities is conditioned by the characteristics of the internal audit team, including the qualifications and ethics. Internal audit effectiveness particularly increases when the ratio between the number of internal auditors and employees grows and the chief audit executive is affiliated to the Institute of Internal Auditors. Goodwin (2004) provides a comparison of internal audits in the private and public sectors. Hass et al. (2006) present the new trends in internal auditing. Currently around the world the new ideas regarding internal audits have caused a departure from verification of compliancy of activities carried out by the audited unit with internal and legal regulations and a move towards examining the effectiveness of the audited processes, resources management and the efficiency of the results.

In Poland theoretical studies and empirical research concerning the development of internal audits in entities of private sector (enterprises and companies) are less frequent. The most important are the studies of such authors as: Saunders (2003); Piaszczyk (2004); Jedynak (ed.) (2004); Herdan, Stuss and Krasodomska (2009); Szczepankiewicz and Dudek (2010); Szczepankiewicz (2010a, 2010b); Urbanek (ed.)

(2012); Ciechan-Kujawa (2014); Dobija (2014); and Skoczylas-Tworek (2014). In the studies, the authors focused on: (i) issues related to the organisation of internal auditing in public-interest entities; (ii) methods of performance of audit tasks; and (iii) the methods and tools used during risk analysis. Authors often address detailed questions connected with audit tasks, financial and investment processes, innovation and knowledge management, HR management, IT security, or the independence of internal auditors. However, only some authors point to the increasing influence of the internal audit function on minimising or reducing risk in the operations of entities.

The theoretical studies and empirical research concerning the development of the internal audit in financial sector are much less frequent, only the works by Lament (2006, 2013), Janc and Kałużny (2008), Mikołajczyk and Krawczyk (2010), Kiedrowska and Szczepankiewicz (2011), Szczepankiewicz and Kiedrowska (2011), and Szczepankiewicz (2011a, 2011b, 2012a, 2012b, 2014). As regards quality assessment of internal audits in Poland, only a few studies have been published, among them Bartoszewicz (2015a, 2015b), Szczepankiewicz (2017a, 2017b) and Oleksyk (2017). However, there are still insufficient methods and indicators to assess the effectiveness of internal audits in public-interest entities and other private entities.

Methods of research

To determine the research problems related to the functioning of the internal audit systems in financial institutions and private sector entities the author analysed specialist literature and reviewed earlier studies addressing this question. On the basis of the analysis of such literature and applicable legislation the author prepared an anonymous questionnaire and distributed it among internal auditors from a number of organisations.

The study sample researched by the author consisted of a management staff survey and an internal documentation analysis. A total of 84 public-interest entities and other private sector entities were analysed, including the following: banks, insurance companies, listed companies and other commercial companies. Responses were submitted by management staff from the analysed organisations based in the Polish. The questions were addressed first of all to managers of audited departments dealing with finance, accounting and administration. The respondents were asked to provide descriptive justifications for their responses.

Results of research

Internal audits in banks

In Poland, internal audit functions have most often been established in banks. In 1992, after the economic transformation, a new banking law was introduced. On its basis a few state-owned banks and a dozen commercial banks with private capital were formed. In addition to those there were also more than 400 co-operative banks in the Polish banking market. In 1992 the National Bank of Poland developed guidelines on the introduction of internal auditor or controller positions in all banks. Back then the first control (or control & audit) departments were being formed in banks (Szczepankiewicz, 2011b, 2012a). Now all major banks operate internal audit departments. However, banks were not legally requiredrequired to follow the said guidelines.

Until 2006 banks were supervised by two public institutions: the Commission for Banking Supervision (*Komisja Nadzoru Bankowego*, the KNB) and the General Inspectorate of Banking Supervision (*Generalny Inspektorat Nadzoru Bankowego*, the GINB). Both of them liaised with the Polish Institute of Internal Auditors at the Polish Banks Association. Acting on the recommendations of the Basel Committee and in co-operation with the KNB and the GINB, the National Bank of Poland developed a series of Polish recommendations for banks. In 2006 the roles of the KNB and the GINB were taken over by the Polish Financial Supervision Authority (*Komisja Nadzoru Finansowego*, the KNF) that has been supervising banks' operations and publishing a variety of guidelines and recommendations since then (Urbanek, 2012).

In 2008 the banking law was amended (2008) and a formal obligation to establish internal audit departments in all state-owned and commercial banks was introduced (Szczepankiewicz, 2011b). While individual co-operative banks are exempt from the new obligation, federations of co-operative banks are not. Internal audits in co-operative banks associated in a federation are out by audit departments from the head bank (Co-operative Banks Act, 2016; Szczepankiewicz, 2011b).

One of the amendments to the Act on Statutory Auditors and Public Supervision (2009) requiredrequired banks to establish audit committees. Their responsibilities include assessment of internal control and risk management systems, as well as supervision over internal audits (if the bank in question has established an internal audit function).

Initially, many banks developed their own internal regulations and standards governing the functioning of internal audits. Today, with regard to internal audit and control, banks are required to follow a number of amended legislative acts, such as the Banking Law Act (2019) and the Act on Statutory Auditors, Auditor Firms and Public Supervision (2019), and resolutions and recommendations of the KNF, including: Recommendation H on banks' internal control systems and internal audits (1999, 2002, 2011, 2017) and the Recommendation on Audit Committees (2010).

Banks' management boards and audit committees should also take into consideration the KNF recommendations and guidelines developed on the basis of BCBS recommendations (Recommendation D, H, M, L and others), COSO – internal control reports (COSO Report, 1992, 1994; COSO II Report, 2004), as well as the Code of Best Practice for WSE-listed Companies (2007), if the bank is quoted on the Warsaw Stock Exchange. Currently most banks already follow the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit (1998, 2001, 2009, 2012, 2016), developed by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).

Internal audits in insurance and reinsurance companies

The Act on Statutory Auditors and on the Public Supervision (2009) requires insurance and reinsurance companies to appoint audit committees. After the 2010 amendment of the insurance law, insurance and reinsurance companies had to develop and introduce risk acceptance principles and internal control systems (the Act on Insurance and Reinsurance, 2019).

Since 2010, insurance and reinsurance companies have been requiredrequired to appoint audit committees (Szczepankiewicz, 2012b), while internal audit functions in such companies have been formally appointed only since 2013, as such appointment was not legally required before that date (Szczepankiewicz & Kiedrowska, 2011; Szczepankiewicz, 2012b). The internal audit obligation in insurance and reinsurance companies was introduced by amending Polish insurance law, after the adoption of Directive 2009/138/EC on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II) and the new Polish insurance law in 2013 (Szczepankiewicz & Kiedrowska, 2011; Solvency II, 2013; Lament, 2013). Initially, internal auditing guidelines were developed by the Polish Insurance Association (Polska Izba Ubezpieczeń, the PIU). Today, most insurance and reinsurance companies already follow the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit (2016). Standard No. 2.2.6. on Enterprise Risk Management for Capital Adequacy and Solvency Purposes has also been introduced (International Association of Insurance Supervisors, 2008; Mikołajczak & Krawczyk, 2010; Kiedrowska & Szczepankiewicz, 2011).

The KNF also supervises the operations of insurance and reinsurance companies. As regards the appointment of audit committees, such companies follow the Recommendation on Audit Committees (2010) and the Act on Statutory Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision (2019).

Internal audits in investment fund and pension companies

The regulation on internal control in 2009 requiredrequired investment fund companies to introduce internal supervision, risk management and internal audit systems. The regulation also requiredrequired them to create an in-house internal control function and to develop and introduce an internal control system. However, it was only in 2013 that internal audit functions began to formally exist in investment fund companies (Szczepankiewicz, 2014). Internal auditing principles in investment companies and in funds managed by them were defined in 2013 by the new regulation on the organisation of investment fund companies (Regulation of the Minister of Finance, 2013). The regulation also introduced a new set of internal control and risk management rules applicable to investment funds. Currently, many investment fund companies have already implemented the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit (2016). The Act on Statutory Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision (2019) required required investment fund companies to appoint audit committees.

So far, the internal audit obligation has not been formally introduced in pension companies (the Pension Fund Business Act, 2016). Pension companies must only operate internal control systems. However, some of them have voluntarily formed internal control or internal audit functions. In 2017, the Act on Statutory Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision required pension companies to appoint audit committees. As regards the appointment of audit committees, pension companies also follow the Recommendation on Audit Committees (2010) from the KNF. The KNF supervises the operations of investment fund companies and pension companies as well as investment and pension funds. Internal audits in other private sector entities

The Polish private sector is characterised by significant differences in the degree of development of internal audit systems (e.g. Szczepankiewicz & Dudek, 2009, 2010; Szczepankiewicz, 2010a, 2010b). In 2003, Polish companies affiliated with capital groups listed on American stock exchanges began introducing formal internal control systems and carried out internal audits. Their key motivation was the need to ensure compliance with the American Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002.

Internal audits in the private sector were also boosted by international corporations commencing operations in Poland. Therefore, many companies that are part of such corporations currently operate internal audit functions. In international corporations, internal audits are usually centralised. Audit functions from the headquarters periodically audit individual foreign branches. Sometimes local internal audit functions are also established in such foreign branches, varying in size from one to a few FTEs. They submit audit reports to the central internal audit department at the corporate headquarters.

Many smaller companies have also begun implementing internal audit, either inspired by their foreign business partners/creditors or convinced by external advisors/consulting companies. As no Polish standards in this regard have been adopted to date, companies follow the standards developed by the IIA (2016), introduced by their foreign business partners or generally used in a given industry.

As regards the appointing of corporate governance and audit committees (Szczepankiewicz & Dudek, 2009, 2010; Szczepankiewicz, 2010a; Urbanek, 2012) all WSE-listed companies also follow the Code of Best Practice for WSE-listed Companies (2007), the Recommendation on the Audit Committee (2010) and the Act on Statutory Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision (2019).

Similarities and differences between internal auditing in financial institutions and in the private sector entities

To conclude the analysis of regulations and documents on internal audits in financial institutions and the private sector entities one can point out a few basic similarities and differences between them. The results of the comparison are presented in Table 1.

Performance audits as a new idea for internal audits in organisations

Grönlund, Svärdsten and Öhman (2011) and Lisiecka (2012) and Bartoszewicz (2015) argue that the new idea for internal audits in organisations initiated a departure from verification of compliancy of activities carried out by the audited unit with internal and legal regulations and a shift towards examining the effectiveness of the audited processes, resources management and the efficiency of the results. It is crucial to analyze the results

Table 1. Similarities and differences of internal audit operations in financial institutions and in the public finance sector

Financial institutions	Private sector entities				
Legal basis					
Banking Law (2019) and Recommendation H in banks (2017)	WSE-listed companies and other private entities are not formally required to carry out internal audits				
Insurance and Reinsurance Law (2019)	Recommendation on Audit Committees (2010)				
Regulation on investment fund companies (2013) and Investment Fund Law (2019)	in WSE-listed companies				
Recommendation on the Audit Committee (2010) in public-interest entities (including in financial institutions and in WSE-listed companies)					
Other financial institutions are not formally required to carry out internal audits					
Year of introduction of the legal o	bligation to carry out internal audits				
 2008 commercial banks and head banks of co-operative banks federations 2012 insurance sector institutions 2013 investment fund companies 	Not formally required to carry out internal audits.				
Purpose of	internal audits				
To support the entity's management, in accordance with	applicable laws and internal regulations on internal auditing.				
Qualifications of	f internal auditors				
No legislatio	on in this regard				
Superv	ising body				
Audit Committee, or supervisory board, or pres-	ident of the board of directors, or board of directors				
Scope of i	nternal audit				
All areas of activity or areas specifi	ed in Internal Audit Rules of Operation				
Internal	audit tasks				
1 1	ion adopted by the entity or International Standards tice of Internal Audit (2016)				

achieved or evaluate the actions taken by the unit from the point of view of effectiveness, efficiency and economy. The criterions of performance audits are presented in Table 2.

Performance audits indicate the need for proper preparation of the unit to carry out such audits (Bartoszewicz, 2015c):

- clearly defined objectives of the activity carried by the audited unit, the implementation of which will be subject to examination;
- proper indicators for measuring achievements in the form of quality measures, effectiveness of operations and costs of service;
- efficient system for data acquisition and analysis, to make it possible to evaluate the activities in terms of economy, efficiency and effectiveness;
- efficient communication system in the organisation; and
- ongoing monitoring and reporting of the degree of achieving the objectives.

In the opinion of the author, these assumptions can also be introduced in financial institutions and other entities which have been systematically developing internal audits in recent years in Poland.

An empirical study on added value

In 2016–2017, the author carried out an empirical study on audit quality and added value contributed by internal audit to organisations. All surveyed public-interest entities and other private sector entities had their own internal audit departments.

Many internal auditors from the analysed entities are confirmed by holding a diploma of postgraduate studies in the field of internal audit (75%) or qualifications of the statutory auditors (6%). Many persons have also one or several international certificates (11%): e.g. Certified Internal Auditor (CIA), Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE), Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), Certified Financial Services Auditor (CFSA), Certification in Control Self Assessment (CCSA) or Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). Many internal auditors from the analysed entities participate systematically in training for internal auditors (64%). Only 5% of the internal auditors from the analysed entities are confirmed by holding a diploma of postgraduate studies in the field of internal audit and international certificate. The details of qualifications of the internal auditors from the analysed entities are presented in Table 3.

Criterion	Audited object	Characteristic
Effectiveness	Results	Effectiveness aims at verifying the implementation of objectives planned by a given unit and evaluating the results of the activities undertaken. Audits based on the effectiveness criterion: examining the results of task implementation is evaluated.
Efficiency	Processes	Efficiency is the measure of using resources by the entity and the indicator of the costs incurred. Audits based on the efficiency criterion: examining the efficiency of the product/service, unit costs, indicators, e.g. those describing the level of the resource use, service lead time, etc. are verified.
Economy	Resources	Economy indicates the scope of activities undertaken by the unit and measures whether the costs were minimised in the activities conducted while preserving their quality. Audits based on the economy criterion: examining the scope in which the use of the resources (financial resources, personnel, equipment, accommodation resources) for carrying out the activities is minimised, also having in mind the need to ensure proper quality of the activities implemented.

Table 2. The criterions of performance audits

Source: based on Grönlund, Svärdsten and Öhman (2011), Lisiecka (2012), and Bartoszewicz (2015c).

Type of the surveyed entity	Only diploma of postgraduate studies (%)	Qualifications of a statutory auditor (%)	Only international certificates (%)	Diploma of postgraduate studies and international certificate (%)	Does the internal auditor attend training courses? (%)
Banks	68	7	17	8	82
Insurance companies	82	4	7	4	69
Listed companies and other commercial companies	76	6	8	2	42
Medium:	75	6	11	5	64

Table 3 The d	malifications	of the internal	auditors from	the analysed entities
	aumoutons	or the internat	auditors nom	the analysed entities

Source: Author's own work.

Table 4 The average	period of employment	of the internal auditor	s from the analysed entities
fuole is the uverage	period of employment	of the internal additor	s moni the unurybed entitles

Type of the surveyed entity	Under 5 years (%)	5–10 years (%)	Over 10 years (%)
Banks	0	8	92
Insurance companies	4	72	24
Listed companies and other commercial companies	56	42	2

Source: Author's own work.

The internal auditors from the analysed entities gained their professional experience in various organisations. The average period of professional experience of the internal auditors from the analysed entities is presented in Table 4.

The survey consisted of three questions:

- (1) Would you say that the internal audit function in your entity provides high quality services?
- (2) Has internal audit enhanced the operations of / contributed added value to your entity?
- (3) Has the number of consulting tasks compared to objective assurance tasks increased over the last two years?

The results of the research are presented in Tables 5–7.

Table 5. Would you say that the internal audit function in your entity provides high quality services?

Type of the surveyed entity			Response (%)
		Yes	No	Hard to say
Banks		86	5	8
Insurance companies		82	9	9
Listed companies and other commercial companies		68	13	19
	Average:	79	12	12

Source: Author's own work.

Those respondents who answered "yes" indicated that assurance and advisory services provided by the internal audit function were of high quality. The highest internal audit quality was reported in financial institutions, followed by listed companies and other commercial companies operating internal audits. The highest result was recorded for banks (just under 86%). In listed companies and other commercial companies only 68% of the respondents said that assurance and advisory services provided by the internal audit function were of high quality.

Those respondents who answered "no" were of the opinion that internal audit functions provided services of very low quality. In their organisations the management could not use internal audit results for improving the operations of the internal audit function or the audited area.

As many as 19% of the respondents were unable to assess internal audit quality in listed companies and other commercial companies, as compared to 8% in banks and 9% in insurance companies. Those respondents who answered "yes" indicated that internal audit services were necessary and contributed added value to the organisation. Those who answered "no" were of the opinion that internal audit did not contribute any added value, either because its services were of very low quality or because it did not enhance the entity's operations in any way.

The highest level of added value contributed by internal audit to the organisation was reported by respondents from banks (just under 88%). Levels reported by respondents from the insurance companies were lower (just under 63%). In listed companies and other commercial companies the rate of positive responses to the question about added value contributed by internal audit to the organisation was below 44%.

Those respondents who answered "yes" indicated that in the last two years internal audit had been providing more and more consulting services for the management. Those who replied "no" were

Table 6. Has internal audit enhanced the operations of / contributed added value to your entity?

Type of the surveyed entity		Response (%)		
		Yes	No	Hard to say
Banks		88	6	6
Insurance companies		63	12	15
Listed companies and other commercial companies		44	5	50
	Average:	65	8	24

Source: Author's own work.

Table 7. Has the number of consulting tasks compared to objective assurance tasks increased over the last two years?

Type of the surveyed entity		Response (%)		
		Yes	No	Hard to say
Banks		92	2	6
Insurance companies		83	15	12
Listed companies and other commercial companies		54	18	28
	Average:	76	12	13

Source: Author's own work.

of the opinion that the number of advisory services provided by internal audit had not increased.

The highest increase in the number of consulting services provided by internal audit was recorded for banks (92%), followed closely by insurance companies (83%). In listed companies the rate was clearly lower (54%).

The following conclusions were drawn from the empirical study:

- Most internal auditors who hold international certificates are employed in banks, where 17% of auditors have such certificates. In other entities, certificates are held by fewer than 8% of auditors.
- In insurance companies (3%) and in other companies (8%) internal audit positions were occupied also by persons with qualifications other than those listed in Table 1, such as risk specialists, experienced accountants, etc. This can be explained by the fact that there are no rules in force concerning professional qualifications of internal auditors employed outside the public sector. In the private sector, it is the management that determines the requirements to be met by candidates seeking to become an internal auditor, usually on a caseby-case basis.
- 3. The percentage of internal auditors regularly participating in internal audit training was highest in banks (82%), and lowest in listed companies and other commercial companies (42%). These results reflect the management's approach to the need for improving auditors' qualifications and to their advisory role.
- 4. 92% of auditors employed in banks have more than 10 years of professional experience. Only 4% of auditors in insurance companies have such long experience, compared to only 2% in listed companies and other commercial companies. The study results in this respect reflect the timing of introducing regulations concerning obligatory internal audit (2008 in banks and 2013 in insurance companies). However, many entities voluntarily set up internal audit functions many years ago. Internal auditors from

the analysed entities gained their professional experience in various organisations.

- 5. The empirical study shows that the higher the qualifications of internal auditors and the longer the professional experience and the more regular their participation in professional training, the higher the quality of internal audits. In banks 86% of the respondents are satisfied with the quality of internal audits, compared to only 68% in listed companies.
- 6. The higher the qualifications of internal auditors and the longer the professional experience and the more regular their participation in professional training, the greater the value added by internal audits to the organisation. In banks 88% of the respondents believe that internal audits contribute added value to the organisation, compared to only 44% in listed companies.
- 7. Respondents confirmed that over the last few years the quantity of consulting services has increased in relation to objective assurance tasks. This means that the role of internal auditors is changing. The auditor is becoming an adviser to rather than just somebody who checks the management. The more advisory tasks are carried out, the greater added value is contributed to the organisation, because the management can more quickly respond to current risks and protect their organisations against risks in the future.

The conclusions from the present empirical research regarding the relationship between internal audit quality on the one hand and internal auditors' professional experience on the other are consistent with conclusions previously presented by many other authors (e.g. Gibbs & Schroeder, 1979; Arrena & Azzone, 2009; Endaya & Hanefah, 2016).

The research on added value and improving an entity's operations will be a valuable contribution to evaluation internal audit in Polish financial institutions, listed companies and other commercial companies, because no Polish theorist has to date analysed the aspects of added value and improving an entity's operations.

Final conclusions and directions for further research

Since 2008 Polish lawmakers have been passing regulations governing the functions of audit committees, establishment of internal control systems and introduction of internal audit to various organisations outside the public sector.

Summarising the practice of internal audits in Poland, one should note that it is highly diversified in specific types of entities. This results from the fact that individual entities operate in various legal and organisational environments and they differ in terms of their objectives, size, complexity and structure. Such conditions unquestionably affect the need to apply various solutions as regards carrying out an audit. The analysis related to internal audit functioning in Poland, presented in the paper, made it possible to claim that its greatest development over the last several years took place in banks and insurance companies.

Organisational solutions introduced in financial institutions and private companies in Poland differ from those introduced in public administration bodies. For example, depending on the solution in place, audit functions in financial institutions and companies may report either to the audit committee (or the supervisory board) or to the management board. Audit results are communicated by the internal auditor to the management and to the supervisory body. However, it is the management that determines (on the basis of those results and internal audit recommendations) the measures to be taken and subsequently ensures the taking thereof.

In the absence of Polish regulations with regard to the development of internal control systems, the Polish Financial Supervision Authority recommends that financial institutions and listed companies follow global concepts presented in COSO reports and IIA Standards.

All newly created regulations in Poland for different sectors of financial institutions take a similar approach to internal audits. In all such institutions, audit committees, internal audit and internal control systems should constitute the basic elements of internal control and concept of integrated risk management system (Szczepankiewicz, 2011c). An important addition to internal control is financial audits carried out by statutory auditors.

At a time when economic crises pose an imminent threat, when effective management of public-interest entities is so important, the performance audit has become a necessity. At present, each entity, regardless of the sector or industry it operates in, its legal form or size, should operate in a purposeful and economical manner, preserving the principle of achieving the best effects of its expenditures. Therefore, in the opinion of the author, detailed research concerning this topic should be undertaken.

The author is of the opinion that it is necessary to continue research to the efficiency and effectiveness of internal audits in public-interest entities and private sector entities. In this way, answers to the following questions may be easier to find:

- 1) How are internal audits perceived in private sector? Is the auditor merely an inspector controller, or perhaps also an advisor to the senior management and the board?
- 2) Which areas of internal audits in the analysed entities need to be improved?
- 3) Would the internal audit function in an entity provide high quality services?
- 4) Have internal audits contributed added value to an entity?

The research will be a valuable contribution to evaluation internal audit in those entities, because no Polish theorist has to date further analysed those aspects.

Acknowledgments

This paper has been written as part of project No. 51109-XX5 "Theoretical and practical aspects of the assessment of the internal audit function in the public sector". The project is carried out by the University of Economics in Poznań. The research problems were presented at the 17th European Academic Conference on Internal Audit and Corporate Governance, Paris 24–26 April 2019.

References

- Act on Statutory Auditors. (2009). Dz.U. 2009, No. 77, poz. 649.
- Act on Statutory Auditors. (2019). Dz.U. 2019, poz. 1421, 1571.
- Ahlawat, S.S., & Lowe, D.J. (2004). An examination of internal auditor objectivity: in-house versus outsourcing. *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory*, 23(2), 147–158.
- Ahmad, Z., & Taylor, D. (2009), Commitment to independence by internal auditors: the effects of role ambiguity and role conflict. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 24(9), 899–925.
- Alwardat, Y.A., & Abdelhafid, B. (2014). Value for money and audit practice: Lessons and facts from the literature. *Life Science Journal*, 11(2), 86–98.
- Arena, M., & Azzone, G. (2009). Identifying organizational drivers of internal audit effectiveness. *International Journal of Auditing*, 60(13), 43–60.
 Banking Law Act. (2019). Dz.U. 2019, poz. 2357.
- Bartoszewicz, A. (2017). Praktyka funkcjonowania audytu wewnętrznego w Polsce. Warszawa: CeDeWu.
- Bartoszewicz, A. (2015a). Praktyczna realizacja programu zapewnienia i poprawy jakości w komórkach audytu wewnętrznego na wybranych przykładach. Zeszyty Teoretyczne Rachunkowości, 81(137), 9–27.
- Bartoszewicz, A. (2015b). Zbilansowana karta wyników jako narzędzie pomiaru pracy komórki audytu wewnętrznego. *Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu*, 398, 13–23.
- Bartoszewicz, A. (2015c). Transformacja audytu wewnętrznego w Polsce – od audytu zgodności do audytu efektywnościowego. *Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu*, 390, 36–44.
- Beliciu, V. (2012). The cyclic structure of performance auditing in public sector. In: *Proceedings of the 6th International Management Conference: Approaches in Organisational Management* (pp. 491–497).
- Boţa-Avram, C., Pop, A., & Boţa-Avram, F. (2009). The future perspectives of the internal audit function. *Annales Universitatis Apulensis Series Oeconomica*, 11(1), 201–209.
- Brink, V.Z., & Cashin, J.A. (1958). *Internal Auditing*. New York: Ronald Press.
- Brody, R.G., & Lowe, D.J. (2000). The new role of the internal auditor: Implications for internal auditor objectivity. *International Journal of Auditing*, 4(2), 169–176.

- Ciechan-Kujawa, M. (2014). Wielowymiarowy audit biznesowy. Wartość dodana dla organizacji i interesariuszy. Toruń: Wydawnictwo Naukowe UMK.
- Code of Best Practice for WSE-listed Companies. (2007). www.gpw.com.pl, accessed on 10.03.2011.
- Cooperative Banks Act. (2000). Dz. U. 2016 r., poz. 1826.
- COSO II Report: Enterprise Risk Management Integrated Framework. (2004). USA. www.sox-online.com/coso_cobit. html, accessed on 10.03.2011.
- COSO Report: Internal Control Integrated Framework. (1992). USA. Available online: www.sox-online. com/coso_ cobit. html, accessed on 10.03.2011.
- Daujotaite, D., & Macerinskien, I. (2008). Development of performance audit in public sector. In: 5th International Scientific Conference Business and Management 2008, 16–17 May 2008, Vilnius (pp. 177–185).
- De Zwaan, L., Stewart, J., & Subramaniam, N. (2011). Internal audit involvement in enterprise risk management. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 26(7), 586–604.
- Dobija, D. (2014), Audyt finansowy we współczesnych systemach społecznych. Funkcje i praktyka. Warszawa: Wolters Kluwer Business.
- Endaya, K.A., & Hanefah, M.M. (2016). Internal auditor characteristics, internal audit effectiveness, and moderating effect of senior management. *Journal* of Economic and Administrative Sciences, 32(2), 160–176.
- Gibbs, T.E., & Schroeder, R.G. (1979). Evaluating the competence of internal audit departments. In: *Symposium on Auditing Research HI* (pp. 207–225). Urbana: University of Illinois.
- Goodwin, J. (2004). A comparison of internal audit in the private and public sectors. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 19(5), 640–650.
- Grönlund, A., Svärdsten, F., & Öhman, P. (2011). Value for money and the rule of law: The (new) performance audit in Sweden. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 24(2), 107–121.
- Hass, S., Abdolmohammadi, M.J., & Burnaby, P. (2006). The Americas literature review on internal auditing. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 21(8), 835–844.
- Herdan, A., Stuss, M., & Krasodomska, J. (2009). Audyt wewnętrzny jako narzędzie wspomagające efektywny nadzór korporacyjny w spółkach akcyjnych. Kraków: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego.
- Insurance and Reinsurance Law. (2019). Dz.U. 2019, poz. 381, 730.
- International Association of Insurance Supervisors (2008). Standard No. 2.2.6. on Enterprise Risk

Management for Capital Adequacy and Solvency Purposes. www.iaisweb.org, accessed on 10.03.2011.

- Investment Fund Law. (2019). Dz.U. 2019, poz. 730, 875, 1495, 1572, 1655.
- Janc, A., & Kałużny, R. (2008). *Audyt wewnętrzny i audyt zewnętrzny w banku*. Poznań: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego.
- Jedynak, P. (Ed.). (2004). Audyt w zarządzaniu przedsiębiorstwem. Kraków: Uniwersytet Jagielloński.
- Kiedrowska, M., & Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2011). Internal control in the concept of integrated Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) system in insurance undertakings. Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego (640), Finanse, Rynki, Ubezpieczenia, 38, 695–706.
- Kiziukiewicz, T. (Ed.). (2013). Audyt wewnętrzny w strukturze kontroli zarządczej. Warszawa: Difin.
- Knedler, K., & Stasik, M. (2014). *Audyt wewnętrzny w praktyce. Audyt operacyjny i finansowy.* Warszawa: Akademia Kształcenia Kadr.
- Lament, M. (2006). Rola audytu wewnętrznego w zakładzie ubezpieczeń w związku z przebudową systemu nadzoru nad działalnością ubezpieczeniową. In: S. Wieteska (Ed.), Ubezpieczenia (pp. 151–158). Lublin: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Marii Curie--Skłodowskiej.
- Lament, M. (2013). Audit as a control mechanism employed by an insurance company. *Wiadomości Ubezpieczeniowe*, 3, 105–199.
- Lampe, J.C., & Sutton, S.G. (1994). Evaluating the work of internal audit: a comparison of standards and empirical evidence. *Accounting and Business Research*, 24(96), 335–348.
- Lisiecka, K. (2012). Audyt wewnętrzny i kontrola zarządcza w procesach doskonalenia zarządzania organizacją sektora publicznego. Warszawa: Najwyższa Izba Kontroli.
- McNamee, D. (1998). *Business Risk Assessment*. Altamonte Springs, USA: Institute of Internal Auditors.
- Mikołajczak, B., & Krawczyk, M. (2010). *Audyt wewnętrzny w teorii i praktyce ubezpieczeniowej.* Warszawa: PWE.
- Mutchler, J.F. (2003). Independence and Objectivity: A Framework for Research Opportunities in Internal Auditing. Altamonte Springs, USA: Institute of Internal Auditors.
- Oleksyk, P. (2017). Ocena efektywności pracy audytora wewnętrznego w oddziale operacyjnym

banku komercyjnego. *Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia*, 3(87/1), 89–96.

- Pension Fund Business Act. (2016). Dz.U. 2016, poz. 1826.
- Piaszczyk, A. (2004), *Audyt wewnętrzny*. Warszawa: Stowarzyszenie Księgowych w Polsce.
- Recommendation H. (2017). Rekomendacja H dotycząca systemu kontroli wewnętrznej w bankach. Warszawa: Komisja Nadzoru Bankowego.
- Recommendation on the Audit Committee. (2010). Warszawa: Urząd Komisji Nadzoru Finansowego.
- Regulation of the Minister of Finance. (2013). Dz.U. 2013, poz. 538.
- Ruud, T. (2003). *The Internal Audit Function: An Integral Part of Organizational Governance*. Altamonte Springs, USA: Institute of Internal Auditors.
- Saunders, E. (2003). Audyt i kontrola wewnętrzna w przedsiębiorstwach. Warszawa: PIKW.
- Sawyer, L.B. (1995). An internal audit philosophy. *The Internal Auditor*, 52(4), 46–55.
- Skoczylas-Tworek, A. (2014). Audyt we w współczesnej gospodarce rynkowej. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego.
- Solvency II (2013). The role of Internal Audit under Solvency II, 2013, https://www.ipai.pt/fotos/gca/ eciia_solvencyii_v06_1371826870.pdf, accessed on: 12.12.2014.
- Spira, L.F., & Page, M. (2003). Risk management: The reinvention of internal control and the changing role of internal audit. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, 16(4), 640–661.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I., & Dudek, M. (2010). Organizacja i zadania komitetów audytu w sektorze finansów publicznych i w jednostkach zainteresowania publicznego. *Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia*, 30, 149–160.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I., & Dudek, M., (2009). Rola audytu wewnętrznego w organizacji. Zeszyty Naukowe Wyższej Szkoły Handlu i Rachunkowości w Poznaniu, 200–212.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I., & Kiedrowska, M. (2011). Organizacja audytu wewnętrznego w zakładach ubezpieczeń w świetle Solvency II oraz standardów audytu. Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego we Wrocławiu, 228, 454–462.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2010a). Komitety audytu nowymi organami zapewnienia wiarygodności sprawozdań finansowych i systemów kontroli wewnętrznej w jednostkach zainteresowania publicznego. Zeszyty Teoretyczne Rachunkowości, 57(113), 57–82.

- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2010b). Rola audytu wewnętrznego w zarządzaniu podmiotami sektora publicznego i prywatnego w Polsce. In: P. Antonowicz (Ed.), *Innowacyjne strategie kreowania przewagi* konkurencyjnej przedsiębiorstwa (pp. 303–317). Gdańsk: Uniwersytet Gdański.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2011a). After the crisis? The new (?) role and tasks of the Internal Audit and Audit Committee as Bodies supporting effective Corporate Governance in Financial Institutions in Poland. In: A.P. Balcerzak (Ed.), *Contemporary Issues in Economy: After the Crisis*, 145. International Conference 13–14 May 2011. Toruń: Nicolaus Copernikus University.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2011b). The role of the audit committee, the internal auditor and the statutory auditor as the bodies supporting effective corporate governance in banks. *Zeszyty Naukowe Uniwersytetu Szczecińskiego* (640). *Finanse, Rynki, Ubezpieczenia*, 38: 885–897.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2011c). Selected issues in effective implementation of the integrated risk management system in an organization. *Finanse, Rynki finansowe, Ubezpieczenia 49*: 153–162.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2012a). New regulations and internal control system as supporting effective corporate governance in commercial banks in Poland. In: A.P. Balcerzak (Ed.), *Banking and Financial Markets. After Global Crisis of the Years 2008–2010* (pp. 81–102). Toruń: Nicolaus Copernikus University.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2012b). The role and tasks of the internal audit and audit committee as bodies

supporting effective corporate governance in insurance sector institutions in Poland. *Oeconomia Copernicana*, 4, 23–39.

- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2014). Zasady rachunkowości, kontrola wewnętrzna i audyt w towarzystwach funduszy inwestycyjnych. Warszawa: CeDeWu.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2017a). Rozwój i doskonalenie jakości audytu wewnętrznego w jednostkach zainteresowania publicznego. *Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia*, 3(87/1), 97–110.
- Szczepankiewicz, E.I. (2017b). Jakość audytu wewnętrznego a wartość dodana w jednostkach sektora finansów publicznych. *Finanse, Rynki Finansowe, Ubezpieczenia*, 3(87/1), 111–120.
- The International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit. (2016). Institute of Internal Auditors.
- The Sarbanes-Oxley Act. (2002).
- Urbanek P. (Ed.). (2012). *Nadzór korporacyjny a stabilność sektora finansowego*. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego.
- Wang, X. (1997). Development trends and future prospects of internal auditing. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 12(4/5), 200–204.
- Waring, C., & Morgan, S. (2007). Public sector performance auditing in developing countries. In: A. Shah (Ed.), *Performance Accountability and Combating Corruption*. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank, 323–357.
- Winiarska, K. (2017). Audyt wewnętrzny. Teoria i zastosowanie. Warszawa: Difin.

Krzysztof Beck, Julia Shtunderenko

The prospect of Intermarium integration in the light of consumption risk sharing

Abstract

Objectives: After the collapse of Communism in Central and Eastern Europe, the idea of joining a prosperous bloc, which would provide financial assistance, seemed an opportunity not to be missed. However, with the possibility of the funding drying up, and the initial feeling of euphoria fading, the alignment of CEE and Western Europe on values was put to a test. This gave way to discussions about alternatives to the EU. One of them is Intermarium. This paper examines the potential benefits Intermarium countries could attain in terms of consumption risk sharing.

Aims: The research takes an alternative approach to economic integration, concentrating on economic stability. In particular, it makes an empirical analysis of consumption risk sharing in Intermarium, as well as drawing a comparison with the EU and the euro zone core.

Research Design & Methods: The paper uses method of risk sharing assessment proposed by Kose et al. (2009) extended by the authors to accommodate panel data setting.

Findings: As the empirical results illustrate, the past integration between the old EU and its new member states weakened the Intermarium mechanisms of consumption insurance, especially in comparison to the euro zone countries.

Implications / Recommendations: The potential benefits of Internarium fall short of the EU alternative.

Contribution / Value added: The paper presents the results of the first examination of the extension of risk sharing in Intermarium countries.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: Economic Integration, Risk-Sharing, European Union, Intermarium

JEL classification: F15, F22, F36, F41

Introduction

In the aftermath of the fall of Communism in Europe, Central and Eastern Europe (CEE) had to make a pivotal choice regarding its future. For most post-Soviet countries, joining the European Union seemed to be the most desirable option, which was supported by most scholars, politicians and the general public. As a result of years of negotiations, eleven post-Communist states were able to join the European integration bloc, while the remaining countries are still negotiating today.¹ In the early 2000s, the Intermarium countries, and the new member

¹ With the exception of Belarus.

Krzysztof Beck, Lazarski University, 43 ul. Świeradowska, 02-662 Warszawa; beckkrzysztof@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0003-3679-2962. Julia Shtunderenko, Lazarski University, 43 ul. Świeradowska, 02-662 Warszawa; shtunderenkojulia@gmail.com; ORCID: 0000-0001-8610-0683.

states, in particular were enthusiastic about the idea behind EU integration and the values it represented. This can be seen in public opinion polls carried out by the EU in 2004, just after the new member states joined the bloc. On average, the Intermarium countries that joined the EU in 2004 and 2007 were among the most optimistic about the EU and its future. The EU funding scheme has also been a significant contributor to that sense of optimism, as the financial aid allocated under the Cohesion and IPA funds could be spent on improving their disadvantaged economies.

However, in recent years there has been a shift in perception of the EU in CEE. For example, public opinion polls suggest that there is more distrust towards the European Union and less alignment when it comes to key policy issues, such as migration, in particular. Moreover, funding is expected to decrease, and its initial impact is wearing off. In addition, in the early 2000s, the policy makers of the new member states were praising the membership in the EU as a "dream becoming reality" (Kwaśniewski, 2004). Today, there are a few disputes between the new member states and the European Union that have to be settled in court. This is particularly striking, as the disputes are with Poland and Hungary, the two member states which were at the top of the list of "proud to be European" in 2004 polls.

These recent developments have given way to discussions about possible alternatives to the EU in CEE. One of them is Intermarium, a term developed in the Interwar period by Józef Piłsudski, which referred to the European countries between the Adriatic, the Baltic, and the Black seas. However, from the political science perspective, it is difficult to assess the likelihood of Intermarium integration, as there is no evidence to indicate that even the most skeptical member states of the European Union will leave the bloc. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to explore the economic feasibility of Intermarium. To accomplish that, this paper takes an alternative approach to economic integration, concentrating on economic stability, rather than standard GDP growth indicators, which is an overwhelmingly analysed subject in both theory and empirical research. In particular, it makes an empirical analysis of consumption risk sharing in Intermarium, as well as drawing a comparison with the European Union and the EU core. Consumption risk sharing is the ability of states to insure their consumption path against idiosyncratic shocks to national income. This paper examines the potential benefits of consumption insurance that Intermarium could attain by pursuing closer integration.

As the empirical results illustrate, the past integration between the old EU and its new member states weakened the Internarium mechanisms of consumption insurance, especially in comparison to the euro zone core countries. At the same time, quantitative results demonstrate the extent of potential gains in terms of risk sharing by engaging in consequent stages of integration. Moreover, for new Member States the possibility of disintegration from the EU would be associated with a sharp decline in risk sharing with those countries, and the time span to achieve comparable results with the rest of the Internarium countries would be rather extensive. Withdrawing from the EU would be a step away from developing mechanisms of international consumption insurance and a move to an uncertain future within the Internatium block All in all, as potential benefits of Intermarium are immanent, they still fall short of the EU alternative.

The rest of this paper is organised as follows. The first section outlines the background behind and the motivation for this paper. Section two describes the concept of risk sharing and gives a brief review of literature on the subject. The methodology is described in the third section, while the empirical results are reported in section four. The last section concludes this paper.

Background and Motivation

"Today our dream is becoming reality" – Aleksander Kwaśniewski (CNN, 2004).

In the early 2000s, this sense of excitement around the EU applied to all Internarium countries.

The Czech President even claimed that "there is no alternative to European Union membership" (Klaus, 2009). The EU appeared to be road to affluence, stability and freedom.

In retrospect, it becomes clear that a few would agree with Jonathan Levy, who claimed that "CEE is surely taking a risk in blindly trusting its fate to the EU with no provision for alternative solutions" (Levy, 2007). Indeed, there was little space for alternative paths, many saw EU membership or the CIS (Community of Independent States) as the only two options available, and the West had something CEE had not seen in decades: prosperity.

The primary reasons for EU aspirations included the freedoms that come with it. Indeed, various scholars considered that after the collapse of Communism, CEE would reintegrate with the West to fully escape from the "tyrannical rule, an idiotic economic system and a ritualized ideology" (Beissinger, 2009) that Communism represented. According to Jack Snyder, in a text published in 1990, one of the most viable options for the CEE would be "to recruit reformist Eastern regimes into the West's already well-developed supra-national political order" (Snyder, 1990).

EU membership has also been supported by the general public in CEE. This paper has

Table 1. Cohesion Fund allocation to the Intermarium EU Member States, 2000–2006

Country	Total amount allocated	Share spent on Basic Infrastructure
Czech Republic	€ 1 100 869 907	99.9%
Estonia	€ 430 555 481	99.6%
Hungary	€ 1 478 658 566	98.6%
Latvia	€ 707 260 462	99.6%
Lithuania	€ 825 950 073	96.0%
Poland	€ 5 531 545 011	98.8%
Slovakia	€ 766 500 642	99.8%
Slovenia	€ 254 312 402	98.9%

Source: Final Report – ERDF and CF Regional Expenditure Contract No. 2008.

examined the EU public polls from 2004 among the Intermarium EU Member States (Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia, Poland, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovakia, and Slovenia) and candidate countries at the time (Croatia and Bulgaria). The polls show that the Intermarium states were among the most enthusiastic about the EU. For instance, 87% of Hungarians, 82% of Slovenians and 81% Poles claimed to take pride in being European (Eurobarometer 62), while the EU average at the time was 68%.

This enthusiasm was also fuelled by the EU funding scheme, and the economic prospects that came with it. This was particularly important, given that the economies of the newly-independent countries were lagging behind the EU core. Table 1 reflects the amounts of the Cohesion Fund that have been allocated to the Intermarium countries in the period of 20002006. As the table shows, most of the funding was spent on basic infrastructure development.

These numbers demonstrate that the Intermarium states which joined the EU in 2004 have received significant financial assistance from the Cohesion Fund. The EU core states have largely been the contributors thereto. It is important to note that this trend has continued throughout the 2010s and have continued in the 2014–2020 budget. In addition, Intermarium countries outside of the EU have also received financial aid as a part of the European Neighbourhood Policy (the ENP). For instance, in the period 2007–2013 ENP aid to Belarus amounted to €94.2 million, and €1005.5 million was allocated for Ukraine.

Given the data above, one can argue that the funding scheme significantly contributed to the feeling of euphoria around the EU. However, there is some strong evidence to suggest that the euphoria is fading, and the attitudes of CEE towards the EU have started to shift. An illustration of this is the same Eurobarometer poll taken in 2017, which showed some very different results from 2004. For instance, the polls showed that 56% of Czechs, 55% of Slovenians and 51% of Croats do not trust the EU (Eurobarometer 88). To contrast, the level of distrust in the Czech Republic in 2004 was 32%, in Slovenia it was at 28%, and the average for Intermarium was 28%, compared to 42.6% in 2017. While this does not suggest that these countries would be willing to leave the EU, it is a clear signal that the EU is no longer perceived as a "dream becoming reality".

To illustrate this point even further, this paper has also examined data from the Hungarian Századvég Foundation, which has been carrying out opinion polls in the EU Member States. In many areas the results of the foundation correspond to the Eurobarometer. For instance, on average, in Intermarium countries 15.6% have a negative perception of the EU, while 42.5% have a neutral perception of the EU. Moreover, in 2017 32% of people in Intermarium EU member states agreed with the statement that the European Union will not exist in ten years. This is a striking difference from the opinions in 2004 (Project 28, 2017).

Furthermore, in the same way that the funding scheme has been contributing to the enthusiasm around the EU, it may now be contributing to the changing attitudes towards the EU. The Cohesion Fund is aimed at aiding the less developed regions of the EU. This funding will reach its inevitable end - the member states on the receiving side will have to become contributors rather soon. At the moment. Intermarium EU Member States still remain in the list of countries that are below 75% EU GDP per capita but some parts of these states, for instance, Prague and the Mazowieckie province in Poland, are already on the list as more developed regions. It could be argued that due to the fading enthusiasm around EU membership, and the decrease in funding, the ideas of an alternative solution for CEE are gaining attention again.

In addition, it is worth mentioning that the marginal utility of the funds provided by the EU is decreasing. As shown in Table1, most of the funding was going to basic infrastructure which is essential for every country. Now much of the Cohesion Fund is aimed at protecting the environment and promoting the "low-carbon economy in all sectors" (European Structural and Investment Funds 2014–2020). Although this is undoubtedly an utterly necessary initiative, it is still not great news for countries such as Poland, which relies heavily on coal-mining and the government of which rigorously defends the industry. One could suggest that this was another reason for a change of attitude towards the European Union.

Once the euphoria around the EU started losing its shine, new conflicts have appeared between the EU core and CEE. As mentioned above, political freedom and independence were among the reasons why post-Communist states wanted to join the bloc. Nowadays, however, some states even argue that they lost their political freedom and independence after joining the EU. The best example for this would be Poland, as in 2017 alone the EU wanted to launch two court cases against this Member State. The ruling party of Poland (PiS) started judiciary reforms which, they claim, would reduce corruption. These reforms are perceived as highly controversial in the EU, with commentators going as far as to claim that they are "an erosion of judicial independence" (Davies, 2017). The EU responded to this by invoking Article 7, under which a Member State in violation of EU policies can be striped of certain rights within the bloc (EU website, the Lisbon Treaty). The Polish government has expressed its frustration in response to these accusations, claiming that the EU's reaction was "unnecessary political pressure exerted by European institutions" (the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2017). This seems very distant from Poland that "has long been praised as a role model for its transition from communism" (Noack, 2017).

A similar situation can be seen in the neighbouring Czech Republic and Hungary, against which the EU has also launched legal action. This is connected to the recent refugee crisis. The EU refugee relocation scheme required Member States to accept their share of asylum seekers. The Czech Republic, Hungary and Poland refused to participate.

It is important to note that the three states all argued participation would result in terrorist attacks.

This leads to a significant issue that has been overlooked by the politicians in the early 2000s: the EU takes its values very seriously, and those values do not always correspond to the prevailing opinions in the Intermarium states. Tolerance towards other cultures is one of such values. The Intermarium states struggle with tolerance, as they are still mostly homogenous in this respect. To give an example, the UN Refugee Agency had to specifically urge Hungary to "refrain from policies and practices that promote intolerance, fear and fuel xenophobia against refugees and migrants" (UNHCR, 2015). Due to these attitudes the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary did not comply with their refugee quotas, despite various threats and warnings from EU institutions. The most important implication of this is that the membership of the EU, which was once seen as extremely positive, is now causing major issues for the new member states.

This, in turn, brings us to another important point made by Jonathan Levy: "The EU, despite its great success, may be a fragile union resting on the assumption that members will at critical times rationally put aside national or parochial self-interest for the greater good of 'One Europe'" (Levy, 2007). While using the word 'fragile' to describe the EU might be a step too far, given the recent developments in the union (e.g. Brexit), one could argue that the bloc is not as united as it was in the early 2000s. This would primarily be because currently there is less alignment on common policies between EU Member States. To illustrate this, polls taken in 2017 suggest that 36% of people in Internarium states in the EU say that they "Oppose a Common European Policy on Migration", while the EU28 average is 11 percentage points lower, at 25% (Eurobarometer 88).

Another major difference in values between the Internarium countries and the Western European states is the way they view homosexuality and the legislation around it. Most Internarium states prohibit same-sex unions, with only the Czech Republic, Croatia, Slovenia and Hungary allowing civil unions (Boffey, 2018). Historian Chodakiewicz argues that when it comes to "environmentalism, feminism and gay liberation", "only a portion of those ideologies are indigenous to the Intermarium" (Chodakiewicz, 2012). He takes a rather harsh stand on the issue claiming that these are "transplanted" to CEE (Chodakiewicz, 2012). This paper does not fully agree with that statement; nevertheless, there is more than enough evidence to state that Intermarium and the West are not on the same page when it comes to homosexuality.

To illustrate, during a Pride parade in Lithuania in 2013, people were throwing eggs at the participants. In Ukraine, the first ever Pride parade took place in 2013, after being cancelled the year before because of a group of skinheads that were threatening the participants of the march (BBC, 2013). At the same time, Serbia had banned the Pride parades for two years prior to that, as police claimed they could not guarantee security for the participants (McDonald-Gibson, 2013). A clear pattern of rejecting the premise of equal rights for homosexual partnerships can be observed here. It is still up for a debate whether this is due to the totalitarian Communist past of the Intermarium countries - and they would 'grow' into it as they develop in the direction of liberalism - or, as Chodakiewicz claims, these ideas are "imposed by fiat by visiting Western leftist or brought back home by the naïve beneficiaries of Western scholarships" (Chodakiewicz, 2012). However, it is clear that CEE attitudes towards homosexuality are not likely to change soon.

To conclude this section, CEE was very eager to join the European family after the collapse of Communism. However, this section shows that the vision of the member states of the economic union is not as aligned as it used to be. This has been illustrated by analysis of opinion polls, particularly in the case of the Czech Republic, Croatia and Slovenia, where more than 50% of people stated that they do not trust the European Union. This can be further seen in lack of agreement on common policy questions, such as migration or homosexuality. Decreases in funding further contribute to the fading enthusiasm towards the EU in both the new member states and the ENP countries. At the moment, there is not enough evidence to suggest that any of the Intermarium EU Member States would be willing to leave the bloc. However, this change in attitudes makes an idea of Intermarium integration worth exploring.

Risk sharing

Economic debates over the consequences of economic integration date back to Adam Smith (1776), who described the benefits coming from international specialisation and more efficient use of resources. This debate is even more pronounced nowadays in the era of globalisation, and there is no better example of the outcomes of integration than contemporary Europe. Nevertheless, current debates still concentrate on the benefits of integration associated with economic efficiency: whether economic integration through the more efficient use of resources can bring about (temporarily or permanently) higher rates of real GDP or GDP per capita growth. What is often overlooked in the growing literate on economic integration is the second strand of potential gains, i.e. the possibility of consumption risk sharing.

International consumption risk sharing is defined as the ability of agents to diversify their portfolios in order to insure their consumption against the country specific shocks to their income (Canava & Ravn, 1996). The given definition, even though providing the general idea behind the consumption risk sharing, gives a rather limited view of the possibilities for consumption smoothing. Consumption risk sharing has both national and international dimension (Crucini, 1999), yet opening the economy greatly improves the chances for stabilising the consumption path. A given country being a member of the global community can improve it by tightening integration with its partners within a given arrangement. The nature of the arrangement, as well as its depth, will determine the ability of a given country to insure its consumption path. In other words, consumption risk sharing cannot be considered independently of the stage of integration and its specific institutional arrangements.

Countries are able to engage in consumption risk sharing without signing any international agreements, but their ability to do that effectively is rather limited. Later in this article channels of risk sharing are described, along with the stages of integration that facilitate it. The first stage of economic integration is a free trade agreement or customs union, which enables free movement of goods. International trade is one of the channels for risk sharing (Cole & Obstfeld, 1991), and the principle of its mechanics can be described as follows. When an idiosyncratic negative shock hits a given country, its GDP, along with price levels, starts to decrease. The lower price levels make domestic goods more competitive relative to foreign goods. As a result, imports decline and exports start to increase. This mitigates the impact of the economic shock on GDP and facilitates consumption smoothing.²

The second stage of economic integration is economic union, where, in addition to free movement of commodities, the unhampered movement of factors of production is an integral part. Within an economic union two additional channels for international consumption risk sharing are available. The first is the labour movement channel. After a negative idiosyncratic shock, some of the labour force become unemployed. If the other countries within the economic union are experiencing relative prosperity, at least some of the unemployed can relocate to find work somewhere outside the country. In such instance the path of consumption per capita within the country becomes more stable. Eichengreen (1992) showed empirically that labour force migration is responsible for the lion's share of income consumption smoothing for states in the United States and provinces in Canada. The second channel available within an economic

² Additionally, international trade contributes to tighter business cycle synchronisation. See Beck (2011, 2013, 2014, 2019a).

union works through capital markets. By buying and selling assets internationally, economic agents can diversify their portfolios. If the portfolios are diversified enough, idiosyncratic shocks are not entirely transferred to consumer income, thus providing consumption smoothing. In other words, with diversified portfolios, disposable income and consumption are no longer perfectly sensitive to changes in domestic income. As domestic incomes fall, the negative effect on consumption is compensated by an increase in the values of assets held abroad. This channel received the most attention in the contemporary economic literature (Lewis, 1996; Fratzscher & Imbs, 2009; Lewis & Liu, 2015). Rangvid et al. (2016) showed that capital market integration has been leading to an improvement in risk sharing, using data from the last 130 years, but Kose et al. (2009) demonstrate that only industrialised countries were beneficiaries. Nevertheless, the degree of risk sharing achieved through the capital market channel is strongly debated. Moreover, authors disaggregate this channel even further. Asdrubali et al. (1996), Asdrubali and Kim (2004), and Poncela et al. (2016) consider two different channels within the financial flows: capital markets and credit channel, and point that they might work as substitutes.

The third stage of economic integration involves the constituting of a monetary union. The creation of currency union leads to the elimination of exchange rate risk and promotes both international trade and capital mobility and financial integration. Without exchange rate risk economic agents can diversify their portfolios more effectively internationally, as one of the major components of overall risk has been eliminated. Effectively, consumption-smoothing possibilities are extended. Similarly, the elimination of exchange rate risk promotes trade (Frankel & Rose, 2002; Rose & Van Wincoop, 2001; Beck, 2017), and improves the effectiveness of trade channel in providing consumption insurance.

Finally, the last stage of integration considered in this paper is fiscal union. Consumption smoothing

in a fiscal union works through either taxation and transfers or benefits. When GDP in one of the countries starts to decrease as a result of negative shocks, tax revenues in that country start to fall and, consequently, the shock is not entirely transferred to income. At the same time transfers (excluding unemployment benefits) in that country start to increase, restricting the fall in disposable income. Both of these mechanisms facilitate consumption smoothing. The European Union has not yet decided on the introduction of fiscal union, even though propositions such as that have been put forward. For instance, back in 2015 Emmanuel Macron claimed that if the idea of fiscal union is not pursued, the entire Eurozone structure runs a risk of being dismantled. After being elected President of France, Macron recently highlighted the need to move in the direction of fiscal federalism to the German chancellor Angela Merkel and stated that he "will undertake deep structural reforms" if Merkel agrees to take "modest steps in the direction of fiscal federalism" (Eichengreen, 2017). At this point in time, the idea seems far-fetched, particularly since Merkel lacks support within her coalition for this initiative. Still, the United States can serve as a great example of the fiscal union. Sala-I-Martin and Sachs (1991) estimated that a one-dollar shock to income in one of the states in the USA triggers a decline in taxes of about 34 cents, and at the same time increases federal transfers by 6 cents. In other words, federal system in the US reduces a one-dollar income shock to a 60 cent decrease in disposable income. Asdrubali et al., (1996) calculated that the federal channel reduces regional shocks by 13%. Even though the EU does not have fiscal federalism in place, Sorensen and Yosha (1998) argue that the federal governments of the individual countries have been quite effective in executive risk sharing through fiscal policy.

Methodology

In order to assess the degree of risk sharing between European countries first data regarding

real GDP and consumption was collected for 33 countries. The analysis was conducted within the three reference groups. The first group is made up of 14 Intermarium countries: Bulgaria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Belarus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Croatia, Hungary, Lithuania, Latvia, Montenegro, Poland, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, and Ukraine. Twenty-eight European Union countries constitute the second group. The third group - the EU core - is formed from the countries that were the original 11 Eurozone members, i.e.: Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxemburg, Netherlands, Portugal, and Spain. The choice the EU core was dictated by previous research that stressed the importance of it as a reference point (Beck 2019b; Beck and Stanek 2019). The data was collected from Penn World Table (Feenstra et al., 2015) and covers the period between 1991 and 2014, although analysis is performed for three consecutive sub-periods of equal length: 1991-1998, 1999-2006, and 2007-2014.

The data is transformed into the first difference of natural logarithms, so the time series under investigation include the growth rate of real GDP and consumption. Additionally, growth rates of real GDP and consumption are calculated for each of the three reference groups: Intermarium, the EU, and the EU core. Using the aforementioned data, the following equation is estimated:

$$(C_{it} - C_{Rt}) = \alpha + \beta(\underline{Y}_{it} - Y_{Rt}) + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad (1)$$

where: *i* denotes country, *t* is time, *R* is reference group, C_{Rt} is growth rate of consumption of country *i* at time *t*, C_{Rt} is growth rate of consumption in the reference group, Y_{it} is growth rate of real GDP of country *i* at time *t*, Y_{Rt} is growth rate of real GDP of the reference group, and ε_{it} stands for error term. Expression $(C_{it} - C_{Rt})$ shows by how much the consumption growth rate of a given country at a given time differs from the growth rate of consumption of the reference group. By the same token $(Y_{it} - Y_{Rt})$ measures by how much the growth rate of real GDP of a given country in a given year deviates from the growth rate of the reference group. In this setting co-efficient β shows how much of the country specific shock to income is translated to this country consumption. β takes values from 0 to 1, where 1 indicates that the entire shock to income is translated to consumption. On the other hand, if β takes the value of 0, that means that that country's consumption is completely insensitive to changes in income; in other words, the country is able to completely mitigate the effects of the income shock through the risk sharing mechanisms. Accordingly, the measure of risk sharing can be defined as:

$$RS = 1 - \beta, \tag{2}$$

where the value of the measure informs what percentage of the country specific risk can be diversified away, by the mechanism described in section 2. In other words, *RS* measures the percentage of the country specific shock that is insured through the mechanisms of risk sharing. A value of 1 would indicate perfect risk sharing, while 0 indicates no risk sharing at all. Taking advantage of the panel structure of the employed data set equation one was estimated using pooled OLS, fixed effects, and random effects estimators. Along with estimation output interval of confidence were calculated, and the Wald test was used to test the hypothesis of $\beta = 0$ (perfect risk sharing) and $\beta = 1$ (no risk sharing).

Results

The descriptive statistics of the time series of real GDP and consumption growth are shown in table 2. The table illustrates the mean value of the growth rate, standard deviation, and co-efficient of variation calculated as the ratio of the standard deviation to mean. There are a couple of points that could be made about the time series at hand. Firstly, GDP growth rate is more volatile than consumption, regardless whether volatility is measured in terms of standard deviation or coefficient of variation. This suggests that risk sharing mechanisms are

Country/Group	GDP				Consumptio	n
	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV
Belarus	1.51%	0.113	7.513	3.74%	0.078	2.076
Bosnia and Herzegovina	9.61%	0.165	1.714	6.16%	0.151	2.445
Bulgaria	0.66%	0.084	12.863	1.29%	0.088	6.783
Croatia	1.12%	0.073	6.501	0.82%	0.101	12.394
Czech Republic	1.49%	0.049	3.295	1.94%	0.061	3.162
Estonia	2.58%	0.088	3.395	2.36%	0.097	4.104
Hungary	2.27%	0.037	1.613	2.29%	0.038	1.644
Latvia	0.29%	0.104	35.413	-0.24%	0.160	-67.618
Lithuania	1.93%	0.078	4.049	2.79%	0.080	2.866
Montenegro	1.63%	0.144	8.797	1.72%	0.157	9.177
Poland	4.83%	0.029	0.605	5.38%	0.029	0.539
Romania	3.67%	0.053	1.456	3.61%	0.079	2.195
Serbia	2.09%	0.159	7.619	1.98%	0.156	7.886
Slovakia	1.83%	0.070	3.828	2.34%	0.089	3.817
Slovenia	2.16%	0.044	2.051	1.98%	0.052	2.616
Ukraine	-0.77%	0.106	-13.826	1.65%	0.117	7.094
Intermarium	2.07%	0.043	2.079	2.49%	0.066	2.643
Inermarium and the EU 28	2.48%	0.021	0.831	2.15%	0.025	0.872
The EU 28	2.61%	0.020	0.758	2.47%	0.020	0.813
The EU Core	2.60%	0.021	0.801	2.35%	0.020	0.842
Maximum	9.61%	0.165	35.413	6.16%	0.160	12.394
Minimum	-0.77%	0.029	-13.826	-0.24%	0.029	-67.618
Mean	2.30%	0.081	4.989	2.47%	0.090	0.261
Standard deviation	0.022	0.041	9.233	0.015	0.041	17.234

Table 2. Descriptive statistics for real GDP and consumption growth rates for Intermarium countries, and the Intermarium and the European Union aggregates for the 1991–2014 period

Source: own calculations.

at work to provide consumption smoothing. Secondly, growth rates of the aggregates, here for Intermarium, the aggregate of Intermarium and the EU, the EU and the EU core, are less volatile than growth rates of the analysed time series for individual countries. The only exception is Poland, which experienced an unprecedentedly stable period of growth over the investigated time span. This illustrates the potential benefits in terms of income and consumption smoothing attainable from participation in economic integration. Table 3 presents the results of the estimation. Regardless of the utilised method of estimation, the results are very similar. Before the analysis of the β coefficients, a few comments on the results of the tests are due. 0.95 percent levels of confidence include the value of 1 for the Intermarium in the 2007–2014 period for all the methods of estimation. The Wald test, in that case, does not allow for the rejection of the no risk sharing hypothesis. This illustrates that the work of the risk sharing mechanisms between the Intermarium countries

Group	Time	Estimator	β	Standard	0.95 Confidence interval	nce interval	p(Wald test)	d test)	R2	Adj. R2	DW
	period			error	Г	n	H0: $\beta = 1$	H0: $\beta = 0$			
Intermarium	1991-1998	pooled	0.747***	0.053	0.642	0.851	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.614	0.611	2.225
		fixed	0.769***	0.068	0.634	0.905	0.001^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.645	0.567	2.363
		random	0.747***	0.053	0.642	0.851	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.614	0.611	2.225
	1999–2006	pooled	0.876****	0.071	0.737	1.016	0.079*	0.000^{****}	0.551	0.547	1.943
		fixed	0.829****	0.073	0.684	0.973	0.019**	0.000^{****}	0.660	0.584	2.418
		random	0.852****	0.068	0.717	0.987	0.030^{**}	0.000^{****}	0.553	0.550	2.140
	2007–2014	pooled	0.927****	0.077	0.774	1.080	0.343	0.000^{****}	0.532	0.529	1.950
		fixed	0.935****	0.089	0.758	1.113	0.471	0.000^{****}	0.590	0.499	1.967
		random	0.927****	0.077	0.774	1.080	0.343	0.000^{****}	0.532	0.529	1.950
EU 28	1991-1998	pooled	0.915****	0.055	0.806	1.023	0.120	0.000^{****}	0.556	0.554	2.169
		fixed	0.864***	0.069	0.728	1.000	0.049**	0.000^{****}	0.608	0.535	2.225
		random	0.908****	0.055	0.799	1.016	0.092*	0.000^{****}	0.552	0.550	2.160
	1999–2006	pooled	0.640^{****}	0.051	0.539	0.742	0.000^{****}	0.000^{****}	0.410	0.408	1.620
		fixed	0.584^{****}	0.053	0.479	0.690	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.576	0.497	2.043
		random	0.626****	0.050	0.527	0.726	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.410	0.407	1.766
	2007–2014	pooled	0.641^{****}	0.051	0.540	0.742	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.412	0.410	2.004
		fixed	0.609****	0.057	0.496	0.722	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.515	0.424	2.122
		random	0.645****	0.051	0.545	0.745	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.422	0.419	1.984
EU core	1991–1998	pooled	0.521****	0.068	0.385	0.656	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.405	0.398	1.938
		fixed	0.565****	0.080	0.405	0.726	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.559	0.444	2.124
		random	0.527****	0.067	0.394	0.660	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.420	0.413	1.910
	1999–2006	pooled	0.418^{****}	0.063	0.294	0.543	0.000****	0.000^{****}	0.342	0.334	1.733
		fixed	0.283***	0.082	0.120	0.446	0.000****	0.001^{***}	0.474	0.337	2.106
		random	0.417****	0.063	0.293	0.542	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.340	0.332	1.738
	2007–2014	pooled	0.232***	0.068	0.096	0.368	0.000^{***}	0.000^{****}	0.118	0.107	1.678
		fixed	0.215***	0.073	0.070	0.360	0.000^{***}	0.003^{***}	0.368	0.203	2.124
		random	0.214^{***}	0.067	0.081	0.347	0.000****	0.001***	0 106	0 096	1.833

Zarządzanie Publiczne / Public Governance 3(49)/2019

29

Source: own calculations.

was negligible in that period. Additionally, the hypothesis of no risk sharing cannot be rejected for some estimation methods for the Intermarium between 1999 and 2006, as well as for the EU between 1991 and 1998. Nonetheless, in those instances, evidence for negligible risk sharing is less unequivocal. At the other end, for 0.001 significance level, the hypothesis of perfect risk sharing cannot be rejected for the EU core between 2007 and 2014. Still, this is a rather unconventional and far-reaching significance level. For this reason, one can conclude that there is no perfect risk sharing, even between the EU core countries.

To summarise, the results show that the degree of risk sharing in all analysed groups was in between the two extremes. To assess accordingly the degree of risk sharing estimated β co-efficients were utilised to create *RS* measure defined in the formula (2). The values of the measure are shown in table 4. Estimates form pooled OLS were utilised. Yet the obtained results are qualitatively similar regardless of the method of estimation used.

Regarding the first column, in the period between 1991 and 1998 the Intermarium countries were able to insure against 25% of the shock to real GDP. However, in the two following periods the ability to insure against country specific shocks decreased in the 1999–2006 and 2007– 2014 periods to 12% and 7%, respectively. The European Union countries were able to insure against 9% of the shocks to their GDP in the 1991– 1998 period. Yet in the next two analysed periods, the risk sharing within this group had increased

Table 4. Measures of risk sharing obtained with pooled OLS estimator (in %)

Time period	Intermarium	EU 28	EU Core
1991–1998	25	9	48
1999–2006	12	36	58
2007-2014	7	36	77

Source: own calculation.

to 36%. To explain the results, it is important to keep in mind that the Intermarium countries include a group of countries that have joined the EU and the countries that remained outside of that bloc. The Intermarium countries, due to the association with the Soviet Union in the 1990s, still shared strong common ties, which enabled them to share risk. However, as some of those countries joined the European Union, the ties between them and the rest of the Intermarium started collapsing. For those reasons, the degree of risk sharing between the Intermarium countries started declining.

On the other hand, at the beginning of the period the degree of integration between the last 14 European Union members and the rest of the EU was very limited. As the process of integration progressed the countries were able to improve the degree of risk sharing significantly. These results demonstrate that risk sharing goes pari passu with integration. An even better demonstration of that point is provided by the case of the EU core countries. Starting from the beginning of the analysed period the degree of risk sharing between them was the highest, as they were able to insure consumption against 48% of idiosyncratic shocks. This high degree of risk sharing should not be surprising, as the EU countries had been participating in European integration for many decades before Intermarium countries even started considering joining the European Community. As the integration progressed, the degree of the risksharing went up even further. The year 1999, with the introduction of the common currency and the following commencement of euro zone, opened a period where the core countries were able to insure their consumption paths against 58% of idiosyncratic risk. Finally, in the 2007-2014 period the euro zone countries were able to insure against 77% of country specific shocks. This impressive number is the best testament to the potential of economic integration in promoting risk sharing. Moreover, it demonstrates the power of monetary unions in facilitating consumption smoothing. It is also important to remember that this was accomplished without resorting to fiscal

union, which suggests that there is still room for improvement.

Conclusions

This paper has analysed the group of countries that comprise Internarium from two different perspectives: it has looked into motivations for exploring the idea of Internarium integration and also assessed the potential economic benefits of that through the prism of consumption risk sharing. In the early 2000s, there was a strong sense of enthusiasm when it came to the EU membership. However, as it has been illustrated, there is enough evidence to suggest that there has been a shift in attitudes towards the EU in CEE. To give a few examples, opinion polls show a lack of trust towards the European Union, as well as less alignment on key policy issues, such as migration. In addition, EU financial aid for both groups has either decreased or is expected to decrease. This, in turn, has shattered the thought of the European Union as the only feasible idea for the post-Communist states, which gave room for exploring alternative ideas, such as Intermarium. However, it is important to note that, from the political science perspective, it is difficult to assess the likelihood of the Internarium integration, as there is no evidence to indicate that even the most sceptical EU Member States would leave the bloc. At the same time, given the shift in attitudes, the economic benefits of Intermarium are nonetheless worth exploring.

The research undertaken in this article did not concentrate on gains in terms of improved economic growth, which is overwhelmingly explored in the literature, and instead focused on consumption risk sharing. As both existing theoretical models and empirical research demonstrated, ability to ensure the stability of consumption path heavily relies upon the stage of integration attained by the group of countries under investigation. Therefore, an inquiry was conducted for the Intermarium, the EU, and the EU core. At the outset the results showed that aggregates are characterised by the lower

volatility of both consumption and real GDP growth, signifying advantages associated with membership in supranational organisations. Moreover, as the volatility of consumption is lower in comparison with GDP growth at a country level, there is evidence of risk sharing mechanisms working even in preliminary data analysis. The main part of the research showed how the degree of consumption risk sharing was evolving from period to period in the groups under scrutiny. The results showed that risk sharing between Intermarium countries was steadily declining, while at the same time it increased among European Union Member States. This outcome can be attributed to the fact that Intermarium includes both the EU and non-EU member states. At the beginning of the analysed period Intermarium countries were through common post-communist ties able to insure against 25% of idiosyncratic shocks to national GDP. However, as some of the Intermarium countries joined the EU the ties with rest started to loosen. Consequently, the decrease in Intermarium risk sharing was accompanied by development of the European Union risk sharing along the described stages of integration. At the same time, the EU core countries were characterised by the highest degree of consumption insurance at the beginning of the sample period and were able to increase it tremendously, with 77% of shocks to national income being absorbed through the mechanisms of risk-sharing. This impressive result can be traced to the introduction of the common currency and concomitant financial market integration. Even this result could be improved upon if the EU core moved on to another stage and decided to form a fiscal union.

To sum up, the results show that ongoing European integration relaxed the ties between the Intermarium countries and deteriorated, almost completely, their mechanisms of international consumption insurance. This decline was accompanied by an increase in risk sharing between the old and new member states of the European Union. As demonstrated by the example of the EU core, the scope of benefits in terms of risk sharing that could be gained through engagement in consequent stages of integration is tremendous. Nevertheless, in the light of the results presented in this paper, integration in the Intermarium bloc would be associated mostly with costs on the side of the countries that are already part of the EU. Leaving the EU would be associated with a sharp decline in risk sharing with those countries, and the time span to achieve comparable results with the rest of Internarium countries would be rather extensive. Withdrawing from the EU would be a step away from developing mechanisms of international consumption insurance and a move to an uncertain future within the Intermarium bloc. The most rational choice, motivated on both theoretical and empirical grounds, would entail non-EU Intermarium countries joining the European Union. With increased possibilities to insure against idiosyncratic shocks, the benefits of ongoing integration would be reaped by both the existing and new members of the European Union.

References

- Asdrubali, P., Sorensen, B., & Yosha, O. (1996). Channels of interstate risk sharing: United States 1963–1990. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 111(4), 1081–1110, https://doi.org/10.2307/29467.
- Asdrubali, P., & Kim, S. (2004), Dynamic risksharing in the United States and Europe. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, *51*(4), 809–836, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmoneco.2003.09.002.
- BBC. (2013). 'Ukraine stages first gay pride march', https://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-22667015, accessed on 12.03.2018.
- Beck, K. (2011). Akcesja Polski do strefy euro w świetle teorii optymalnych obszarów walutowych – weryfikacja empiryczna. In: S. Lis (Ed.). Kontrowersje wokół akcesji Polski do Unii Gospodarczej i Walutowej (pp. 224–238). Kraków: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w Krakowie.
- Beck, K. (2013). Determinants of business cycles synchronization in the European Union and the Euro Area. *Equilibrium. Quarterly Journal of Economics and Economic Policy*, 8(4), 25–48, http://dx.doi. org/10.12775/EQUIL.2013.025.

- Beck, K. (2014). Determinanty synchronizacji cykli koniunkturalnych w krajach Unii Europejskiej w latach 1990–2007. *Gospodarka w Teorii i Praktyce*, *1*(34), 5–20.
- Beck, K. (2017). Bayesian model averaging and jointness measures: Theoretical framework and application to the gravity model of trade. *STATISTICS IN TRANSITION new series*, 18(3), 393–412. doi: 10.21307/stattrans-2016-077.
- Beck, K. (2019a). What drives business cycle synchronization? BMA results from the European Union. *Baltic Journal of Economics*, 19(2), 248–75. doi: 10.1080/1406099X.2019.1652393.
- Beck, K. (2019b). Decoupling after the crisis: Western and eastern business cycles in the European Union. *Eastern European Economics*. doi: 10.1080/00128775. 2019.1656086.
- Beck, K., & Stanek, P. (2019). Globalization or regionalization of stock markets? The Case of central and eastern European countries. *Eastern European Economics*, 57(4), 317–330. doi: 10.1080/ 00128775.2019.1610895.
- Beissinger, M. (2009). Nationalism and the collapse of Soviet communism. *Contemporary European History*, 18(3), 331–347. doi: 10.1017/S0960777 309005074.
- Boffey, D. (2018). Gay spouses have rights in all EU countries, says European court official. *The Guardian*, 11 January, accessed on 12.03.2018.
- Briancon, P., & Karnitschnig, M. (2018). 'Angela Merkel dashes Emmanuel Macron's Eurozone dreams', https://www.politico.eu/article/an-offeremmanuel-macron-cant-refuse-eurozone-budgetangela-merkel/, accessed on 17.07.2018.
- Canava, F., & Ravn M. (1996). International consumption risk sharing. *International Economic Review*, 37(3), 573–601.
- Chodakiewicz, M. (2012). *Intermarium: The Land between the Black and Baltic Seas*. New York: Routledge.
- CNN. (2004). 'EU welcomes 10 new members', http:// edition.cnn.com/2004/WORLD/europe/04/30/ eu.enlargement/, accessed on 8.12.2018.
- Cole, H., & Obstfeld, M. (1991). Commodity trade and international risk sharing: How much do financial markets matter? *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 28(1), 2–24. doi: 10.1016/0304-3932(91)90023-H.
- Crucini, M. (1999). On international and national dimensions of risk sharing. *Review of*

Economics and Statistics, 81(1), 73–84. doi: 10.1162/003465399767923836.

- Davies, C. (2017). Polish MPs pass judicial bills amid accusations of threat to democracy. *The Guardian*, December 8.
- Eichengreen, B. (1992). Is Europe an Optimum Currency Area? In: S. Borner, & H. Grubel (Eds.). *The European Community after 1992* (138–161). London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- 'Eurobarometer 62'. (2005). EU official website, http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/ index.cfm/Survey/getSurveyDetail/instruments/ STANDARD/search/standard%20eurobarometer/ surveyKy/455, accessed on 05.2018..
- 'Eurobarometer 88'. (2017), EU official website, http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/ index.cfm/Survey/getSurveyDetail/instruments/ STANDARD/search/eurobarometer%2088/surveyKy/2143, accessed on 12.2018.
- Feenstra, R., Inklaar, R., & Timmer, M. (2015). The next generation of the penn world table. *American Economic Review*, 105(10), 3150–82. doi: 10.1257/ aer.20130954.
- Final Report ERDF and CF Regional Expenditure Contract No 2007'. EU official website, http:// ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/sources/docgener/ evaluation/pdf/expost2006/expenditure_final.pdf, accessed on 09.07.2008.
- Frankel, J., & Rose, A. (2002). An estimate of the effect of common currencies on trade and income. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 117(2), 1st May, 437–466. doi: 10.1162/003355302753650292.
- Fratzscher, M., & Imbs, J. (2009). Risk sharing, finance, and institutions in international portfolios. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 94(3), 428–447. doi: 10.1016/j.jfineco.2008.12.007.
- Kose, M., Prasad E., & Terrones, M. (2009). Does financial globalization promote risk sharing? *Journal* of Development Economics, 89(2), 258–270. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2008.09.001.
- Levy, J. (2007). *The Intermarium: Wilson, Madison & CEEan Federalism*. Boca Raton: Dissertation.com.
- Lewis, K. (1996). What can explain the apparent lack of international consumption risk sharing? *Journal of Political Economy*, 104(2), 267–297. doi: 10.1086/262025.
- Lewis, K., & Liu, E. (2015). Evaluation international consumption risk sharing gains: An asset return view. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 71, 84–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jmoneco.2014.11.010.

- McDonald-Gibson, C. (2013). The Intolerant continent: Europe's shocking attitude creating a climate of fear for gay people. *Independent*. https://www. independent.co.uk/news/world/europe/the-intolerantcontinent-europe-s-shocking-attitude-creatinga-climate-of-fear-for-gay-people-8824932.html, accessed on 12.12.2018.
- 'MFA statement on the European Commission's decision to launch the disciplinary process against Poland laid out in Article 7 of the TEU', https://www.msz.gov. pl/en/p/msz_en/news/mfa_statement_on_the_european_commission_s_decision_to_launch_the_disciplinary_process_against_poland_laid_out_in_article_7_of_the_teu, accessed on 12.12.2018.
- Noack, R. (2017). 'E.U. pursues unprecedented action against Poland in a sign of escalating tensions', *The Washington Post*, https://www.washingtonpost. com/world/europe/eu-pursues-unprecedentedaction-against-poland-in-a-sign-of-escalatingtensions/2017/12/20/a5873e56-e597-11e7-a65d-1ac0fd7f097e_story.html?noredirect=on&utm_ term=.04c054214847, accessed on 20.12.2018.
- Poncela, P., Pericoli, F., Manca, A., & Nardo, M. (2016). Risk sharing in Europe. JRC SCIENCE FOR POLICY REPORT. doi: 10.2791/174718.
- Project 28. (2017). 'Poll 2017'. http://project28.eu/ opinions-2017/, accessed on 10.03.2018.
- Rangvid, J., Santa-Clara, P., & Schmeling, M. (2016). Capital market integration and consumption risk sharing over the long run. *Journal of International Economics*, 103, 27–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jinteco.2016. 08.001.
- Rose, A., & Van Wincoop, E. (2001). National money as a barrier to international trade: The real case of currency union. *American Economic Review*, 91(2), 386–390.
- Sala-I-Martin, X., & Sachs, J. (1991). Fiscal federalism and optimum currency areas: Evidence for Europe from the United States. NBER Working Paper, 3855.
- Smith, A. (1997). An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Snyder, J. (1990). Averting Anarchy in the New Europe. *International Security*, 15(4), 5–41. doi: 10.2307/2538749.
- Sorensen, B., Yosha, O. (1996). International risk sharing and European monetary unification. *Journal* of International Economics, 45(2), 211–238. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1996(98)00033-6.

- 'Speech of the President of the Czech Republic Vaclav Klaus in the European Parliament, EU official website, http://www.europarl.europa.eu/resources/ library/media/20090126MLT47169/20090126M LT47169.pdf, accessed on 19.12.2018.
- UNHCR. (2015). 'Hungary urged to refrain from policies and practices that promote intolerance and hatred', http://www.unhcr.org/news/ press/2015/12/5677cf666/hungary-urged-refrainpolicies-practices-promote-intolerance-hatred.html, accessed on 21.12.2018.

Andrzej Szromnik

Cultural heritage objects on the market: Features, conditions and functioning concepts

Abstract

Objectives: The purpose of this paper is to present the conditions and possibilities of market reorientation of cultural heritage objects with respect to all the features of such objects including, inter alia, the historical, artistic and emotional values, forms of ownership, functions and previous market position. The author presents the main determinants and forms of "opening" the historical objects (antique properties) for existing and new markets through developing and widening the offering of services.

Research Design & Methods: This paper introduces a concept and a model that rely on the author's original vision of diagnosing, shaping and implementing market restructuring for cultural heritage objects. From the methodological point of view the theoretical concepts of illustrating the gradual expansion of market relations between historical objects and their stakeholders rely on theoretical concepts of market, market economy, entrepreneurship and marketing management of NGO's.

Findings: In market economy all organizations are included, at least to some extent, in a network of relationships and dependencies specific for the market and for the processes of exchanging values between partners. This also applies to the cultural sector and, within it, to various cultural heritage objects. The gradual reduction of financing of these objects by the State or regional budgets force the management of cultural objects to accept and apply a new functional philosophy – a philosophy of gradual expansion of its own market and increasing of additional financial revenues generated on this market.

Implications / Recommendations: The author does not question the supreme, social and civilizing role of many historic buildings, but he also claims that orientation for additional market resources should be treated and perceived as recommended and even necessary.

Contribution / Value Added: In the paper the process of market reorientation of cultural heritage objects has been introduced as a continuum – as a cycle of systematic changes, starting initially from traditional orientation for preservation and conservation and ending on the appropriate and final orientation for the market.

Article classification: theoretical article, conceptual article

Keywords: cultural heritage, market of cultural products and services, historical objects, historical buildings, economics of culture, marketing of culture, cultural tourism, non-profit marketing, market orientation, marketing of cultural heritage objects

JEL classification: H300, H440, L300, M380

Andrzej Szromnik, Cracow University of Economics, ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; szromnia@uek.krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0003-2494-0753.

Introduction

In the "broadening and deepening" concept of marketing formulated about 50 years ago by Kotler and Levy one can find an announcement of its constant, systematic development, adequate to the changes on the market, its entities, objects and network of market relationships connecting them in consistent structural and functional system (see Kotler & Levy, 1969; Kotler, 1972). In this vision evolution of marketing, such important sector areas of modern marketing such as service marketing, ideas marketing, marketing of places and real estate marketing, were shaped and distinguished. Generally speaking, it expressed in clear shifting of the field of interest of the marketing system of thinking and acting on the areas of intangible goods and non-commercial activity of individuals and social groups (see Kotler, 2013;, Parsons, 2008; Sargeant, 2004). In the result, the process of marketing values exchange started to involve entities and their omitted and eliminated traditional offers, contributing thereby to significant enrichment of marketing itself and to market interpretation of the development mechanisms of new fields.

An important feature of the processes of broadening the field of marketing interests was concentration on the sphere of the needs and desires of a person and the group of goods which satisfy them. In this way, a relatively well-known market satisfying the physiological needs of individuals and appropriate processes of recognising, shaping or limiting them was completed with analogous processes relating to the needs of higher level, the needs of mental experiences, the needs of development and self-realisation. Simultaneously, the marketing approach in shaping and offering values was used with reference to benefits meeting the requirements of a modern market only to some extent - "quasi" market offers, offers provided to the public by public institutions.

The services of the cultural sector, in all their generic, functional and market diversity, have a special place among public offers. Their essence is expressed by experiences, feelings, emotions and spiritual experiences accompanying and caused by people, objects, images or sounds, melodies and words deliberately prepared, arranged and made available to the public. Participation in relevant, cultural events, which have permanent or periodic character, is a confirmation of the market attractiveness of the offer, its programme accuracy and compatibility with the social needs, current preferences and expectations of the customers.

The considerations included in the elaboration concern a unique group of institutions, running businesses within widely understood culture, i.e. institutions, which perform various functions based on their location in historic buildings and in close connection with their unrepeatable, unique character. Such objects, or rather their architectural and environmental complexes, due to their material and symbolic values, were to be defined by the term of cultural heritage objects (*heritage sites*), emphasizing their importance and role in preserving the "past" achievements – the ones especially protected by public authorities.

Giving up, at this point, even from an attempt to completely define the "cultural heritage" or "a cultural heritage object", the exhaustive terminological terminology of Murzyn-Kupisz deserves recommendation to those who are interested. In her pioneering monograph "Cultural Heritage and local development" (published by UEK in 2012) she cited different points of view, approaches and only distinguishing features of this conceptual theory, including numerous definitions suggested by authors from other countries and relevant possessions that are in legal acts (The Venice Charter, 1964; the UNESCO Convention, the Hague, 1954; the UNESCO Convention, Paris, 2003).

Difficulties connected to defining a universal definition of "cultural heritage", also including objects, resulted in that relatively general term being adopted for the purposes of the elaboration. It enables one to consider a wide circle of "immovablebuilding souvenirs from the past", institutions regarded as deserving of preservation for individuals from present and future generations
reflecting the past and traditions of their ancestors regardless of the formalisation of their status at the international, national or regional level. This conceptual approach therefore leads to the contractual treatment of cultural heritage objects as historic building real properties – historic architectural complexes, in all their artistic, functional, technical and proprietary diversity (see Szmygin, 2007; Murzyn & Purchla, 2007).

The market in the activity of cultural heritage objects – a review of the literature

The main stream of the considerations in this article are connected to the marketing approach of the functioning of cultural heritage objects, therefore with possibilities and conditions of using marketing in the realisation of current and prospective objectives of their activity in a specific social, economic, legal and natural environment. The marketing concept of managing this specific cultural resource in an institution, which has a unique mission in society, derives from the field of the economics of culture, the economics of cultural goods, also called the economics of cultural heritage. Accordingly, historic objects are treated on the contemporary market of goods and services as units oriented in specific scope for profit, for generating incomes and surpluses, which allow them to recoup part of their operating costs (see Throsby, 2010; Murzyn-Kupisz, 2010; Towse, 2011; Jung (ed.), 2011, Ilczuk, 2012; Barański, 2016; Murzyn-Kupisz, 2016; Kopeć, 2016).

Indicating the purposefulness of the market restructuring of activities of cultural heritage objects, the need to change their organisational and functional concept, and consequently the reorientation of the programs they offer, is not a new approach. The authors of many scientific publications referred to marketing and certain marketing strategies in historic building activity. They indicated and defined, adequately to specific features, positions and resources of these entities; the works by Thornburn (1986), Dominquez (1986) and Herbert et al, (1989) deserve particular attention.

In Polish marketing literature, the first works devoted to marketing in the culture sector were the works of the Wrocław authors deriving from the previous Economic Academy (currently UE), i.e. monographs edited by Knecht and Styś (1990) and edited by Mazurek-Łopacińska (Wrocław 1997). The book by Sobocińska (Wrocław 2015) can also be included to the Wrocław current. Marketing, in relation to the functioning and management of cultural institutions, has been the subject of monographs written by many other Polish authors, including Niemczyk (2007), Wróblewski (2012), Łodziana-Grabowska and Wiktor (ed. 2014). This group of publications also includes the monograph written by foreign authors and translated into Polish Dragičevič--Šečič and Stojkovič (2010). The cultural sector and its subjective structure, functional features and potential marketing strategies were treated in a subjective way by all the afore-mentioned authors in their publications. They concentrated on such cultural institutions as theatres, operas, cinemas, philharmonics, cultural centres and exhibition galleries. A few cases and practical references included cultural heritage objects as a whole market, as an integrated offering concept of movable and immovable cultural property, along with relevant special events, and involved creators, artists, designers (see Smoleń 2013). Parowicz (2019) had a different point of view in her monograph: she considered the marketing of cultural heritage on the grounds of the conservation services market.

Cultural heritage objects, historical, architectural and environmental complexes, as well as single, most valuable historic properties, have not been the subject of complex conceptual considerations and relevant project works which discuss their marketing strategies in a systematic and complete way, together with appropriate instruments and market simulation techniques. These objects were usually perceived as cultural tourism centres, so their marketing approach concerned tourist services – product concepts, the structures of price instruments, promotion of the services and ways of their distribution – offerings for target markets. A tourist point of view in marketing considerations is visible in the works by Chhabra (2010), Fullerton et al. (2010), and McComley and Glimore (2015).

The functional approach, appropriate for the consideration of historic building activity through the prism of a narrowly understood leading function is a characteristic feature of many monographs in the field of marketing of cultural heritage objects. Their authors consider such objects as museum facilities. In this way, the market activity thereof is reduced to the paid provision of museum services. Without questioning the legitimacy and the needs to perceive a museum as a specific "enterprise" or more generally a "market subject", an equals sign cannot be put between the marketing of cultural heritage objects and museum marketing. This is due to the obvious fact that not every museum is a museum of historical interiors, many of them are located in modern real properties, properties that do not meet the condition of "historicity". Historic character and historical values have movable objects presented in them and made available to the public. Despite this limitation, the monographs devoted to "museum heritage" and services connected with it deserve attention (see Kowalczyk, 1995; McLean, 1997; Simm, 2006; Matt, 2006; Kotler et al., 2008; Montemaggi & Severino, 2007; French & Runyard, 2011).

Misiuna (2006) presented the extensive approach to "heritage marketing" in his unique monograph. He explained and developed the marketing concept of functioning of the "heritage industry" on 280 pages of text. He discussed, inter alia, such issues as the essence of heritage marketing, market segmentation, the concept of marketing-mix (in relation to the tourist services, the food and beverages market) and preparation of marketing campaigns. Despite the lack of direct reference to the marketing strategies of cultural heritage objects, the work of Misiuna deserves high assessment and recognition for the book's position in the field of marketing literature. Marketing of cultural heritage objects is, in many cases, considered in close connection with "Place marketing": territorial marketing, also called in national literature "city and region marketing" or "location marketing". This can be seen in the works of Karmowska (2002) and Napolitano and De Nisco (2017), but also, or perhaps first and foremost, the third International Caribbean Conference "Heritage – Tourism and Hospitality" (2014), at which Govers gave an introductory speech entitled "The Role of Heritage in Place Marketing and Branding".

Apart from numerous domestic and foreign publications, the problems of marketing of cultural heritage objects can be seen in targeted didactic projects. "Marketing of Heritage sites" lectures, among others by Conderello (2015) as part of the European project "Lifelong Learning Program" an HISA course (Heritage Interpretation for Senior Audiences, Italy). It should also be emphasised that this issue has been included in the postgraduate studies project under the title "Academy of Heritage" initiated and successfully carried out in Krakow by the International Cultural Center and the Małopolska School of Public Administration of the UEK.

Cultural heritage: Preliminary systematics

The economic point of view adopted in this elaboration on the functioning of cultural heritage objects in the conditions of market economy requires the acceptation of specific systems of the division of these objects. Only then will the transparency and logic of the argument, referring to specific cases, individuals or groups, be guaranteed. The variety of cultural heritage objects, their mutual significant diversity, in connection to the constantly expanding conceptual area generating further groups of objects qualified to the historical heritage of man, make the right area of interest more and more complex and extensive. And so, apart from traditional components included in the cultural heritage, more and more often such relatively new, independent parts are taken into consideration as natural, archaeological or architectural heritage, abstracting from new, introduced spheres of immaterial cultural heritage (musical, religious heritage, culinary heritage, technological heritage and others).

The organisation of the components of the "cultural heritage" category is based on the initial, basic, object-functional distinction among objects with mutual, hierarchical order. And so, as an initial classification set a wide set of elements was adopted under the name of "historical effects of human activity" and thus, a set enabling one to separate, within its frames, smaller and smaller components in the following order:

- a subset under the name "historic buildings", and then
- cultural heritage objects;
- material objects of cultural heritage;
- real estate objects of cultural heritage;
- building objects of cultural heritage.

In this way, a six-element structure of the hierarchical division of the whole set preserved, historical human works, in which a subset of the lower order is a component of a subset of a higher order, was suggested. In all the systematics, the main place is occupied by a group of objects classified as cultural heritage in the strict sense, as opposed to a broad conceptual notion corresponding to the category of "historical objects" and, even more generally, historical human works (the effects of their activity in the past, fixed, preserved, being the subject of generational transmission).

Separating the material cultural heritage, deliberately outside the suggested division, a wide and internally complex of objects belonging to the immaterial heritage, was left. Similarly, in the case of separating built cultural heritage objects, properties and the land were omitted, which may also be a separate, important class of cultural heritage objects (housing studios, conspiratorial premises, as well as battlefields, cemeteries, fortifications, hill forts (settlements), archeological excavations, etc).

A building, i.e. a cubature construction object permanently connected with the land, qualifying to the group of monuments of special value and importance for society, its historical identity, tradition and material culture, can take various technical and functional forms (architectural, urban). From this point of view, a distinction can be made according to the given criterion:

 a single building, a cultural heritage object with a specific utility function (current or original);



Figure 1. The main types of immovable objects of cultural heritage Source: own study.

- a complex of historic buildings with homogenous (two or several objects);
- a complex of historic buildings with various functions;
- a location complex, i.e. a group of historic buildings, structures, elements of small architecture and natural monuments.

The economic significance and market position of a cultural heritage object, depend, to a large extent, on two technical and constructional features, i.e.:

 the condition of the utility spaces of the building (open space, that is non-covered, which means ruins or usable closed space, i.e. what is known as a cubature object); the object's mobility, corresponding to the division on the immovable cultural objects (buildings) and movable objects (objects, movable things).

The division of cultural heritage objects into "objects in the state of a ruin" and "cubature objects" is not a separable division (bipartite, dichotomous). It has been accepted as a certain simplified, existing state, although it is understandable that "ruin" can mean different technical states of a building, and thus from a complete ruin to a partial ruin. At the same time, many objects in the state of a ruin are the ones with small degree of structural degradation and can conditionally be included with cubature objects.



Figure 2. The groups of cultural heritage objects (properties) acc. to diverse architectural and functional features

Source: own study.

The full, complex characterisation of a selected immovable, building cultural heritage object should include the whole set of individual characteristics, that have opposite character, thanks to which subsets of completely and uniquely opposites can be created. Therefore, eight separate characteristics were proposed in order to arrange the analyzed objects in detail. They reflect respectively:

- ownership of the structure;
- technical condition of the structure;
- functional purpose and its changes;
- location;
- current utilisation status (use);
- scope of conservation protection;
- the degree of originality of the architectural design;
- scope of currently performed functions.

The use of the above mentioned features for the full identification of the object (in contrast to basic identification) would require additional consideration of at least a few more characteristics, including, among others, the object's artistic value, its equipment/furnishings, the state of preservation of the park/natural surroundings, the media's recognition of the object and the degree of market "opening" of the object. These enumerated characteristics no longer express the state, legal, technical or territorial situation, but the active role and market potential.

The large number and diversity of the cited identification features of the cultural heritage object do not contradict the original, initial characteristics and appropriate concepts. In this case, the importance, significance and social impact of the historic object depends on its artistic value. historical value and emotional value. If the artistic value (a creator, style, form, architecture, technology, materials, equipment/additions) of the object does not raise any objections and above all depends on the uniqueness of the features mentioned, their individuality and exceptional quality, apart from the historical value expressing the age of the object or its relative time creation, most difficult of all is undoubtedly defining and closer characterisation of emotional value.



Figure 3. Historic building – real estate Source: own study.

The "emotional value" category – a category that values cultural heritage objects and places them on a specific scale of "social feelings" expresses the state of human emotions, opinions and references about assessments that are related to and concern a specific cultural heritage object. These sentiments are based on both formal and informal, purposeful and additional educational projects, and also media coverage and intracommunity environmental messages. They generate widely understood historical awareness, shape social relations and opinions about specific objects in the country, region and one's own town. Such messages include "facts and figures" concerning people and events connected to a given object, its past, creators, users, and important development stages as well as stories and legends. The emotional value of a cultural heritage object is the highest in case of these units that define national, ethnic and group identity (see Figure 3).

A cultural heritage object as an entity of the market

The market essence is the connection of various entities – people and organisations – buying and selling relations. These relations, i.e. market relations, form a complex network that combines various entities and market objects. Connections of entities – sellers and buyers – have the character of horizontal links, because they combine with each other buying and selling transactions equivalent and equal entities representing the demand (a buyer) and the supply (a seller).

In developed market conditions there are various entities as sellers (bidders) or buyers, for which specific material goods or services are necessary for their operation, and which can be bought, primarily through purchases. These are both organisations and natural people running commercial activities, but also organisations non-profit institutions fulfilling social (non-profit) purposes. At this point, the obvious question arises: whether cultural heritage objects, limited to historic building properties, are market entities, and if so, what are the necessary conditions which they must meet. It is understandable that these objects in all their diversity (previously signalled) are significantly different from each other, primarily in scope, organisation and operating conditions.

The answer to the formulated main question and the relevant conceptual issue concern the recognition of a cultural heritage object as a separate and independent organisation - an institution. Only a specific team of people with intellectual, material and financial resources is able to implement their own statutory use of a set of objectives. The cultural heritage object, as an institution, runs a socially useful activity for its own use and in its own name. It is also based on its own resources. In order to do this, it purchases necessary development factors (mainly service-providing ones) on full market conditions. At the same time, it offers (to interested entities), on a commercial basis, the effects of its own activity and possibilities potentially connected to it.

According to the presented statement, a cultural heritage object, as an entity of the market, should be an institution that ought to be characterised by:

- legal and proprietary distinction (be a selfreliant, independent, registered ownership entity with legal capacity);
- economic distinction (have its own resources that can be freely used by selling them or buying the new ones; if other regulations do not limit it, it can also take loans, regulate its commitments, liabilities and receivables);

– organisational separation (have a specific object management structure, internal organisational structure, precise organisational subordination, approved organisational statute); – territorial distinction (have a seat of an institution, have strictly designated boundaries within the territory of its own building premises and land properties, including leased, usable and supervised real estate).

It is possible to talk about full decision-making independence of a cultural heritage object if all of the above-mentioned conditions are satisfied. In practice, it is difficult to find cases of such institutions. As a rule, this results from the complexity, ambiguity or imprecision of ownership relations and what comes after that, also organisational relations, as well as the sources and forms of financing the activities. As a consequence, many historic buildings, including cultural heritage objects, have only limited market independence and appropriate buying-selling decisions are made with the participation of many entities from the market environment of the object. Such restrictions, extending management and decisionmaking processes, make cultural heritage objects only "defective" market entities.

Ownership – a nodal feature of cultural heritage objects

Among the listed, basic characteristics of cultural heritage objects as institutions, undoubtedly the primary feature is ownership – ownership of the object. Ownership is a feature that projects and determines other organisational and functional as well as economic and financial characteristics (see Figure 4).

From the point of view of ownership, the main and the most important group of cultural heritage objects are entities owned by the State Treasury. These include the largest, best-known and commonly recognised objects as national goods. They are mainly used by public institutions, above all, for civilisational, cultural, partly educational and expositional aims. They are financed and



Figure 4. The main owners of cultural heritage objects Source: own study.

developed thanks to funds from the State Treasury distributed by the Ministry of Culture and National Heritage.

A sizeable group of historic buildings with high cultural values is made up by objects directly owned by the Ministry of Culture and National Heritage. As a "central" property, as well as the previously characterized group of objects, they remain outside the regional and local authorities. At this point it should be mentioned that there is an additional group of public facilities, resort buildings, which are owned by other ministries with all organisational, functional and financial consequences.

The largest group of historic buildings with limited artistic, historical and emotional values is directly or indirectly managed by local governments on a municipal, district or voivodeship level. These are thousands of various usable and unused facilities, which are often doomed to local authorities, are in a poor technical condition, and with no prospects for future changes.

The private sector is a dynamically developing property sector among objects of cultural heritage. It mainly includes the ownership of natural persons and private corporations, including foreign entities. Apart from the examples of negative use of historic buildings by private owners, it should be emphasised that from the market point of view it is the most developmental group of objects.

Among the owners, and at the same time users of cultural heritage objects, it is impossible to omit social organisations, including organisations and religious associations. They belong to the most numerous, permanent, often primitive (long-term) owners – users of monasteries, churches, chapels, eastern orthodox churches and religious complexes. The vast majority of them are in a satisfactory technical and maintenance condition. According to the applicable legal articles regulating the purchase or sale of a historic real estate, the acquisition of ownership of a cultural heritage object takes place through a notary contract, but the price does not always reflect the market value of the object, in many cases it is only symbolic. In selected cases, the change of ownership as the result of the sale of an object is limited/conditional, because it depends on the consent of the Ministry of Culture and conservation services.

Concluding the remarks about the properties of cultural heritage objects and major entities in this respect, it should be noted that many objects do not have valid, credible and unambiguous certificates of ownership. A large number of historic buildings are the subject of reprivatisation and compensation claims. Such situations limit their market position as sale-purchase transaction entities. Using and possessing an object also does not give full rights to the owner, including privileges and obligations associated with it.

A cultural heritage object on the industry markets for goods and services

The market-based character of cultural heritage object activity means that it provides its mobile and immovable resources for a payment, at the same time providing adequate services. Payment for services is tantamount to establishing commercial relations with recipients, clients of the facility. The most frequently offered paid services can include:

- visiting the whole interior of a building;
- visiting part of a building's interior;
- visiting the area surrounding a building;
- providing mobile equipment (selected exhibits);
- visiting exhibitions, permanent and temporary ones;
- participation in artistic events (event organising);
- hiring rooms for one's own events;
- hiring the whole object or a part of it (lease or short-term rental);



Figure 5. A cultural heritage object as an entitiy of the service market Source: own study.

- catering services;
- comprehensive hotel services;
- training services (talks, workshops, training, conferences);
- film services;
- transport services;
- guide services.

Paid services shape the circle of recipients, i.e. the market for a given facility, thus the basic parameter enabling the measurement of the scope of this market (in this case it is tantamount to the number of individual and institutional clients served). The size of the market – the other market parameter – expresses the total size (value) of services provided.

Each cultural heritage object has two roles on the market, i.e. as a provider (a supplier of material goods and services) as well as a buyer (a recipient of purchased goods and services necessary to run a business – implementations of the statutory functions of the facility). And thus it acquires a variety of goods and services for a payment. In the second of those (the object is a buyer of services) it is mainly about maintenance, construction and renovation, security, banking, insurance, guided tours (external), printing, cleaning and media services (probably the list of these services is much wider).

The dominating, in the market orientation of cultural heritage orientation, role of the service market does not mean that these specific entities do not appear in the roles of sellers or buyers in other industry markets. Historic buildings are important "players" in the cultural tourism market, which results from the essence of their activity. Many of such facilities are active entities on the market of articles and works of art, making complementary purchases that enrich their own resources of exhibits. Owners/managers of cultural heritage objects are also active on other markets, such as labour market, real estate market and broadly understood media market (see Figure 6).



Figure 6. Cultural heritage objects on industry markets Source: own study.

The observation that cultural heritage objects under certain circumstances operate as market entities is fairly general. Making a purchase or selling your own resources can take various institutional forms and different solutions, depending on the detailed characteristics of the market transactions involved.

In general, it can be assumed, for the purposes of further, in-depth classification of market forms, appropriate for cultural heritage objects, that market transactions involving historical objects concern, on the one hand, movable and immovable items, and, on the other hand, from another point of view, such separate types of market transactions, which are "sales" and only "presentation". Thanks to the introduced distinctions, by connecting the two given divisions, four organisational and legal forms and functional markets can be distinguished, i.e.:antiques trade (offering moveable antique objects for sale or buying them from other market entities);

- istoric real estate trade (paid offering or buying historical properties);
- museum exhibitions (displaying paid presentation of antique, moveable items connected with visiting places where they are made available);
- isiting historic interiors, interior museums (paid display/presentation of historic interiors, most often connected with a guide service).

Using the applied matrix (tabular) approach, a more detailed and illustrative division of institutional markets, appropriate for cultural heritage objects, was made (see Figure 7).

A similar method of two-criteria division of markets relevant to historic buildings, both movable and immovable, was used for a more advanced systematisation of forms of market exchange based on slightly different criteria, i.e.:

- the historical value of the market transaction object;
- the form of transaction making the subject available on the market.

In this case, three-stage states of the given criterion were used (for both features), as a result

of which nine different solutions – forms of market transactions and appropriate institutional and functional solutions – were obtained. Therefore, in relation to the first criterion, the "historical value" was distinguished, small, medium and large states, and for the criterion of "form of transaction – a form of paid access" presentation, loan and sale states (see Figure 8).

The 3x3 table identifies nine forms of markets (three criteria, with three states). It is worth commenting on the two extreme cases of markets. In the first case it is the presentation market displaying and paying for watching objects with a relatively small historical value (often private or communal collections, collections shared in local and regional museums or memorial rooms) and on the "sales market", on which the antique goods of great historical value are offered. In the latter case, the purchasing and selling transactions are concluded on special terms. Often there are limits on what individuals or institutions can buy, or what can be taken out of the country. Finally, priority of purchase may be granted to certain specialized public institutions (museums).

Another case of the systematics of specialised markets with various leading functions is analogical to the previous method of the two-criteria classification of historic buildings, the case of division of market functions (carried out against payment, often outsourced) according to the criterion (see Figure 9):

.

		Object mobili Moveable	Immoveable
Sharing	Sale	Antiques trade – shops, galleries, auctions	Historic real estate trade (CHU – Cultural Heritage Objects)
The way of	Presentation	Museum exhibitions, shows, collections	Open antique objects – interior museums

Figure 7. Basic division of the market of antique objects, according to their character, forms of making them available to the clients

Source: own study.

		Small	Medium	Large
ket sharing	Presentation	Private collections, local, regional museums and exhibitions	Regional, museum exhibitions, professional collections and private collections	Professional, open exhibitions by public museums
The form of market	Lease/hire	Market sharing in an unlimited (short- and long-term) offer	Conditional sharing for public institutions of culture and art	Limited, unique, short-term sharing for artistic purposes
E	Sale	Antiquarian trade offer and direct, non-institutional exchange	Trade offer of specialized auction and real estate companies	Limited sales – an exchange within the public sector

Trate and a standard

Figure 8. Extended division of the market of cultural heritage objects (historic buildings)

Source: own study.

- type of cultural heritage object, with a detailed identification of "moveable" and "immoveable" objects:
- technical condition of the facility, with the distinction of "good" and "bad" state.

The result of the combination of these two criteria and the two conditions of occurrence of the respective feature, taken into consideration every time, is another table with dimensions of 2x2 and the appropriate four sets of market functions (market transactions). These are the objects:

- immoveable in good technical condition;
- immoveable in bad technical condition;
- moveable in good technical condition;
- moveable in bad technical condition.

The offered sets of functions – market transactions (usually done against payment or with financial

		Immoveable	Moveable
Accessed March 10, 2018	Good	Enrich Present Share Lease Sell equivalents Sell non-equivalents	Maintain Present Lend/borrow Exchange Sell equivalents
Technical condition	Bad	Protect Present Share Lease Sell equivalents Sell non-equivalents Give	Maintain Present Lend/borrow Exchange Sell Give

Material objects of cultural heritage

Figure 9. Division of market transactions for material cultural heritage objects according to their type and technical condition

Source: own study.

compensation) include ordered lists of activities differentiated to essence but also to their marketfinancial character and potential benefits of their implementation.

Market orientation of cultural heritage objects

Acceptance of the thesis about the market nature of cultural heritage objects, in this case buildings, is synonymous with the recognition of these objects as important, active entities on many industry markets. Therefore, it can be assumed that the market orientation of historic buildings with recognised cultural values is their new strategic option – an option that does not replace the leading conservational, civilisational or educational priority, but is a special supplement to them. This special role of the market option is based on the integration of all strategic goals set by the society and its authorities managing cultural heritage objects.

The market orientation of cultural heritage objects means in fact, in the reality of the market economy, approbation and full acceptance of including to the criteria set and areas assessing the results of activity of these sales measure objects, and in fact the measure of income from the sale of offers/products. Traditionally, the leading and even exclusive socio-civilization goals are developed, completed or corrected by market objectives. The functioning of cultural heritage objects will become an offering function, and external offers of participation, sightseeing or organisation of an event will be specific products prepared consciously and purposely for the needs and desires of potential recipients (interested entities or people).

New, appropriate for the market concept of the functioning of independent historic buildings, such as profitability, efficiency, financial liquidity, investment return time and other economic and financial categories, will be included to the terminology and issues traditionally accompanying conservation and socio-civilization missions. The process of conceptual restructuring of the activity of leading historic objects can be defined as shifting from the protection-conservation orientation and its proper social and civilisation priorities to strictly market orientation, assuming the priority of rationally satisfied needs and desires of clients.

There are no contradictions between these orientations and the conflicts of goals and tasks. Unquestionable changes should be made in the traditional "know-how" of the institutions management managing major historic objects and their new role – the role of cultural managers, managers able to overcome new market challenges and even use them as development opportunities (see Figure 10).

Smooth transition to the market orientation of cultural heritage objects may consist in a modernized, developed and updated continuation. Typical and repeatable permanent exhibitions, although in many cases still attractive to visitors, should be complemented and extended by developing the area and object range of the exhibition (simple development) or adding new utility services various, accompanying or "free" of charge services (independent of the basic exhibition). In this way, the function and the traditional operating area under the name "sightseeing" will change its market character - the passive function will be expanded to active participation in special ventures. These are usually additional services, ordered events, "custom-made" exhibitions, stage productions, shows and other events. The range of benefits (satisfaction) offered to visitors will be significantly increased and made more attractive. It probably will not remain without additional sales effect / income stream.

The vision of new priorities, objectives and tasks will usually encounter resistance, and the main argument in criticising the new orientation of cultural heritage objects will be a well-known phrase about the superiority of protection-conservation and socio-civilisation goals over ad hoc and "base" commercial purposes.

The basic accumption in the market reorientation of cultural heritage objects concerns the necessary



Figure 10. From protection-conservation orientation to market orientation Source: own study.

protection of the object's assets, protection at all costs, protection, which has priority over other strategic goals. This is an element of the mission of the appropriate institution. The market "opening" of objects must take place gradually, and an appropriate process will always require proper adequate preliminary preparation, observation of the results and current monitoring of the effects.

"Opening" of historic buildings as independent market entities, that is their gradual commercialization through paid offering and providing free resources, can be brought down to several main stages, which can be listed consecutively:

- object identification;
- records stocktaking of resources and possibilities;
- documentation;

- maintenance security preservation;
- institutionalisation;
- an account of the market opportunities and potential;
- market research;
- offering;
- commercialisation (price, profits, losses);
- communication promotion of offers and attractions;
- integration of the functions- balancing goals and tasks.

The suggested structure of the marketisation process of the cultural heritage institutions activities, envisages a comprehensive and diverse preliminary stage. It includes, respectively, preliminary, identification and registration activities of the facility, to proceed to formal and legal activities, making the facility independent as a separate institution.

Preparation of the market offer should be preceded by market research (external research) and analysis of one's own resources and capabilities (internal research). The proposed products (tangible, movable goods, premises, services, events) and the conditions of making such available (sales, benefits) will be attractive if they are based on the financial account of the possibilities of potential clients. The condition for success is, in the end, proper, multi-directional and adequate promotion of offers – proper market communication.

Closing remarks

Perceiving and treating cultural heritage objects as entities of contemporary, developed market of goods and services requires fulfilling many general and individual conditions, conditions referring to a specific unit. Among the set of general conditions, the need to spread in the cultural environment - in the environment of guardians and conservators of historical objects, in the group of owners and operators of public and private heritage objects, - the belief that the units managed by them are largely subject to the laws of the market should be mentioned and particularly emphasised. Therefore, they are not "islands on the sea" of market relations, they are not isolated areas functioning outside the sphere of market exchange. It means that they participate in the process of buying and selling goods and services on general terms, the rules which have to be followed by all private, public, large, medium and small market entities as well as by the entities of the material and immaterial sphere of economy.

The special character of functions performed by cultural heritage objects – civilisation functions – does not exempt owners and managers from the "market concept" of their functioning, from the concept of rational management of possessed, unique resources, from the concept of continuous search in the environment closer and further to generating new sources, better and better opportunities and higher income connected with them. There is no justification for the view, unfortunately occurring often in the environments of people of culture and art, about the uniqueness of historic buildings, about their social mission and objectives that are not allowed to be included in the market framework. Following such treatment of cultural heritage objects, in all their historical, scientific, artistic and emotional diversity, there is the need, and even the necessity, of their separation and unique placement in the market economy system.

The non-negotiable priority of the "higher" social functions of monuments with special qualities and significance for national or group identity, meaning in practice, the orientation to finance their statutory activities from public funds, national, departmental and regional budgets, does not mean automatic exemption of culture managers from the necessity to think in the categories of the modern market - categories of costs, profits, profitability, sales and benefits. The search for new markets, their selective valuation, creating new, more suited to the reported needs service offers, using flexible, variable price formulas are just some of the new ways of thinking, market orientation, the concept of marketing management of cultural heritage objects.

The mental and operational-functional change of approach to the social role of monuments does not mean that such contradictions as protect or share, limit or earn, continue or change and develop, will emerge. The new approach to the functions of cultural heritage objects in a society dominated by market relations results from perceiving these objects as specific, unique and one of a kind resources of social values subject to market laws regulating their use, sharing and presentation. It can be imagined that a "thin, red line" divides a non-commercial and commercial orientation in the activities of cultural heritage objects, a contractual line of conditional and monitored division of their spheres and forms of operational activity, a line of delimitation of interests, concepts and directions of functioning. The appropriate division boundary, in the case of each individual facility, should be designated by its unique cultural features and values and, on the other hand, by external conditions and the circumstances of the implementation of the adopted strategies of operation and development.

The need for the mental reorientation of employee teams, groups and individuals emphasised above is undoubtedly not an easy matter, given their long-stannding experience, entrenched practices, views and principles of managing cultural heritage objects. Therefore, it is necessary to consider targeted, broad programmes and informationaleducational projects, presentations and analyses based on domestic and international case studies.

References

- Barański, R. (2016). Finansowanie działalności kulturalnej (Financing cultural activities). Warsaw: C.H. Beck.
- Chhabra, D. (2016). Sustainable marketing of cultural and heritage tourism. New York: Routledge, London.
- Dominguez, V.R. (1986). The Marketing of Heritage. Journal of the American Ethnological Society, 13(3), 546–555.
- Dragičevič-Šečič, & M., Stojkovič, B. (2010). *Kultura: zarządzanie, animacja, marketing* (Culture: management, animation, marketing). Warsaw.
- French, Y., & Runyard, S. (2011). Marketing and Public Relations for Museums, Galleries, Cultural and Heritage Attractions. London – New York: Routledge.
- Fullerton, L., & McGettigon, K., Stephens, S. (2010). Integrating management and marketing strategies at heritage sites. *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 224(4).
- Herbert, D.T., Prentice, R.T., & Thomas, C. J. (1989), Heritage Sites: Strategies for Marketing and Development. Aldershot, Hants: Avebury.
- Murzyn, M.A., & Purchla, J. (Eds.). (2007). *Dziedzictwo kulturowe w XXI w. Szanse i wyzwania* (Cultural heritage in XXI century, Chances and challenges). Cracow: MCK.
- Ilczuk, D. (2012). *Ekonomika kultury* (The economics of culture). Warsaw: Scientific Publishing House PWN.

- Jung B. (Ed.) (2011). *Ekonomika kultury. Od teorii do praktyki* (The economics of culture. From theory to practice, group preparation). Warsaw: NCK Adam Mickiewicz Institute.
- Karmowska, J. (2002). Cultural heritage as an element of marketing strategy in European historic cities. *Cultural Heritage Research*.
- Knechta, Z., & Styś, A. (Eds.). (1990). *Marketing w działalności instytucji i jednostek upowszechniania kultury* (Marketing in the activitues of institutions and units of spreading culture). Warsaw.
- Kopeć, K.D. (2014). *Finansowanie kultury w ramach spolecznej odpowiedzialności biznesu* (Financing Culture as Part of Social Responsibility of Business). Cracow: Libron.
- Kotler, Ph. (1972). A generic concept of marketing. Journal of Marketing, 36(46–54), 46–54.
- Kotler, Ph. (2013). *Strategic Marketing for Non-profit Organisations*. New York: Pearsons Education Limited.
- Kotler, N. G., Kotler, Ph., & Kotler, W.I. (2008). Museum Marketing and Strategy. Desining, Missions, Building Audiences, Generating Revenue and Resources, Ed. 2. New York: Jossey Bass.
- Kotler, Ph., & Levy, S. (1969). Broadening the concept of marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 33(1), 10–15.
- Kowalczyk, W. (1995). Marketing w muzeum (Marketing in a museum). *Muzealnictwo* (Museology), 37, 10–20.
- Łodzian-Grabowski, J., Wiktor, & J.W. (Eds.). (2014). Koncepcje zarządzania i marketingu w sferze kultury – projektowanie, implementacja i kontekst skuteczności działań (Management and marketing concepts in the sphere of culture – designing, implementation and context of activities` effectiveness). Warsaw: CeDeWu.
- Mazurek-Łopacińska, K. (1997). *Kultura w gospodarce rynkowej – problemy adaptacji marketingu* (Culture in the market economy – problems of marketing adaptation). Warsaw – Wrocław: Academy of Economy in Wrocław.
- Matt, G. (2006). *Muzeum jako przedsiębiorstwo. Łatwo i przystępnie o zarządzaniu instytucją kultury* (A museum as an enterprise. Easy and accesible about managing the institution of culture). Warsaw: Alethei Foundation.
- Mc Camley, C., & Glimore, A. (2015). Strategic marketing planning for heritage tourism planning. An insight into community participation in Nothern Ireland. 44 EMAC Annual Conference, Leuven, (unpublished).

- McLean, F. (1997). *Marketing the museum*. London New York: Routledge.
- Misiura, S. (2006). *Heritage marketing*. Oxford: Elsevier Ltd.
- Montemaggi, M., & Severino, F. (2007). *Heritage* Marketing – La storia Dell'Impresa Italiana come vantaggio competitive. Milano: Franco Angeli.
- Murzyn-Kupisz, M. (2010). Podmioty na rynku dziedzictwa kulturowego (Subjects on the market of cultural heritage). *Studia Regionalne i Lokalne* (*Regional and Local Studies*), *3*.
- Murzyn-Kupisz, M. (2012). Dziedzictwo kulturowe a rozwój lokalny (Cultural heritage and local development). Series: Monographies, 221, UEK, Cracow.
- Murzyn-Kupisz, M. (2016). *Instytucje muzealne z perspektywy ekonomii kultury* (Institutions of museums in perspectives of cultural economic). Universitas, Cracow.
- Napolitano, M.R., & De Nisco, A. (2017). Cultural heritage: the missing "link" in the place marketing literature "chain". *Place Branding and Public Diplomacy*, *13*(2), 101–106.
- Niemczyk, A. (2007). Marketing w sferze kultury wybrane problemy (Marketing in the sphere of culture – selected problems). Cracow: Academy of Economy in Cracow.
- Parowicz, I. (2019). Cultural Heritage Marketing. A Relationship Marketing Approach to Conservation Services. London: Palgreve Pivot.
- Parsons, E. (2008). *Non-profit Marketing*. New York: Sage.
- Sargeant, A. (2004). *Marketing w organizacjach nonprofit* (Marketing in non-profit organiztions). Cracow: Economic Outbuilding.

- Simm, C. (2006). Besucherorientiertes Museumsmarketing – Hintergründe und Finanzierung. Saarbrücken: VDM Verlag Dr. Müller.
- Smoleń, T. (2013). Marketing w tworzeniu wartości dla klienta na rynku dóbr kultury – na przykładzie oferty muzeum (Marketing in creating values for the client on the market of cultural goods – on the example of the museum's offer). *Handel Wewnętrzny* (Internal Trade), *3*, 263–269.
- Sobocińska, M. (2015). Uwarunkowania i perspektywy rozwoju orientacji rynkowej w podmiotach sfery kultury (Conditions and perspectives of the market orientation development, in the subjects of the culture sphere). Series: Monographies and Elaborations, 259. Wrocław: University of Economy in Wrocław.
- Szmygin, B. (Ed). (2007). Obiekty zabytkowe pojęcie, zakres i zasady działania (Historic objects the concept, scope and principles of activities).
 In: Wybrane zagadnienia ochrony i konserwacji zabytków architektury (Selected issues of protection and conservation of architectural monuments). Lublin: Lublin University of Technology.
- Thornburn, A. (1986). Marketing cultural heritage. Does it work within Europe? *Travel & Tourism Analyst*, *12*, 39–48.
- Throsby, D. (2010). *Ekonomia i kultura* (Economic and culture). Warsaw: NCK.
- Towse, R. (2011). *Ekonomia kultury. Kompendium* (Economics of culture. Compendium). Warsaw: NCK.
- Wróblewski, Ł. (2012). Strategie marketingowe w instytucjach kultury (Marketing strategies in cultural institutions). Warsaw: PWE.

Andrzej Słaboń

Between solidarity and the conflict of generations. Intergenerational relations in biographical narratives¹

Abstract

Objectives: The purpose of this text is to identify the main types of intergenerational relationships and methods of integration different generations applied in everyday life. Recognition of these practices should be used in inclusion policy.

Research Design & Methods: This article uses qualitative methods of sociology, in particular biographical narratives (story of life) to explore types of intergenerational relationships.

Findings: This paper finds that relational structures are an important part of every biographical narrative. Research has identified five types of intergenerational relationships.

Implications / Recommendations: This article stresses the importance of biographical work and the restrictions on the creation of multigenerational groups as a fairly common way of integrating different generations.

Contribution / Value Added: The approach presented in this article opens new possibilities for a policy of inclusion and ways of counteracting intergenerational conflicts.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: Generation - biographical method - biographical work - relational structures

JEL classification: J 180

Introduction

The nature of relations between different generations has a significant impact on numerous processes occurring within contemporary societies. On the one hand generation succession ensures the continuity of values and the transmission of developed principles and manners of activity in society. On the other hand, it becomes a factor in changes and transformations taking place in collective life in the long-term perspective. These two dimensions – continuity and change – are closely intertwined and they mutually condition each other. Relations between individual generations may take on various forms, which is why it is important to recognise their current state, as well as to determine the factors shaping changes in this sphere.

The generation concept in the context of biographical research

The generation concept usually covers a few slightly different meanings (Scott, 2006; Fatyga, 2005). In biographical narratives this concept most

¹ The publication was financed by a subsidy granted to the Cracow University of Economics.

Andrzej Słaboń, Cracow University of Economics, ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; andrzej.slabon@uek.krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0001-7607-7096.

often relates to the relationship of kinship in a broad family (generations of parents, grandparents, grandchildren), and also refers to the differences in historical and identity experiences between "older" and "younger" people. Sometimes one can distinguish two main ways of expressing this concept, referring to "generations in the family" and "generations in society" (Kholi & Szydlik, 2000. pp. 7–18). The generation concept is inevitably associated with differences in the experience of people from different generations. These differences in experience are, more or less, clearly reflected in biographical narratives and become an important research issue.

Referring to Karl Mannheim's theory on the sociology of knowledge (1964; 1980), biographical research distinguishes between "communicative knowledge" and "conjunctive knowledge." Communicative knowledge is knowledge that can be passed on by the narrator, while conjunctive knowledge is a common knowledge formed within a group and treated by its participants as something "obvious", and thus is usually not clearly realised by members of a given community. Accessing conjunctive knowledge is possible by means of maintaining longer contacts with the relevant members, reconstruction of statements in their context, analysis of behaviour and observation. Generation is here referred to as the "conjunctive space of experience". This means that shared life and historical experiences develop a certain type of "tacit knowledge" (Polanyi, 1966) or knowledge of *implicite* type.² The conjunctive space of experience is not only a type of knowledge, but also a kind of sensitivity, behavioural patterns in different situations, a sense of familiarity with what are known as the realities of life and the ability to predict the long-term consequences of actions taken. The conjunctive space of experience also consists of understanding how the surrounding reality works in its various aspects. This "under-

² Karl Mannheim (1980) also uses the term "atheoretical knowledge". Pierre Bourdieu (2000) calls this type of knowledge "practical knowledge". standing of the world" (logic of reality) is, as one can assume, a factor differentiating generations. On the one hand, the time difference related to the length of life leads to differences in experience, and this can translate into a different level of knowledge of the realities of life. On the other hand, the experiences of previous generations (especially negative ones) can become a deterrent to taking actions that seem doomed to failure. The lack of such inhibitions sometimes turns out to be a source of the success of "impossible" ventures. The difference in life experience and a certain type of idealism is explained by the fact that most movements of protest and renewal involve mainly young people.

Given the diversity of intergenerational experience, one may formulate a thesis according to which different conjunctive spaces of experience are the main source of many perturbations in relations between particular generations. A conflict between generations is more likely to occur when there are different conjunctive spaces of experience, and the individual generations live somewhat in different "worlds". In such conditions, problems arise with regard to communication and mutual understanding. The conflict between generations takes a different form within the family, and a different one at the level of "generations in society". In the latter case the differences become part of a specific ideology, both sides create a negative image of the opposite generation, referring to a different axiology and rules of conduct. Each generation creates its own identity. Younger generations usually do so in opposition to the older generations. Within the family the differences relating to the conjunctive space of experience can lead to a lack of mutual understanding and, in extreme cases, to the breaking off of contact. However, it should be borne in mind that intergenerational relations can take various forms. Conflict is just one of the possible situations. It can be assumed that consent and agreement are much more common.

Determination of the type of relationship occurring between particular generations must become the subject of empirical research. The research questions that emerge in this context relate to, inter alia, the identification of conditions conducive to conflict or harmony between individual generations, the type of interaction and social practices within families strengthening the intergenerational bonds, and the role of peer groups in the creation of a positive or negative image of individual generations.

Intergenerational relationships can be studied in a variety of ways. This article uses a biographical method that falls within the scope of qualitative research. In this type of research, one seeks to acquire knowledge referring to the subjective world of meanings and feelings of the examined persons. All generalisations are formulated in close connection with empirical data. The collected empirical material covers 65 biographical narratives (stories about life) for people aged 20 to 90 from southern Poland.³ The respondents were given freedom of expression, in terms of content, form and degree of detail. This made it possible to minimize the influence of the researcher on the structure and manner of the narrative.

In biographical narratives one can find a lot of data on the nature of intergenerational relationships in families and the working environment, as well as on the methods of their development. Biographical analysis enables one to identify practices conducive to the building of positive or negative relations between individual generations in everyday life. In each narrative one can find information about the nature of intergenerational relationships in the family or in other environments. What's more, many families have developed specific ways of integrating different generations. Recognition of these methods of integration and avoidance of conflict seems to be important for social policy, because many ways of operation within microstructures can be transferred into the broader levels of social life. In such a short article it is impossible to present the entire wealth of empirical material. Therefore, the author will only try to identify the main types of intergenerational relationships in families.

Relational structures

Before the presentation of some findings, it is worth making one more theoretical remark. Fritz Schütze (1981), when analysing biographical materials, identified four biographical process structures: biographical action schemes, institutional schedules for organising biographies, trajectories and biographical metamorphoses. He emphasised the fact that the catalogue of process structures was not closed and assumed the possibility of separating, in empirical data, other such structures. I think that one can distinguish an additional type of process structures, namely relational structures. Each biographical narrative contains information relating to relationships in the family and relationships within different groups and environments in which the individual lives. These relations are very often dynamic and changeable, and therefore should be recognized as processes. Research on relational structures pertains to the process of their development, maintenance, reproduction and transformation. Interpersonal and intergroup relationships are a very important aspect of social life and should not be overlooked in the analysis of biographical material. This type of process structures constitutes an immanent element of every autobiographical relationship. The nature of social relations determines to a great extent the biographical fate of individuals, the decisions made by them and their satisfaction with life (or lack thereof). Relational structures must not be overlooked, especially in terms of the research on intergenerational relations, because relations and their dynamics become the centre of attention in this context.

Referring to the analysis of the obtained empirical material, one can distinguish the following

³ The interviewed persons were 40 women and 25 men. The age structure of those interviewed was as follows: under 30 years old, 13 persons; aged 30–50, 21 persons; aged 51–70, 18 persons; and ages 71 and more, 13 persons. Biographical narratives were collected between 2014 and 2017 by third year sociology students from the Cracow University of Economics.

main types of intergenerational relationships in families: (i) harmonious relations, based on co-operation; (ii) relationships with episodes of conflict or rebellion; (iii) permanently conflictual relationships; (iv) broken relationships (no contacts); and (v) variable relationships. These general types of relationships require further explanation, because in the practice of family life they can take on different forms. However, it is worth noting that the nature of intergenerational relations in the family does not follow the pattern of a simple continuum, the poles of which are determined by solidarity and conflict. Conflict can take different degrees of intensity, from individual incidents to constant struggle and severance of contacts. An important state of intergenerational relationships in the family is the rupturing of contacts or their only occasional nature. Severance of contact does not have to be a consequence of conflicts. It also happens as a result of spatial remoteness, pre-occupation with professional work, or weakening of contacts despite a strong emotional bond. The third pole, which determines the nature of intergenerational relations, is therefore the pole of alienation. Under this concept there are no family contacts at all, or these contacts are very rare (occasional) only, but sometimes long-awaited. Summing up, it can be assumed that intergenerational relations in the family run in a field the poles of which are solidarity, conflict and alienation. In a given case, mutual relations in the family can be characterised by showing the distance from the particular vertices of the triangle. In one case, they can be "pure" types located near one of the vertices, in other cases the relationships can be located on one side of the triangle or in the middle, evenly spaced from its vertices, which means that all types of relationships occur in similar proportions. It is worth noting that this model of the description of relationships can also show changes in time and their dynamics.

Analysing the collected empirical material, one can notice characteristic types of narratives that also show relational structures. It is somewhat obvious that the narratives of young people concentrate on family and peer relationships, as well as on educational problems and first loves. Sometimes, however, in certain stories of life some threads do not appear at all, while attention is focused almost entirely on relations with the parents and siblings, or, as in other cases, on the relationships with peers. This shows, sometimes inadvertently, how the dominant issues and problems are perceived in the long term. Many biographical stories show a strong influence of peer groups on making important decisions regarding further education or choosing a profession. These decisions are not always evaluated as appropriate. A substantial part of them are perceived in hindsight as life errors. As one of the respondents stated: "I wish some had advised me on that". In turn, in some of the narratives of the elderly, almost the entire period of childhood is missing. These narratives begin after a short introduction from the moment of marriage and the establishing of their own family. The basic content of these relations is the description of the struggle to provide for the family and of the issues concerning the upbringing of children and ensuring them good future.

The relations of intergenerational solidarity in families take various forms. The most typical element is the daily care for individual family members - caring for children, for ill or disabled family members. A frequent form of mutual help in the family is the support given to adult children in raising grandchildren and in caring for the youngest generation. Solidarity between generations also takes on an economic dimension; many narratives speak about the financial support provided by the older generation. Often, the independence of young couples is only possible thanks to the financial help of their parents, this applies in particular to such investments as buying an apartment or building one's own house. Some of the accounts show the help of family members in getting out of alcohol addiction or overcoming some serious life crisis (illness and rehabilitation, psychological crisis, deviant behaviour). Mutual support in this type of emergency situation covers both the help given

by the parents to their children, and vice versa, as sometimes the adult children help their parents give up a bad habit. Intergenerational solidarity in the family usually consists of co-operation and mutual complementation of the possessed abilities, resources and skills. In one of the families, the daughter was helping her father make his life's dreams of traveling and visiting other countries come true. Her assistance consisted of planning the trip for him and minimizing its costs, thanks to various offers available on the Internet.

Conflict relations in families in the intergenerational dimension are usually a youthful rebellion against parents' will, quarrels about neglecting responsibilities, especially in matters related to education, mixing with "bad company", constant "partying", alcohol and (rarely) drug use. This results in the occurrence of various arguments and grievances in families, as the parents and the whole family intend to change the undesirable behaviour of an individual. In most biographies the thread of opposition to the applicable rules of behaviour imposed by the family and school is a short-lived episode. In a few other cases, this condition persisted for many years and the pressure of the family turned out to be ineffective. As a result, this situation led those people to addiction to alcohol (or other drugs), conflict with the law, and even homelessness. In the case of one of the respondents, the real threat of imprisonment brought about a change in his life.

Another type of conflict (or quasi-conflict) situation is connected with the lack of acceptance by the parents of the choice of the way of living made by young people. A very good example of this may be a father's long-term disapproval of his daughter's decision to enter a convent. In other cases, devoting time to the pursuit of youthful passions was treated by the parents as something wrong, which in the context of the later developments of these individuals was not always right. Another type of conflict resulted from feelings of unfair treatment by parents. In the case of rural families, this concerned unequal distribution of duties in running farms. The difficulty in resolving this type of situation became the reason for leaving home and migrating to the city. Some family conflicts occur because of an unfair distribution of inheritance. Decisions of deceased parents may lead to a state of permanent hostility between siblings.

Conflict relations may also result from abuse of family solidarity. An illustration of this type of situation is the taking of a bank loan for running a business. When the planned project was unsuccessful, the loan had to be repaid by the mother of an unfortunate businessman. This drama is all the greater if the problems with the functioning of the company arose as a result of misunderstandings between the partners, leading to alcohol addiction.

Broken intergenerational relationships may occur as a consequence of conflicts in the family or as a result of spatial separation. In the latter case, there is usually a strong emotional bond, but the contacts are sporadic. Broken contacts cause a sense of loneliness, what is known as empty nest syndrome often appears, and the contacts are accompanied by a sense of lack of understanding from close relatives. Rare contacts between family members are conducive to concealing certain problems and difficulties for the loved ones. Such people do not want to cause others worries and additional problems, as their relatives are not able to remedy them in any way. An extreme case of hiding life problems from their families is the case of a homeless person who hid this fact from his own daughter. Each generation has its own secrets, which it reluctantly reveals to others. This applies to both youthful "secrets" hidden from adults, and to the hiding of troublesome facts from younger members of the family. Another problem that is rarely included in the narratives are the shameful mysteries from the past, the disclosure of which can destroy the positive image of a person in the eyes of the relatives.

It should be noted that intergenerational relations in families can fluctuate. In different periods, a different type of relationship often dominates. The original conflict and the sense of lack of understanding between a son and a father gradually turns into a more mature and harmonious relationship. In other cases, relationships with parents who had emigrated to the USA and from there provided financial assistance to the family were significantly worsened after the parents returned to the country permanently.

Different types of intergenerational relationships within a family can be distinguished taking into account two basic dimensions: the frequency of mutual contacts (low or high) and the strength of emotional bonds (also low or high). By crossing these two dimensions, one can get a spectrum of possible types of relationships. The low level of emotional ties and rare contacts reveal "broken relationships", poor relationships and frequent contacts often lead to "quarrels", a strong bond and rare contacts are a "waiting" situation, a strong bond and frequent contacts are "integration". The average values of the strength of the ties and the frequency of contacts determine the spectrum of possible mixed types, located between the "pure" ones.

The dominant type of relationship in the family may change, not only as a result of slow evolution, but also as a result of the occurrence of some unexpected events dramatically changing the situation of people. Situations of this type are referred to as trajectories (Strauss, 1987; Strauss & Glazer, 1970; Schütze, 2012). As a result of their occurrence, the affected individuals lose control over the course of their life. As regards intergenerational relations, one can speak of yet another type of trajectory. It concerns relatively slow changes in the relations of authority between adult children and parents within the family. For a large part of their lives, young people try to free themselves from parental authority. This situation changes when they notice that their parents (or one of them) require constant assistance. The dominant positions are reversed in such cases. Both sides are forced to redefine their role and establish mutual relations on a new level. Sometimes the existing relationships are reversed, in the sense that if formerly the parents directed the behaviour of their own children, now adult children decide

to a large extent about the fate of their parents and enforce behaviours they deem necessary. The course of this process is usually associated with suffering for both parties.

Biographical work

Those who tell stories of their own life can often recognise their own identity as well as their generational identity. These identities are partly discovered and partly constructed. By the very fact of telling about their fate and events from the past, the individuals gain the opportunity to see how they function in different situations of everyday life and different types of interpersonal relationships. Story telling can lead to identity changes. Peter Berger (1963) speaks in this context about the processes of alternation of biography-the individual modifies the meaning of certain events from the past by adapting them to a later state of affairs. Some events are considered not important, while others are viewed as significant. Some events from the past acquire additional significance in the light of the later fate of the individual. It is highly probable that these events would be forgotten if the history of the individual's life were different. Thanks to this type of processes, one can create a sense of one's own existence. In this regard, biographical narratives can serve as a helping interview (Benjamin, 1969). Telling the stories of life allows one to look at one's own fate from a certain distance, give coherence to one's own life story, strike a balance of achievements and introduce possible changes to the way one functions, to relationships with others, etc. Similarly to the concept of social work, in this case one can distinguish biographical work. Biographical work can be seen as a form of help (and self-help) for people, allowing them to better understand the meaning of their own existence and to prepare them for making important changes in their lives. Biographical work allows one to change the way one defines one's current situation in the context of one's own past and life experience (Fischer, 2000). Bearing in mind the indicated possibilities,

biographical work is a potentially useful instrument for the development of the policy of inclusion at the level of the family and small groups.

Telling the history of one's own life to people from the younger generation has many important functions. On the one hand, it is an element of the process of transmission of the acquired life experiences, showing behaviours of different people in specific existential and historical situations, and giving the situational context of the decisions made. It seems particularly important to pass on to younger generations the "tacit knowledge" contained in the context of the narrative itself. On the other hand, telling a story of life allows the narrator himself/herself to organise the outlook on his/her fate and give it greater coherence. It is understandable that one may often encounter deformities, purposeful or unconscious distortions of facts, attempts to mythologise oneself or conceal "uncomfortable" and even embarrassing events from one's own past. However, this does not diminish the significance of this type of story, because it inadvertently documents a certain state of mind and a way of expressing the world. The vision of reality presented in the narrative will sooner or later clash with different perspectives, adopting a different point of view and ways of valorisation. These processes are also shaped to a large extent by great re-evaluations regarding changes in the methods of assessing historical processes.

Shaping intergenerational relationships

Influencing the shape of intergenerational relations becomes an important element of social policy. This applies particularly to relationships within the family. Through various types of benefits and social transfers directed to families, the state tries to positively influence not only their living situation but also, indirectly, the nature of social relations occurring in them. Particular forms of social policy depend mainly on what happens in families and what problems occur there. However, one should bear in mind the fact that families solve

many problems by themselves, without the help of the state and other institutions. Some of these modes of action developed within families are worth recognising and utilising on a wider social scale. In terms of intergenerational relations, it is important to recognise the ways of the exertion of positive influence on these relations, as well as to examine the opposite situations. In this way, one may prepare new social policy instruments using methods of action developed within families and other small groups. In this case, the task of social policy is to create an institutional framework helpful in the resolution of problems arising in families. Positive experiences of some families can be used to overcome the problems of other families. Of course, this cannot be done mechanically, but the utilised practices form the basis of knowledge based on empirical data.

In many social policy programs, one assumes the fact that the best way to integrate generations is to create age-diverse groups. This type of approach is evident not only in numerous local initiatives, but also in business organisations, where one creates employee groups that connect young people and employees with extensive professional experience. However, the question of a harmonious operation of such groups arises. Practice shows that sometimes such groups with a mixed composition work harmoniously and produce good results, but sometimes internal divisions ("young" and "old") and conflicts occur. Within mixed-age teams, one can see the emergence of subdivisions into age (peer) groups. The facts indicate that mere aggregation of people from different generations may not always bring the desired effects and does not have to lead to the integration of different generations. This type of recipe for an effective inclusion policy seems too simplistic.

Mixed generational groups may experience quite complex processes, which are contingent and which do not always lead to desired results. Intergenerational contacts can occur at different levels of intensity. The least intense form is a situation when two generational groups function in short-term (episodic) and official relationships. This type of group contact is characterised by the fact that each group stays in its own circle and separate generations actually function next to each other. This contact consists of being together for a short time, but without deeper integration and mutual understanding. An example of such contacts are organised meetings of young people with seniors or veterans, during which they listen to the memories of the elderly, and sometimes, in return the young people give some artistic performances. Such meetings have an important value, bring closer the events from the distant past in the context of individual experiences, enable textbook knowledge to be supplemented, and create the chance for a more permanent and deeper relationship, but their essential feature is an occasional and short-term contact.

On the opposite pole of a specific continuum of intergenerational relations is the situation of permanent and continuous living together of people from different generations. This type of situation occurs in multi-generational families as well as in some employee groups. The fact of being together in everyday life builds a different type of relationship, it allows one to get to know the personality of other persons, their advantages and disadvantages, the way they function in happy times and in difficult moments⁴. Such contacts also allow one to pass on "tacit knowledge". Many variables affect the shape of these relations, which may be of a very close and intimate nature or take on a conflict character. On the one hand, personality factors, mutual respect, personal culture, and financial conditions play an important role in this respect. An important factor is also the extent to which the mutual relations (e.g. the need for constant care) prevent one from fulfilling one's

own life plans, or requires a huge devotion to the other person and whether someone is willing to incur such kinds of sacrifices.

Interpersonal relations in the generational dimension usually take two forms: these are either contacts within a generation or intergenerational contacts. These two types of relationships are equally needed and intertwine in everyday life. Important processes occur in each type of the contacts. Relationships between members of the same generation group (peer group) have a slightly different character than those taking place in multigenerational groups. Peer groups can develop separate norms and rules of behaviour, which differ from those applied to relations with members of the older generation, as well as from the rules binding in various "official" situations. One of the most important norms regulating relations in peer groups is the principle of solidarity. It manifests itself in, inter alia, the need to keep certain group secrets and loyalty to other members. Here, too, there are behaviours that in other situations would be treated as "inappropriate" or even reprehensible. To some extent, one can observe here a division into the quasi-private sphere and public sphere. The first sphere is dominated by contacts of a friendly and more equal nature, the second one includes an element of hierarchy and the relationships are asymmetrical, which may create a certain distance and greater concern for the desired image (therefore certain behaviours and opinions are not disclosed).

The nature of relationships within the same generational groups facilitates the communication process and promotes mutual exchange of information. As a result, it often leads to mutual learning of certain behaviours within peer groups, as well as acquisition of new skills and overcoming of barriers in the access to the desired goods and resources. This kind of generation tutoring takes place on an informal level and it solves a number of life problems of particular persons. The indicated communication processes also take place in the intergenerational dimension and are subject to institutionalisation (this takes place

⁴ It is worth noting that relationships based on a permanent and common living together relate not only to intergenerational contacts, but may also apply to other groups, especially those affected by some dysfunctions. A model example of a conscious choice of a way of life, consisting in sharing life with people excluded from society is the example of Saint Albert Chmielowski and his dedication to the homeless.

at school and in the family and organisations). Sometimes, however, the generational difference may generate a distance, because it is related to the relations of authority and subordination, which is a barrier to the free exchange of information. People in a lower position in the hierarchy do not often have the courage to ask for additional explanations, because they may be afraid that by asking questions they will be considered uneducated or they will disgrace themselves to a certain extent. Similar concerns may arise in the opposite case: older people may be concerned about asking the younger people for explanations, because this can be seen as a reversal of the normal hierarchy. For these reasons, the exchange of knowledge at an equivalent level is burdened with a smaller risk of the loss of authority.

In groups of staff from different generations, sometimes one has to deal with problems concerning the relationship of authority, especially when a person from the younger generation becomes the superior of a person from the older generation. Older people with longer professional experience are special keepers of institutional memory: they were witnesses to how the organisation functioned in the past and how it evolved, witnessed the beginnings of the careers of people who currently occupy important positions, and remember important events in the life of the organisation; they are often the creators of organisational legends and anecdotes, also know various organisational secrets and unsaid matters. This type of knowledge passed on to younger people can fulfil positive functions in the process of the creation of the organisational identity; on the other hand, it shows alternative ways of functioning of the organisation, and can also strengthen undesirable patterns of behaviour. Thus, one can see that intergenerational contacts can play a dual role, becoming an instrument of the continuity of social life, inter alia, thanks to the transfer of knowledge unavailable in official channels.

Conclusions

Intergenerational relations have a significant impact on the course of many social processes and can be analysed from different theoretical angles. The position adopted in this paper falls within the scope of research under qualitative sociology. Referring to the biographical method, this paper attempts to identify the main types of intergenerational relationships. The relational structures were distinguished as another type of biographical process structures. Relational structures are an important part of every biographical narrative. Based on the analysis of the biographical narratives (story of life), five types of intergenerational relationships have been identified: (i) harmonious relations, focused on co-operation; (ii) relations with conflict episodes; (iii) permanently conflictual relationships; (iv) broken relations; and (v) variable relationships. One assumes the fact that on the basis of the analysis of intergenerational relations in families it is possible to recognise the methods of integration of generations applied in everyday life, which should be utilised on a wider scale in the inclusion policy. In this context, the author stresses the importance of biographical work and the restrictions on the creation of multigenerational groups as a fairly common way of integrating different generations.

Finally, as part of the conclusions, it is worth presenting several proposals for a policy oriented towards building positive relations between different generations. The main objective of the inclusion policy is to create a better understanding between generations in the family and in society. The inclusion policy should be focused on eliminating potential conflicts in the family (especially between the "young" and the "older"), improving mutual understanding and counteracting social alienation. Creation of multi-generational groups favours the transmission of tacit experiences and knowledge at an informal level. The older generations should feel obliged to pass on to the younger generations knowledge and experiences about living conditions and their personal experiences in earlier times.

The creation of multi-generational groups cannot be a universal recipe for an effective inclusion policy. The optimal condition is rather a balanced participation in both peer and multi-generational groups. Many different ways of effective cooperation and intergenerational integration that can be used to conduct social policy on a larger scale have been developed within families and small social groups. Biographical work can be a useful instrument for the development of the inclusion policy. Finally, last but not least, it is necessary to eliminate all forms of ageism from public discourse and everyday life.

References

- Benjamin, A. (1969). *The Helping Interview*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Berger, P. L. (1963). *Invitation to Sociology. A Humanistic Perspective*. New York: Anchor Books.
- Bourdieu, P. (2000). *Esquisse d'une théorie de la pratique précédé de Trois études d'ethnologie Kabyle.* Paris: Editions du Seuil.
- Fatyga, B. (2005). Pokolenie. In: *Encyklopedia Socjologii. Suplement.* Warszawa: Oficyna Naukowa.
- Fischer, W. (2000). Biographical work and biographical structuring in present-day societies. In:P. Chamberlayne, J. Bornat, T. Wengraf (Eds.). *The Turn to Biographical Methods in Social Science.*

Comparative Issues and Examples. London – New York: Routledge.

- Kholi, M., & Szydlik, M. (2000). Vorleitung. In: Kholi, M., Szydlik, M. (Hrsg.). Generationen in Familie und Gesellschaft. Opladen: Springer.
- Mannheim, K. (1964). Wissenssoziologie. Auswahl aus dem Werk. Neuwied Berlin: Luchterhand.
- Mannheim, K. (1980). *Strukturen des Denkens*. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp Verlag AG.
- Polanyi, M. (1966). *The Tacit Dimension*. New York: Anchor Books.
- Schütze, F. (1981). Prozesstrukturen des Lebensablaufs. In: J. Matthes, M. Pfeinfenberger, M. Stosberg (Hrsg.). *Biographie in handlungswissenschaftlicher Perspektive*. Nürnberg: Verlag der Nürnberger Forschungsvereinigung.
- Schütze, F. (2012). Trajektorie cierpienia jako przedmiot badań socjologii interpretatywnej. In: K. Kaźmierska (Ed.). Metoda biograficzna w socjologii. Antologia tekstów. Kraków: NOMOS.
- Scott, J. (2006). Generation(s). In: B.S. Turner (Ed.). The Cambridge Dictionary of Sociology. Cambridge – New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Strauss, A.L. (1987). Illness trajectories. In: Z. Bokszański, M. Czyżewski (Eds.). Approaches to the Study of Face-to-Face Interaction. Łódź: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Łódzkiego.
- Strauss, A., & Glazer, B. (1970). Anguish: The Case Study of a Dying Trajectory. Mill Valley: The Sociology Press.

Michał Kudłacz, Roman Zhebchuk

Participatory budget in metropolies as instrument of direct democracy in public management: experience of Poland and Ukraine¹

Abstract

Objectives: In the article a comparative research of the participatory budgeting systems at the local level in Poland and Ukraine was carried out.

Research Design & Methods: The objects of the study were ten cities of the specified states (five from each country). In the case studies, systemic analysis of legislations of Poland and Ukraine in public finance sphere connected with participatory budgeting were used as well as quantitative analyses of budget resources directed at supporting participatory budget. Using this approach gave us the opportunity for complex research of participatory budgeting mechanism in both countries.

Findings: As a result of the research, the peculiarities (differences) of the practice of using participatory budgets as tools of direct democracy at the Ukrainian and Polish cities' level were specified. On this basis, the authors outlined obstacles for the efficient use of participatory budgets based on the experience of the two countries, formulated guidelines and standards in compliance with which it would be possible to implement quality participatory budgeting into practices of the cities' public administration.

Implications / Recommendations: This article indicates the need to conduct analyzes of participatory budgets to draw conclusions and effectively use this tool in the future.

Contribution / Value Added: This research builds knowledge about participatory budgeting by analysing the use of this instrument of direct democracy in two different countries (Poland and Ukraine), which are at different level of EU integration an may help effectively plan and implement participatory budgeting in different national contexts.

Article classification: research article

Keywords: participatory budget, public management, civil society, local authorities, city development policy

JEL classification: H830, R510, H610.

¹ The publication was prepared under the project "Economic analysis of the marginalization of ownership in economy", No. 056 / WGAP-KAP / 01/2018 / S / 8056, co-financed from the grant of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education for the Faculty of Economy and Public Administration of Cracow University of Economics.

Michał Kudłacz, Cracow University of Economics, ul. Rakowicka 27, 31-510 Kraków; michal.kudlacz@uek.krakow. pl; ORCID: 0000-0001-6746-4182. **Roman Zhebchuk**, Faculty of Economy, Yuriy Fedkovych Chernivtsi National University, Chernivtsi, Ukraine; roman.zhebchuk@uek.krakow.pl; ORCID: 0000-0003-2159-8534.

Introduction. Participatory budgeting as a new stage of development of public administration

The development of democracy leads to changes in the system of public administration. The processes of transformation are either evolutionary at the national level, often in the form of reforms, or they have faster pace and go through a revolutionary way. However, these processes are often based on the changes at the local level – the level of metropolises, which are centres of potential concentration and engines of development of regions and countries.

With the development of European civilization based on 'the power of the people', the democratic values, which are embodied in the new approaches to public administration such as, for example, public governance, are moving further and further eastward beyond the modern European borders and the best practices of the EU countries are implemented first of all in countries seeking to become part of the European community.

Democracies are developing not only through their representative form at the national level in the parliaments, Sejms etc. The most visible development is obtained in the democracy's primary form, at the local level – level of communities through the development of direct democracy instruments such as participatory budgeting (PB).

Today, given the diverse practice of using PB in different cities, it is difficult to talk about the effectiveness of using this instrument. This, first of all, is because of the different understanding of the PB by local self-governments and different approaches to its implementation (the organization of this process), which has both its positive and negative points.

On one hand, diversity helps to test simultaneously different approaches in different cities, and thus creates the preconditions for gaining a unique experience of public administration. On the other hand, this approach leads to difficulties in using this instrument in cities where it has not been used before (complexity of the choice of an adequate form of organization) and fragmented implementation of only some of elements of such instrument, which leads to a decrease in its effectiveness and, as a consequence, resignation after some time from its using. It is also difficult to make comparisons and evaluations due to significant differences in the organization of the PB implementation processes.

Despite current local contexts and specific cultural conditions of PB, it is possible to indicate certain features that can and should be unified here because of the fact that PB constitutes an element of a legal system that unifies operations, and secondly in Poland and Ukraine we have, apart from differences, common problems related to the functioning and development of PB, so some of the conclusions, challenges and recommendations may also be subject to standardization.

A solution to these problems may be the formation of a unified approach to organizing the PB process, based on a wide range of examples of the use of this tool in different cities, regardles of the country of origin. This will enable forming a universal vision of the PB process, which can be used by city authorities as a framework for implementation of this mechanism. The following analysis was conducted for selected cities in Poland and Ukraine. Due to the limited comparative possibilities within the research material, it was decided to compare data for 2016, so we also analyze PB according to the legal status applicable in 2016.

Literature review and the issues concerning research

PB is a topic well recognized in Polish, Ukrainian and world literature. Many scientists use the example of Porto Alegre and identify principles of PB implementation, that in general could be described as (1) direct citizen participation in government decision-making processes and oversight; (2) deterring corruption through administrative and fiscal transparency; (3) improvements in urban infrastructure and services, especially aiding the indigent; and (4) a renewed political culture in which citizens would serve as democratic agents (Gilman, 2016). These principles are still "the basis" of implementation of participatory budgeting into practice in many countries all over the world (Dias, 2019).

Principles are necessary as 'road signs' for a general understanding of PB, but for effective use of this instrument, it is important to correctly understand the essence of PB and choose the best way of its implementation based on good practices and local peculiarities.

In this context good definition was given by A. Shah (2007), who pointed, that participatory budgeting is a tool for educating, engaging, and empowering citizens and strengthening demand for good governance. In this way he created scientific basis for the understanding of participatory budgeting.

The authors of this paper also agree with the opinions and findings made through the research which are described in following sentences: "in Europe, participatory budgeting relies on multiple procedures, and it is therefore necessary to give a clear methodological definition of it so that cases can be coherently compared and ideal types constructed to understand the variety of concrete experiments" (Subtiner. Gertberg. Röcke, 2008).

At the same time, the results of the comparison of PB implementation in different countries of Europe, which were made by number of scientists (Džinić, Svidroňová, Markowska-Bzducha, 2016) are interesting. For example, in Poland, it is worth mentioning B. Sorycha-Wojszczyk (2015), A. Sobol (2017), or A. Olech (2012). In Ukraine, interesting research was conducted by a scientist of the Institute for Budget and Socio-Economic Research (2019) who described Ukrainian experience of PB implementation.

At the same time, the results of the researches show a lot of differences in approaches to PB implementation, which on the one hand gives us many variants to choose, but on the other hand creates a too difficult picture for understating how to organise the process for effective achieving aims of a city development. For practical implementation of PB, it is really important to make a complex comparison of the practice of using this tool of direct democracy in order to formulate some effective unified approach. In particular, the analysis of the legal framework on which the PB is based in a particular country would be useful as well as concrete examples of its use at the level of cities that are at different stages of democratic institutions' development.

PB has both strengthened the dominants in the political field and changed the game played there. It has been characterized by accountability practices favouring the election of councillors with distinctive capitals, who were 'dominateddominants dominating the dominated' (Cabannes, Lipietz, 2017).

Participatory budget has been a major innovation in participatory governance worldwide, with more than 3,000 items listed across 40 countries (Bartocci, Grossi, Mauro, 2018). Today, participatory budgeting mechanism are common in many cities in Poland and are gaining popularity in Ukraine, as evidenced by the rapid growth in the number of cities that use this tool of direct democracy.

Based on the above, interesting for us will be a research vision of participatory budgeting of local self-government of cities in Poland and Ukraine. The public administration vision of participatory budgeting, depends on the efficiency of using of this tool by citizens, local government and business representatives. At the same time, the presence of a significant difference in understanding of different management tools by practices and theorists of public administration will constitute an obstacle for the improvement of the participatory budgeting and will reduces the quality of social dialogue between citizens, scientists, businessmen on the one hand and local governments on the other.

Material and methods. The legal basis for participatory budgeting

In Poland participatory budgeting is one of the financial tools stipulated by Polish law. Among others, the following examples of instruments should

be mentioned here: local initiatives, small grants, regranting, loans, financial guarantees. Participatory budget is a tool not only for the third-sector units, but NGO's are focusing most actively on local societies. Participatory budgeting in Poland is treated as a typical tool for local or even micro-local communities, however, for example małopolskie voivodeship self-government authorities have decided to make the first participatory budgeting at regional level in 2016.

Talking about legal framework for participatory budgeting in Poland, we should mention several legal acts: the Act on Municipal Self-Government (1990); the Village Administration Fund (*Fundusz Solecki*) Act (2014) and the Public Finance Act (2009); envisaging participatory budgeting to become part of the public life of self-government communities. In the above legal acts, there are several rules that allow to create the tools for social participation. Participatory budget mechanisms could be based on the municipality's auxiliary units or on the municipalities themselves. The main legal basis for participatory budgeting in Poland comes from the Act on Public Benefit Activity and Volunteering of 2003. According to this act, participatory budgeting is one out of eight financial tools permitted to be used by Polish selfgovernments in order to achieve the following goals: to raise the trust to public administration, to make the local policy more efficient, to share the power and to make the society more responsible for their decisions, to teach the people that we all are living in the conditions with unlimited needs and limited resources, to stimulate the society's activity and creativity. Among other financial and non-financial tools, participatory budgeting constitutes a proper tool for each kind of social circles.

Modern Ukrainian realities of normative regulation of participatory budgeting are based on number of documents. For example, Ukrainian Constitution contains some statements that are a reflection of ancient history, a foundation of democracy and a reflection of European social values. In particular, Article 5 states that 'the bearer

City	Interpretation of participatory budget essence
Warsaw	The city Mayor has appointed the participatory budget council for the period 2017–2020 as well as the councils for the Warsaw districts. The main goal is to support the process of participatory budget implementation. Earlier, the city Mayor has agreed with the City Council about the total amount of funds dedicated to participatory budget for year 2017.
Cracow	The city Mayor has appointed the participatory budget council – more numerous and with different goals than the council in Warsaw. The most important goal of Cracow participatory budget council is to promote participatory budget in Cracow and to evaluate the program. It is worth to notice (the same situation exists in each examined Polish city) that one step before appointing the participatory budget council it was needed to agree with the City Council on the sum of funds for the participatory budget in year 2017.
Lodz	The city Mayor has created participatory budget for two years (2017/2018) with the similar organizational basis as above: temporary commission for social participation and participatory budget.
Wroclaw	There is the Office for social participation dedicated to sharing knowledge connected with the participatory budget. Thanks to the Office's team a dozen of open meetings with inhabitants were held. Civic laboratories for ex-ante consultations.
Gdansk	The most interacting forum among the examined cities. Most of the activities were conducted through the website. A material part of total sum was spent on participatory budget promotion and information for inhabitants. The most important decisions were made by the City Mayor and the City Council. In addition, there is a consultation council whose main goal is to help to create the proposals.

Table 1. Genesis of participatory budget in normative acts of local councils of examined Polish cities

Source: own study based on information provided by PB websites of each city.

of sovereignty and the single source of power in Ukraine are the people. The people exercise power directly and through state bodies and local governments...²

Meanwhile, as the practice of using this instrument of direct democracy shows, relations during processes of planning, projection and implementation of participatory budget are not directly regulated by any Ukrainian legal acts. But, some prerequisites are contained in the main normative act for local government in Ukraine – the Law of Ukraine 'About Local Government'.

Thus, in accordance with Article 3 of the Law 'Citizens of Ukraine exercise their right to participate in local government as members of local communities...'. Article 9 states that'... members of territorial communities have the right to initiate proceedings in the Council (as the local initiative) with regard to any problem which lies within the jurisdiction of local government...'.³As we can see, these parts of the current Ukrainian legislation do not contain direct norms for participatory budgeting but they create prerequisites for the use of this instrument of direct democracy in Ukraine.

At the same time, participatory budgets in Ukraine have been adopted on the basis of local regulations (decisions of local councils). The article explores the practice of legal regulation of participatory budgeting based on the example of such Ukrainian cities as Kyiv (Київ), Lviv (Львів), Rivne (Рівне), Khmelnytskyi (Хмельницький) and Chernivtsi (Чернівці). These cities have been chosen because they are regional centres and in view of the availability and completeness of the information on the process of participatory budgeting. Since the adoption of the program 3–5 years ago, the commitment of local authorities to use this tool of direct democracy may be observed which indicates a desire to establish cooperation with citizens and to attract them to the budget process at the local level in a medium term perspective.

Perhaps the reason of the different approach to regulatory support of participatory budgeting lies in different understanding of the essence of this instrument of public administration. Interpretation of the participatory budget contained in relevant decisions of municipal councils of selected cities are shown in Table 2.

Thus, public administration of Kyiv interpreted 'participatory budget' as an interaction with the public within borders set by the city council. This interpretation actually reflects not participator budget, but participatory budgeting. Lviv City Council briefly defines the essence of the participatory budget as a method of city expenditure planning (or some part of city expenditure). Rivne City Council explains 'participatory budget' as part of the city budget, which funds winning projects. In Khmelnytskyi, we have a similar position to the Kyiv but here the budgetary participation is limited and include citizens' involvement at the stages of projects' submission, voting for the projects, without extending the role of citizens to the implementation phase. In Chernivtsi, participatory budget constitutes a local budget program for the introduction of innovative mechanisms for citizens' participation.

So, we can see from the analysis, that the governments of selected cities in Ukraine haven't unified their point of view on the essence of the participatory budget, which leads in practice to mixing concepts of participatory budget and participatory budgeting and, consequently, limits the involvement of citizens in the budget process at the local level in Ukraine compared to the European practice.

At the same time, it is important to point to the differences in legal regulations of PB in examined countries. In Poland, definition of PB is given in the law at the national level, which

² Ukraine. (n.d.). *Konstytutsiia Ukrainy [Constitution of Ukraine]*. Zakon Ukrainy vid 28.06.1996 № 254k/96-VR, http://zakon0.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/254%D0%BA/96-%D0%B2%D1%80 (accessed on 17 July 2018).

³ Ukraine. (n.d.). *Pro mistseve samovriaduvannia v Ukraini [On Local Self-Government in Ukraine]*. Zakon Ukrainy vid 21.05.1997 № 280/97-VR. http://zakon2.rada. gov.ua/laws/show/280/97-%D0%B2%D1%80 (accessed on 17 July 2018).

shows the same perspective of understanding for all local self-governments. In Ukraine, there is an opposite situation. National law doesn't regulate directly PB and the use of this tool – it is a completely local initiative, that leads to different understanding of its essence and differentiation of its implementation approaches.

Table 2. Genesis of participatory budget in normative acts of local councils of examined Ukrainian cities

City	Interpretation of participatory budget essence
Kyiv	Public budget of Kyiv – the process of interaction between Kyiv City Council and executive body of the Kyiv City Council (Kyiv City State Administration) with the public, aimed at attracting authors and other residents to participate in the budget process through submission of projects, voting for such projects, monitoring their implementation within parameters of public budget.
Lviv	Public budget or participatory budget – method of determining the expenditure of city budget through direct vote of inhabitants of the city.
Rivne	Public budget of Rivne is a part of Rivne city budget, from which are financed activities, works and services determined by members of the territorial community under the projects which won the competition.
Khmelnytskyi	Participatory budget – the process of interaction between Khmelnytskyi city council and its executive body with the public, aimed at attracting citizens to participate in the budget process by making decisions on the allocation of certain part of the municipal budget through submitting relevant initiatives of development projects, which were designed for solving primary problems of the city and its inhabitants by way of making open public voting on such projects.
Chernivtsi	Budget initiatives of Chernivtsi citizens (participatory budget) – local budget program based on local initiative – the form of direct expression of citizens' will which implements innovative mechanisms of involving the public into dividing the city budget and is aimed at creating democratic process of discussing by the territorial community specific directions of budget expenditure.

Source: own study based on [4, 5, 6, 7, 8].

⁴ Ukraine. (n.d.). Pro zatverdzhennia Polozhennia pro hromadskyi biudzhet mista Kyieva [On Approval of the Provision on the Public Budget of the City of Kyiv]. Rishennia Kyivskoi miskoi rady № 787/1791 vid 22 hrudnia 2016 r. http://kmr. ligazakon.ua/SITE2/l_docki2.nsf/alldocWWW/193ED46244972EACC22580A0003C8525?OpenDocument (accessed on 17 July 2018).

⁵ Ukraine. (n.d.). Pro zatverdzhennia Polozhennia pro hromadskyi biudzhet m. Lvova [On Approval of the Provision on the Public Budget of Lviv City]. Ukhvala Lvivskoi miskoi rady № 632 vid 30.06.2016 r. https://www8.city-adm. lviv.ua/inteam/uhvaly.nsf/(SearchForWeb)/285507E835D2453CC2257FE80051F2D7?OpenDocument (accessed on 17 July 2018).

⁶ Ukraine. (n.d.). Pro zatverdzhennia Polozhennia pro hromadskyi biudzhet u misti Rivnomu ta Miskoi tsilovoi prohramy "Hromadskyi biudzhet u misti Rivnomu na 2016 – 2020 roky" [On Approval of the Regulations on the Public Budget of the city of Rivne and the Urban Target Program "Public Budget in the city of Rivne for 2016–2020"]. Rishennia Rivnenskoi miskoi rady № 1456 vid 18.08.2016 r. http://www.city-adm.rv.ua/RivnePortal/GetFile. ashx?type=rada&file=rish_15347.doc (accessed on 17 July 2018).

⁷ Ukraine. (n.d.). Pro zatverdzhennia Prohramy biudzhetuvannia za uchasti hromadskosti (biudzhet uchasti) mista Khmelnytskoho na 2017–2019 roky [On Approval of the Public Participation Budget Program (Participation Budget) of Khmelnytsky City for 2017–2019]. Rishennia Khmelnytskoi miskoi rady №3 vid 21.09.2016 r. http://search.ligazakon. ua/l_doc2.nsf/link1/XM160287.html (accessed on 17 July 2018).

⁸ Ukraine. (n.d.). Pro zatverdzhennia Polozhennia pro Biudzhet initsiatyv chernivchan (biudzhet uchasti) [On Approval of the Provision on the Budget of Chernivtsi Citizens' Initiatives (Participation Budget)]. Rishennia Chernivetskoi miskoi rady № 190 vid 12.05.2016 r., http://chernivtsy.eu/portal/f/mr/ses2016006-190.doc (accessed on 17 July 2018).

Results and discussion. The research of practice of participatory budgeting of regional centres of Poland and Ukraine

Practical implementation of participatory budgeting in Ukraine was caused by the realization of international projects, usually involving organizations from EU countries, where participatory budget as an instrument of public administration have been used for a long time.

The basis for the use of participatory budgeting in practice constitutes the accumulation of certain amount of financial resources for the implementation of projects offered by citizens. As the practice of participatory budgeting in Ukraine indicates, usually the main and single source of financing are the budgets of local authorities that implement this tool of direct democracy.

Thus, after analysing the legal acts of municipal councils selected for the study of Ukrainian cities (Table 3), we cannot see in its budgeting practice any unified and clearly defined quotas of participatory budgets. The amount of financing is described as a specific part of a city budget (Lviv, Chernivtsi) or defined as a lump sum (Rivne) or annually set by the City authorities (Kyiv, Khmelnytskyi).

In our opinion, the most successful variant of the budget rule is to establish a minimum amount of participatory budget as a quota of expenditure in a city budget, which will give a guarantee to the public of financing the participatory budget on a defined scale (example of such a rule may be met in Lviv) and, in turn, such kind of regulatory norm will not limit participatory budgeting by establishing the upper limit of funding (as, for example, was made in Rivne and Chernivtsi). At the same time, the lack of regulation of this issue creates opportunity for refusing further use of participatory budgets by local government without any explanation.

The main difference between the cities comes from the fact that there is no one specified method of voting mentioned in the legal acts. Different methods mean that one of them is more useful and trustworthy than others. For example, the biggest cities in Poland allow voting through internet or personally by presence in the City Hall. A person that would like to vote has only to give the individual identity number. Some of the cities in Poland allow voting on behalf of another person. This is an advantage, especially for old or disabled, if they are not able to use the computer for voting. The solution is risky at the same time, because it means that it is possible to use somebody's individual identity number without his permission (especially when virtual voting tools are used). And one should note the fact that bad organisation of voting could result in dropping level of trust and social activity.

The next important stage of participatory budgeting is the expertise of projects. At this stage, an expert body is formed (advisory council, committee, coordination committee, secretariat, etc.) by the city council for the evaluation of projects. Experts check projects taking into account formal requirements, realism of calculations, accordance to law and so on. Based on the results of our analysis of Ukrainian experience in participatory budgeting, we may note that in selected cities, the number of the expert body members is different and ranges from 7 persons in Rivne to undefined number without quantitative restrictions in Chernivtsi. Qualitative composition is formed of the representatives of public associations, local councillors and servants of the executive body of the city council. At the same time, in Lviv the expertise of the projects is carried out in accordance with local legislation by the Council Secretariat with the assistance of the department of the executive body of the City Council and a special committee has not been created.

The voting stage is also characterized by the methodological diversity among the analysed cities. Thus, in Kiev, a person may vote for no more than 5 projects. The right to vote is granted to the citizens of Ukraine, foreigners and stateless persons who have registered permanent residence in the territory of Ukraine, work, study in the city of Kyiv and at the time of voting are not under

No.	City	The amount of participatory budget specified in the documents of City Council	Sum in 2016 year in UAH (PLN)* thousands
1	Kyiv	Not specified	50,000.0 (7,764.0)
2	Lviv	Not less than 1% of the total approved budget expenditure of the special fund the city budget of Lviv for the year in which the proposals were submitted	16,000.0 (2,484.5)
3	Rivne	Fixed amount – the volume of participatory budgets for big and small projects of 5 million each	10,000.0 (1,552.8)
4	Khmelnytskyi	The amount of participatory budget is determined annually by Khmelnytskyi city council during approving the city budget for a relevant year	1,000,0 (155.3)
5	Chernivtsi	Up to 1% of revenues of the general fund of the city budget excluding intergovernmental transfers	7,000,0 (1087.0)
6	Warsaw**	Fixed amount set by the City Council. Budget is divided into two parts: for city projects and district projects. The total amount allocated for the implementation of the participatory budget in the district is determined by the District Board within the limits set by the President of Warsaw, taking into account the district's financial capacity.	51,215.6
7	Cracow	Fixed amount set by the City Council. The sum proposed in Long-term financial forecast for Krakow. The previous (2015) participatory budget's share was also took into consideration.	11,000
8	Lodz	Fixed amount set by the City Council. PLN 40 million were allocated, of which PLN 30 million (PLN 6 million per district) for local tasks and PLN 10 million for the city's tasks. The maximum amount for one city-wide project may not exceed PLN 2.5 million and for the local project – PLN 1.5 million.	40,000
9	Wroclaw	Fixed amount set by the City Council. PLN 21 million for district projects. When equal division between the 14 districts, it means the amount of PLN 1,5 million for each district. PLN 4 million for city-wide projects. The cost of one project may not exceed PLN 2 million. The total amount of funds allocated for the implementation of the projects will be divided into three quota thresholds: for small projects with a value not exceeding PLN 150 thousand, for medium projects worth between PLN 150 and 500 thousand and for large projects worth more than PLN 500 thousand.	25,000
10	Gdansk	Fixed amount set by the City Council. PLN 8.8 million is the amount allocated to district projects implemented in 34 districts and PLN 2.2 million is the amount allocated to city-wide projects.	11,000

Table 3. The volume of	participatory budgets of	of the examined Ukrainian	and Polish cities

* This and further indicators in PLN calculated for Ukrainian cities by the authors based on National Bank of Ukraine official rate of PLN to UAH (1 PLN 1 = 6,44 UAH) as of 31.12.2016. ** Polish cities budgets are presented in PLN thousands.

- - - -

Source: own study.

16 years of age. In Lviv, not only the residents may vote, but also people who were born or possess real estate or are studying or working in Lviv, and every one can vote for two projects (one big and one small). In Rivne, only the citizens of Ukraine aged over 16 may vote, working, studying or carrying out business in the city. Voting is allowed for six projects (3 big and 3 small). In Khmelnytskyi – a person may vote for no more than 5 projects. Participation in voting is allowed for the citizens of Ukraine – city residents. In Chernivtsi, selection of the best projects is carried out by voting of citizens registered and living in the city who are at least 16, based on the Ukrainian passport. Every citizen can vote for no more than for 2 projects – one big and one small.

The last stage of participatory budgeting is the implementation of the victorious projects carried out by the managers of budget expenditure in accordance with the law. As our research shows, participation of projects' authors and citizens of Ukrainian cities at this stage is limited. In Kyiv, the authors of the projects can monitor their implementation. Probably, a way of such control is the mandatory interaction between executors of projects and their authors during implementation process. In particular, the executor of the project, after developing project documentation, sends it to the author of the project (or an authorized person) for approval. Also, in line with the current legislation in force, the author (at his/her request) may be involved in project implementation e.g. for author control or technical supervision.

In Rivne the authors can obtain information about the progress of the project implementation and compare documents with results of project realization. But, these norms are general and do not contain specific procedures for the authors' participation in project implementation. In Chernivtsi, the author can obtain information about the progress of the project, carry out public control of the works and achievement of the expected results. But, the mechanism of such control is also not specified. It is important to note that the official documents of local councils of Khmelnytskyi and Lviv do not include norms, based on which authors and citizens can take part in implementation process of the projects. Execution of the projects is carried out by official bodies due the budgetary legislation in Ukraine.

In Poland, in the examined cases, it is allowed to submit participatory budget projects at the age of 16. In some cases, it is not necessary to be the permanent resident of a city, but there is also a higher risk of attempted forgeries. That's why cities who decided to include non-permanent residents of the city, often decide to use more strict procedures regarding identification of the voters. Elongated procedures may discourage people from submitting projects and voting. This is the most likely reason of low attendance (small number of participants in 2017 edition in Cracow – around 25 thousands).

A number of quantitative indicators of the participatory budgeting in Ukrainian cities are shown in Table 4. The first interesting feature is that in practice some Ukrainian cities are setting the maximum amount of participatory budget based on the quality of the project making decisions on increasing funding for the projects (Lviv + 9.56%, Chernivtsi + 43.5%) and other cities formed a project portfolio based on the declared amounts.

The share of expenditure for financing the successful projects in the framework of participatory budgeting does not exceed 0.2% of the total budget expenditure of the cities. The lowest share was in Khmelnytskyi (0.0024%) and the highest in Ukraine's capital – 0.1235% and the average amount for the analysed cities is 0.044%. In our opinion, this indicator is low and may be acceptable only at the early stage of participatory budgeting implementation in the budget process of the cities. But over time, in order to ensure real impact of citizens on the development of the cities, it is necessary to review and correct it in line with the European practice.

An interesting result of our analysis are indicators which determine the participatory budget per capita. We have found out that the largest amount of money within a participatory budget which can be managed citizens' votes was fixed in Rivne, where it was UAH 39.63 (PLN 6,15) per capita. City with the lowest amount in this regard was Khmelnytskyiwith only UAH 3.65 (PLN 0,57) per capita. The average sum among the analysed cities is UAH 24.27 (PLN 3,77). In our opinion, the obtained results can constitute the basis for establishing a reasonable method of formation of total scale of participatory budget. By it calculation, based on the per capita amount and city's population, the total amount of the participatory budget may be determined which is easier and clearer both for local authorities and the citizens, which at the same time may be helpful when calculating

σ	
=	
: 4. The analysis of participatory budgeting in cities of Ukraine and Poland	
~	
σ	
=	
40	
Ĕ	
.=	
σ	
- H	
~~	
5	
÷	
÷	
0	
budgeting in cities of Ukraine a	
O.	
.=	
.=	
0	
.=	
- 50	
.=	
-	
(D)	
50	
σ	
~ ~	
~	
\sim	
0	
÷	
5	
പ	
·=	
0	
· #	
+	
=	
σ	
<u> </u>	
of parti	
<u>–</u>	
0	
, or	
. 22	
2	
~	
9	
5	
0	
Ĕ	
<u> </u>	
H	
<u> </u>	
∇	
40	
0	
7	
ble 4. The analysis	

No.	City	Total expenses of the city, in 2017 (UAH/ PLN th.)	The planned amount of expenses on participator-y budget (UAH/ PLN th.)	The total budget for the projects (UAH/ PLN th.)	The level of the plan execution in participatory budget, %	Part participatory budget in total expenses of the city, %	The city's population on 1.01.17, in thousands people	Part of participatory budget per capita, (UAH/ PLN th.)
-	Kyiv	40,469,442.3 / 6,284,074.9	50,000.0 /7,764.0	49,996.0 / 7,763.4	66.66	0.1235	2,906.6	17.20 / 2.67
0	Lviv	5,392,529.4 / 8,370,349.3	16,000.0 /2,484.5	17,530.0 / 2,722.1	109.56	0.0433	758.5	23.11 / 3.59
З	Rivne	2,149,522.5 / 333,776.8	10,000.0 /1,552.8	9,805.5 / 1,522.6	98.06	0.0242	247.4	39.63 / 6.15
4	Khmelnytskyi	2,358,508.6 / 366,228.0	1,000.0 /155.3	979.4 / 152.1	97.94	0.0024	268.5	3.65 / 0.57
2	Chernivtsi	2,166,731.0 / 336,448.9	7,000.0 /1,087.0	10,045.4 / 1,559.8	143.51	0.0248	266.0	37.76 / 5.86
9	Warsaw	14,867,224,652	50,000,000	51,215,551	102.4	0.34	1,726.5	29.66
٢	Cracow	3,730,006,051	11,000,000	10,818,564	98.35	0.43	765.3	14.14
8	Lodz	3,539,738,656	40,000,000	4,000,000	100.0	1.13	709,757	56.36
6	Wroclaw	3,953,577,738	25,000,000	24,575	98.0	0.62	632,432	39.0
10	10 Gdansk	2,681,000,000	11,000,000	10,961,525	99.65	0.41	461,494	23.75

City	Number of submitted projects	Number of accepted projects	The number of persons who voted	% of persons who voted in the whole population
Kyiv	497	62	50,813	1.75%
Lviv	259	67	21,215	2.80%
Rivne	45	31	2,151	0.87%
Khmelnytskyi	80	12	3,256	1.21%
Chernivtsi	58	31	7,717	2.90%
Warsaw	2333	644	172,395	9.98%
Cracowe	611	92	39,850	5.21%
Lodz	NDA	87	134,950	19.01%
Wroclaw	NDA	66	104,884	16.58%
Gdansk	180	65	37,965	8.23%

Table 5. Number of projects and activity of citizens of Polish and Ukrainian cities during voting for the participatory projects in 2016

Source: own study.

participatory budgets for Ukrainian cities that have not used this tool of administration yet.

In the course of the analysis of organizing and implementing PB processes in the Polish and Ukrainian cities, common problems may be noticed: a relatively small number of those entitled to vote and use the possibility of taking an active part in the participatory budget (based on the reports summarizing PB results in individual cities conducted by city councils or independent entities (Table 5).

The activity of citizens during the vote in the analysed Ukrainian cities is on average 1.91%. This indicates that there is low interest of citizens in the participatory budgeting in the short history of PB use in Ukraine. The most active were the inhabitants of Chernivtsi, where 2.9% of the population voted. Such results of citizens' participation demonstrate that it is necessary to take measures aimed at popularization of participatory budgeting among the urban population. The average indicator for the analyzed Polish cities was 11,8%. It is a better indicator than in Ukraine, but also shows a low level of citizens' interest in PB.

In addition, a lot of information is not made public, which does not increase interest in PB.

The rules and criteria for projects' selection, especially in city's districts, are also unclear. PB promotion tools and channels are mostly undefined. Lack of success here is also due to the fact that in promoting PB, there is a limited level of involvement of local community leaders, councillors, etc. and the information about PB does not reach the 'unconvinced' residents of the city. This is connected with another problem – underrepresentation of specific social groups among voters, which affects the results of voting. All these problems can be treated as a challenge related to the need to design a new solution in the field of planning and conducting PB, which the authors address in the summary of this text.

Conclusions

By comparing the two systems of public administration and the two ways of implementation of participatory budgeting, we have to underline that the main differences between Polish and Ukrainian systems comes from the fact that for successful implementation of participatory budgeting it is necessary to have a dozen of elements: high quality of social capital, high amount of funds, clear rules of sharing the budget into smaller units (districts), clear and simple rules for submitting the project as well as for their voting. This influence on social interest and social trust to local administration. Polish metropolises have been spending more funds on promotion as well as for implementation of the projects. Despite different legal frameworks, it is worth to underline that the percentage of active society with regard to participatory budget in Poland is higher than in Ukraine, similarly as the number of submitted projects as well as summary budgets. It is a poof of higher level of social capital in Poland, but also there exist some problems like e.g. in Krakow, where the number of people engaged in voting is rather small.

There are different methods of providing this tool to the society among the cities even in the same country. The recommendations that come from dozens of evaluation reports are giving some points that allow the authors to create a theoretical participation budgeting circle. Taking into account the analyzes of the percentage of participants taking part in PB as well as financial outlays for the implementation of tasks in individual cities of Poland and Ukraine, a different picture emerges, considering the usefulness and effectiveness of this tool in building a competitive advantage.

Participatory budget is a popular tool, widely implemented, and its organizational solutions are often copied without reflection, without taking into account specific features of a city. Therefore, the authors decided to give some recommendations in the form of determining the path of PB creation, by defining the individual organizational and financial frameworks of this undertaking. To this end, several important threads should be resolved according to the city's interest:

1. Determining the amount of available financial resources for the implementation of all tasks under PB. Too little financial resources can have a negative impact on the level of trust in local administration and the quality of social capital. The upper limit should depend on the city's affluence and financial policy.

- 2. Determination of the impact area of the participatory budget in the city: are all projections to be implemented at the city-wide level? or is there justification for the implementation of micro-local (district) projects?
- 3. In the context of the above point, rules should be set for sharing funds between city-wide projects and micro-local (district) projects.
- 4. Setting rules for projects' submission, evaluation criteria and voting rules.
- 5. Defining the rules for project selection. It takes place by voting, but it is possible, for example, to introduce weights, multipliers that can draw the residents' attention to issues that are important according to the opinion of the city authorities.
- 6. Determining the tools of promotion and implementation of the promotion policy.
- 7. Defining the rules for the implementation of selected projects.
- 8. The most important issues to be considered in order to effectively implement the participatory budget include:
 - The choice of investments to be implemented within the budget – they should be as close as possible to the population (e.g. district);
 - The process of preparation of the participatory budget should be planned in detail and start well in advance in order not to act under time pressure;
 - The representatives of local groups should be involved in preparation of the participatory budget;
 - It is necessary to systematically monitor the representatives of local groups involved in implementation of the participatory budget. If an overrepresentation or underrepresentation of any group occurs, adjustments should be made;
 - It is necessary to involve in the substantive part of budget preparation a person with good knowledge of the financial situation of local government units who will take part in decision making;

- Councillors and civil servants should be engaged in the process of preparing the participatory budget from the very beginning, starting from preparation of the plan of work;
- The success of the project depends largely on the involvement of councillors, so it is important that they are personally involved as moderators of the neighbourhood debates or settlements;
- All decisions regarding preparation of participatory budget should be made public along with their substantiation. In particular, substantiation is necessary, if there has been a change in previous findings. Transparency of decisions is a condition for trust and cooperation within the project;
- When preparing materials for residents, it is necessary to ensure the clarity of language and avoid formulating expressions who may make it difficult to understand the problem;
- The composition of the team, which is responsible for preparation of the citizens' budget, division of tasks and contact details should be made public, so that interested parties can keep their comments/suggestions on the project at hand.
- Any disputes or discrepancies related to the establishment of investments/priorities to be implemented should be made public;
- A timetable should be prepared for decisions and measures to be taken in order to prepare a draft budget;
- From the very beginning of works on a civic budget, efforts should be made to evaluate the project in order to reach conclusions at the end and use them in subsequent editions.

References

- Bartocci, L., Grossi, G., & Mauro, S.G. (2018). Towards a hybrid logic of participatory budgeting. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*. doi:10.1108/IJPSM-06-2017-0169.
- Cabannes, Y., & Lipietz, B. (2017). Revisiting the democratic promise of participatory budgeting in light

of competing political, good governance and technocratic logics. *Environment and Urbanization*, 30(1), 67–84. doi:10.1177/0956247817746279.

- Dias, N. (2019). Hope for democracy 25 years of participatory budgeting worldwide. http://www.in-loco. pt/upload_folder/edicoes/1279dd27-d1b1-40c9ac77-c75f31f82ba2.pdf, accessed on 19.12.2019.
- Džinić, J., Svidroňová, M., & Markowska-Bzducha, E. (2016). 'Participatory Budgeting: A Comparative Study of Croatia, Poland and Slovakia'. *NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy*, 9(1), 31–56.
- Gilman, H. (2016). Engaging Citizens: Participatory Budgeting and the Inclusive Governance Movement within the United States. Cambridge, MA: Ash Center for Democratic Governance and Innovation, Harvard Kennedy School.
- Institute for Budget and Socio-Economic Research. (2019). Public project, https://www.ibser.org.ua/gromadskyy-proekt, accessed on 19.12.2019.
- Olech, A. (2012). *Dyktat czy uczestnictwo? Diagnoza partycypacji publicznej w Polsce*. Warszawa: Instytut Spraw Publicznych.
- Polish Act of 8 March 1990 on Commune Self-Government [Journal of Laws of 2019, item 506, as amended].
- Polish Act of 21 February 2014 on Village Council Fund [Journal of Laws of 2014, item 301].
- Polish Act of 27 August 2009 on Public Finance [Journal of Laws 2009, No, 157 item 1240, as amended].
- Polish Act of 24 April 2003 on Public Benefit Activities and Volunteering [Journal of Laws of 2003, No. 96, item 873].
- Shah, A. (2007). Participatory Budgeting: Public Sector Governance and Accountability Series. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank.
- Sintomer, Y., Herzberg, C., & Röcke, A. (2008). Participatory budgeting in Europe: Potentials and challenges. *International Journal Of Urban And Regional Research*, 32(1), 164–178.
- Sobol, A. (2017). Participatory budgeting as a tool of local development. *Economic Studies, ZN UE* w Katowicach, 316, 173–180.
- Sorychta-Wojszczyk, B. (2015). Conditions of use of civic budget in public administration in Poland. *ZN Politechniki Śląskiej, Organizacja i Zarządzanie*, 78, 422–427.
- Zestawienie ogólne. (n.d.). http://budzetyobywatelskie. pl/2016-zestawienie-ogolne/, accessed on 17.06.2018.

Websites:

https://budzet.krakow.pl/ https://twojbudzet.um.warszawa.pl/ https://uml.lodz.pl/bo/ https://www.gdansk.pl/budzet-obywatelski https://www.wroclaw.pl/rozmawia/wroclawski-budzetobywatelski http://budzetyobywatelskie.pl/

Public Governance / Zarządzanie Publiczne

Aims and scope

Public Governance / Zarządzanie Publiczne is a quarterly published since 2007. It is intended for experts and researchers who specialise in public issues, including political decision-makers and students. It offers a forum for debates between academics and practitioners interested not only in the theoretical foundations of public governance but also in the opportunities for its practical application. The Quarterly is international in scope, which is reflected in the nature of research issues (they involve matters of interest to academic circles worldwide), the contributing authors (a significant proportion of them comes from different countries) and the composition of its Programme Board as well as the make-up of the team of reviewers (it includes international research and academic centres).

The mission of *Public Governance / Zarządzanie Publiczne* is to publish advanced theoretical and empirical research in public management, governance, public policy analysis and evaluation, public sector economy as well as strategic management, which reflect new developments in the methodology of social science. The editors select papers with an original theoretical background and those that discuss the results of pioneering empirical research. We are also eager to promote the interdisciplinary and comparative approaches based on qualitative, quantitative and experimental studies that provide new insights into the construction of theoretical models along with the methodological concepts in the field of public management.

In our journal, we adopt a unique approach to specific issues inherent in the sphere of public governance. The originality of our approach consists in the selection of both the research areas and the research methodologies.

A significant proportion of texts published by our magazine are devoted to the analysis of mechanisms of public governance at national and regional government levels, respectively, relevant to the administrative culture predominant in Central and Eastern European countries with a particular focus on the programming, implementation and evaluation of public policies. The texts:

- a. focus on problems occurring in post-transition countries which build their own public governance institutions and mechanisms, including the sphere of good governance;
- b. represent attempts at a creative transposition and adaptation of international achievements in developing original solutions in the field of public governance in post-transformation countries.

The distinguishing features of the research methodologies preferred by our magazine include:

- a. a strongly established interdisciplinary approach to the study of public governance combining research and analysis in the areas of economics, political science, management, public policy, sociology and psychology;
- b. the published texts are firmly rooted in social science theory.

Author Guidelines

Basic rules

Before submitting your article, please read and apply the following rules:

- EASE Guidelines for Authors of Scientific Articles to be Published in English (version of November 2018) explaining in detail how to compose a scientific article according to international standards:
 in English (https://www.ease.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/doi.10.20316.ESE_.2018.44. e1.pdf)
 - in Polish (https://www.ease.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/doi.10.20316.ESE_.2018.44. e1.pl_.pdf)
- APA Style Manual (6th edition of June 2009) explaining in detail how to use and cite references and how to apply linguistic rules while writing in English.
- Technical Guidelines for Authors explaining in detail how to prepare articles with accordance to our requirements see our website (www.publicgovernance.pl).
- During the submission process you must provide us with your ORCID number otherwise we will not proceed your submission.
- Provide us with the Subject classification JEL classification in the OJS.

Ensuring a Blind Review

To ensure the integrity of the blind peer-review for submission to this press, every effort should be made to prevent the identities of the authors and reviewers from being known to each other. This involves the authors, editors, and reviewers (who upload documents as part of their review) checking to see if the following steps have been taken with regard to the text and the file properties:

- The authors of the document have deleted their names from the text, with "Author" and year used in the references and footnotes, instead of the authors' name, article title, etc.
- With Microsoft Office documents, author identification should also be removed from the properties for the file (see under File in Word), by clicking on the following, beginning with File on the main menu of the Microsoft application: File > Save As > Tools (or Options with a Mac) > Security > Remove personal information from file properties on save > Save.
- With PDFs, the authors' names should also be removed from Document Properties found under File on Adobe Acrobat's main menu.

Article length and format

All submitted manuscripts should not exceed the recommended size in accordance with established rules: $30\ 000 - 40\ 000$ characters, including abstract, keywords, tables, figures, references, etc.

No article submission or article processing fees are charged. Nevertheless, the fee for each additional 1 800 characters (exceeding 40 000 characters) is 20€. The payment will be transferred to the Publisher's bank account after the article's approval for publication.

Only editable formats of text can be sent (doc or docx). We do not accept uneditable formats (e.g. pdf).

Language

1. Papers should be presented in clear, concise English. Articles written in poor English will be rejected immediately (and will not accepted even for the review process).

2. We prefer British English (e.g. behaviour, not behavior), this is why we strongly ask authors to use British English.

OJS system

We use the OJS system for submissions. After having finished your article, when your files are ready, visit the online submission website.

You will need to log into the system:

- If you know your login details, use your user ID and password to log on.
- If you do not know your login details, check to see if you are already registered by clicking on the 'Forgot your password?' button and following the on-screen instructions.
- If you are not already registered, you can register by clicking on the 'Register' link on the login screen and following the on-screen instructions.

Please remember you should register as 'Author', however we advise you to register also as 'Reviewer'. If you don't mark 'Author' status, you will not be able to submit your article.

Submission Preparation Checklist

As part of the submission process, authors are required to check off their submission's compliance with all of the following items, and submissions may be returned to authors that do not adhere to these guidelines.

- The submission has not been previously published, nor is it before another journal for consideration (or an explanation has been provided in Comments to the Editor).
- The submission file is in OpenOffice, Microsoft Word, or RTF document file format.
- Where available, DOI numbers or URLs for the references have been provided.
- The text is single-spaced; uses a 12-point font; employs italics, rather than underlining (except with URL addresses); and all illustrations, figures, and tables are placed within the text at the appropriate points, rather than at the end.
- The text adheres to the stylistic and bibliographic requirements outlined in the Technical Guidelines for Authors.
- · ORCID number was provided on the first page of the article and was provided in the OJS system
- Subject classification according to EconLit Subject Descriptors JEL codes was provided in the OJS during the submission process.
- The instructions in Ensuring a Blind Review have been followed.
- The article will be checked for antyplagiarism by CrossCheck.

The Editorial Board approves only original papers previously unpublished in any other periodicals or books or being subject of evaluation in other journals. The articles must be prepared with accordance to our technical requirements and taking our academic ethics code into account. We will reject submissions not prepared according to our requirements.

Reviewing Policy and Procedures

The Editorial Board will make a preliminary decision to either accept the paper for further review or reject the paper (desk rejection) if the submitted article doesn't meet our editorial requirements or is

out of our aim and scope. The author will be notified of the decision no later than 10 days from the date of submission. In certain situations, this decision will be made following consultation with a member of the Editorial Board specializing in a given area of research.

- 1. The reviews are prepared by at least 2 independent reviewers indicated by the Editorial Board. Reviewers are not associated with the author's parent institution (external reviewers to the author).
- 2. Reviews are prepared using a double-blind peer review. This process is based on the rule that the reviewer does not know the identity of the author and vice versa.
- 3. Each review is issued in written form (later revealed to the Author) and ends with a recommendation for or against publication.
- 4. Evaluation criteria: clarity of the stated objective, originality of research issues, theoretical background, quality of empirical research, originality of conclusions, significance for the research area aligned with the scientific profile of the quarterly, quality of language, comprehensibility, punctuation and appropriate source selection. Each review ends with an unambiguous recommendation:
 - the paper can be published as submitted,
 - the paper can be published pending minor modifications and inclusion of additional relevant information,
 - the paper can be published pending substantial revision and re-review,
 - the paper is unsuitable for publication.
- 5. In addition to the recommendations made by reviewers, the Author may receive additional editorial suggestions from:
 - the Editorial Board, only in urgent cases,
 - a layout editor for technical and editorial comments,
 - a statistics editor if the paper contains statistics.
- 6. The Author must reply to all comments and suggestions (a special form is required to be filled in and to be sent back).
- 7. The Author should be familiar with the following forms and evaluation criteria:
 - Internal Review Form Checklist of the Article (*.docx),
 - External Review Form (*.docx),
 - Author's Statement after the Reviews (must be attached to the revised article),
 - Statement by Author (must be signed before publishing).
- 8. Before publishing each article is proofread by a language editor (a native speaker or a bilingual speaker). Authors are obliged to apply all necessary changes, however they can negotiate special terminology use.
- 9. Prior to publishing, the Corresponding Author must sign and submit the Statement by Author, otherwise we will not be able to publish the given article.
- 10. Each Author must follow the principles of transparency and best practices in scholarly publishing (see our website for details). Editors and the Publisher will be documenting all forms of scientific misconduct and malpractice, particularly violations of ethics and science principles. Any such cases will be reported to the employer of the Author and to the relevant public and state institutions.

Submissions from Programme Board and Editorial Board members are handled in the same way as those from other authors.

Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement

The author's statement including the copyright notice as well as the statement on ethics and good practice in science (including financial disclosure, ghost-writing firewall, guest authorship firewall) must be submitted alongside the manuscript according to the form provided (see our website) as well as to be mentioned on the article title page.

The detailed information on Ethics and Malpractice is available in the guidelines established by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Republic of Poland: Scientific Research and Articles Solidity and Intellectual Rights Respect.

We use the following guidelines (extract from Scientific Research and Articles Solidity and Intellectual Rights Respect):

- 1. Articles must be original and cannot include borrowings from other works, which could result in liability of the publisher. Papers cannot infringe any third-party rights.
- 2. Articles must reveal the contribution of all individual authors in the creation of publications (with their affiliations and contributions, such as information about who is the author of concepts, principles, methods, protocol etc. used in the preparation of publications).
- 3. Article cannot display any signs of 'ghost-writing', that is not to disclose the names of authors who have made a significant contribution to the publication of, or otherwise contributed to its creation.
- 4. Article cannot display any signs of 'guest authorship' that is assigning a person who did not contribute to the creation of publications.
- 5. Article must include complete information concerning sources of funding, the contribution of research institutions, associations and other entities ('financial disclosure').
- 6. Editors and the Publisher will be documenting all forms of scientific misconduct and malpractice, particularly violations of ethics and violations in science. Any such cases will be reported to the employer of the author and to the relevant public and state institutions.

COPE | Committee on Publication Ethics

We follow Core Practices of COPE including Code of Conduct and Best Practice Guidelines for Editors.